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[ ] turnover increased by
29% to £103.5m

[ total operating profit
increased by 77% to £17.4m

[ ] operating margin
increased by 4.5 percentage
points to 16.8%

1 pre-tax profits increased
by 28% to £20.3m

_ladjusted earnings per share
increased by 67% to 74.0p
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Chairman’s

statement

The acquisition of
Home Counties
Newspapers is a
significant milestone in
the progress of the
Group. It is greatly to
the credit of all those
involved that the
integration of the
business into the Group
| has been so successful.

(S NESIR Chairman of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group

[J RESULTS

| am delighted, again, to be
able to announce record
pre-tax profits of £20.3m
{1997- £15.8m). Adjusted
earnings per share was up
67% at 74.0p (1997~ 44.3p).
Turnover was up 29% at
£103.5m (1997 - £80.1m),
and operating profit
increased by 77% to
E£17.4m (1997 - £9.8m).
Profit margins improved to
16.8% (1997 - 12.3%%).

The overall result had the
benefit of £4.2m profit on the
sale of some radio investments
and newspaper titles, offset
partly by rearganisation costs
of £0.6m following the
acquisition of Home Counties
Newspapers (HCN) and
closure costs of £0.9m in
respect of IMC, our direct
marketing company. Cash
generation was again strong
during the year. Although we
paid aut £58.6m to acquire
HCN, borrowings were a net

£5.7m at the year-end.

[ DIVIDEND

The Board is recommending
a final dividend of 1 |.1p
(1997 - 8.2p) per ordinary
share. This makes a total for
1998 of 16.0p (1997 - 12.4p)
an increase of 29%. This
substantial increase in dividend
reflects the outstanding

results achieved.

{1 HIGHLIGHTS -

A detailed report follows on
operations by the Chief
Executive and on finance by
the Finance Director. During
the year your company has
made significant progress
both in improving operating
margins and in reinvesting the
cash flow. The acquisition of
HCN is a significant milestone
in the progress of the Group.
It is greatly to the credit of all
those involved that the
integration of the business
into the Group has been so
successful. The titles acquired
produced operating profits of
£3.8m during the period.



. Your Board continues
to seek investment

% opportunities to
strengthen the Group’s
L] media activities.

Information Technology is
crucial to our business and
we continue to make
significant investment in this
area with real progress being
made. Our web site
(http:/fwww.ecn.co.uk} is
continuously being improved
and we have now introduced
a prototype Intranet.

We have successfully
designed, developed and
introduced a completely new
advertising system to
Norwich and Ipswich. It has
greatly improved functionality,
which will improve service to

our customers.

_. BOARD

We were pleased to appoint
Niget Websper to the Group
Board in December 1998.
He will stand for election at
the annual general meeting.
Nigel has been with the Group
since 1981 and has held a
number of senior positions in
our newspaper publishing

business. He is currently

responsible for Community
Media Limited and the

western division of HCN,

(1 STAFF

This excellent performance
reflects the great efforts of
staff, at all levels, throughout
the period and for which
your Board is very
appreciative, We also
welcome cur new colleagues
in HCN. Management are
working hard to improve
communications and
involvemnent at all levels.
Employee share ownership is
an important component of
this and continues to develop
with the share schemes which
we operate. A further share
scheme offer is planned across

the Group in the summer.

We have some cqncerns that
trading conditions might
deteriorate, and in particular
that volumes of recruitment

advertising may fall.

Notwithstanding this, there is
a momentum for change and
improvement in the business,
which leads us to believe that
1999 will be another year of
progress for the Group.

Your Board continues to
seek investment opportunities
to strengthen the Group's
media activities. The success
of the HCN acquisition is
encouraging. It is clear that the
regional newspaper industry
continues to consolidate and
we would wish to play our
part when we can find
opportunities which create

value for our shareholders.
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Chief Executive’s

report

We are increasingly in
the niche business, and if
ever there was any doubt
about this it is dispelled
by the growing evidence
of so much of our more
LI tightly targeted activity.

LGSO Chief Executive of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group

Publishing is a People
business. We are a dynamic
media company. The ideas,
talent and commitment of our
people make us what we are.

On the threshold of the
new millennium it is these
qualities that stand us in great
stead. Our challenge is to
make sure we nurture them.
Our vision is to grow,
harnessing knowledge and
innovation to broaden our
channels of communication.

We are increasingly in the
niche business, and if ever
there was any doubt about
this it is dispelled by the
growing evidence of so much
of our more tightly targeted
activity. .

The niche established
through the success of the
EDP Saturday magazine led
during the year to a similar
project at the East Anglian
Daily Times in Suffolk. The
East Anglian Magazine
launched in the autumn by a

small team in Suffolk and

distributed within the EADT,
is like its forerunner adding
sales to the weekend paper
and providing a younger and
more female readership.

The regional bias and
interest of these magazines is
providing a powerful weapon
against the avalanche of
newsprint that the national
papers produce on a Saturday.

The magazine publishing
team in Norwich meanwhile
hatched another launch, this
time a stand-alone glossy
publication entitled Norfolk
Christmas. It was extremely
well received, attracting
readers and advertisers alike to
the high quality of the product.

Further developed as EDP
Norfolk in Spring ‘99 and on
sale in newsagents and
supermarkets across the
county it is an entirely home
produced product, visually a
match for any good “glossy”,
and set to become a new and
profitable regular, 2 minimum

of six times a year.
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It is a small beginning, but

from small beginnings has
many a great empire sprung!
A small exhibitions
division was formed in CML
in the West Country. With its
HQ in Devon, a series of
shows followed with the

team experiencing the full

s challenge of the outdoor
L4

“event business — choosing
the hottest day of the year
{in Exmouth} and the windiest
{in Bristol) for their first
launches! Spurred on by this
experience, a range of events
is planned for '99 as we test
the water and develop our
skills in what we believe can
be a profitable new venture.

Qur links with the business
communities in many of our
markets were enhanced by
our staging awards nights.
Over 500 people attended
the North Herts event in
Stevenage with Jeremy
Paxman as celebrity speaker
and in the City of London at
Canary Wharf the Newham
Recorder hosted a successful
event at which Sports
Minister Tony Banks presided.
These events are highly
prestigious and also profitable.

There were more, and
the enthusiasm of our own
people was nowhere more
evident than at our own
“in-company” awards night,
staged by ECN in East Anglia,
where the excellence and
innovation in our business
were celebrated by over
750 people on a Saturday
night in November. In 9%
the event will include alf
Group companies.

Our 40 most senior

managers also met in the
autumn for a two-day
cenference at which an
important theme was the
value that resides in sharing
our experience, ideas and
abilities across the business.
A number of important
communications issues
emerged and are being
pursued. A prototype
intranet has been developed
on a collaborative basis
between ECN and CML
linking ali their businesses and
Summerhouse together. At
present access is restricted to
the 40 attendees, but it is
another small beginning for
what will undoubtedly shape
our future,

Modern corporations
must be nimble, able to
exercise their collective
strengths and provide an
exciting environment for the
people who will grow to
become the foundation for
the future, and these kinds of
activities will continue to
feature in our thinking.

A good example of
effective collaboration has
been that between
Summerhouse Publishing and
the' EDP where skills inherent
in our contract magazine
publishing business were
used to develop a business
publication for Norfolk.

Summerhouse itself has
made a good start in its first,
almost full year within the
Group. Turnover has
increased by 36.5% and
important new clients
developed. We have regular
and growing business now in

Sweden, France and the UK

and we are investing in
further expansion.

Many of these things are
small things that together
make a difference. But in
May, we were both
exhilarated and delighted to
succeed in something major,
our acquisition of Home
Counties Newspapers.

The net result of the deal
was to add another!7
newspapers to our portfolio
of titles taking us to a total of
60 with a circulation of 2.7m
per week.

Publishing in the valuable
territory of South Essex and
Hertfordshire, and with
possibly Britain’s best known
local weekly, The Ham and
High in Hampstead, North
Lendon, as part of the
portfolio, it makes a perfecy
partner for us.

With a significant number
of the papers already printed
on our Thorpe press under
contract before the event we
already had a very successfut
working relationship with
many of the key people.

As a public company, HCN

Modern corporations must
be nimble, able to exercise
their collective strengths
and provide an exciting
environment for the
people who will grow to
become the foundation

| for the future.

had nevertheless maintained a
“family” feel through the
Chairmanship of Bill Gibbs,
whose family held a substantial
stake and whose great
grandfather had started the
company. Our status as an
independent, sixth generation
family-owned business
eventually helped to land us
the position of preferred
bidder in a hotly contested
process.

There followed a period
of intense activity. We
decided that certain of the
markets in which the
company published were
not ones in which we wished
to compete. The prospect
of some years of substantial
losses in the Bedfordshire
and Buckinghamshire
areas was not something
we relished, and the
newspapers there were sold
to Johnston Press.

HCN had also invested in
an envelope manufacturing
business, and this was not on
strategy for us. It was
disposed of by the year end

and in this regard, as well as
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in the conduct of the overall
handover of HCN, we are
indebted to the outgoing
Chief Executive of the
company, Bill Coppen-
Gardner who with Chris
Lawrence handled the sale.

The quick resolving of
these matters ensured that the
acquisition was immediately
earnings enhancing.

A considerable investment
in systems has been necessary
and we are part way through
the process, a process that
must be completed for the
year 2000. Immediate
benefits for the Group were
felt when the new advertising
system, designed and
constructed over the last two
years by the IS team in
Norwich, was agreed by the
incoming teams at HCN as
the best option for them. It
will be later in 1999 before
the work is completed.

The system, which will
ultimately give great benefit
it our ability to track
advertisers’ activity and offer
improved customer service,
was commissioned for the
first time in Norwich in the
autumn and rolled out to
fpswich early in '39.

The accelerating pace of
change remains a hard task
master, and our efforts to

develop Eastern Counties

'] It has been a memorable
year, but we cannot stand
still. The challenge is to

L) maintain our momentum.

Network internet business,
alongside our paper products
made good progress during
the year. Average order values
for our web site building
service grew by 400% to
£1,245 and we have made
many new business partners. In
addition, our own web sites
continued their development.
They are developments that
will accelerate significantly in
the year ahead.

These moves will add to
our strength in depth as we
continue to successfully
develop our traditional
newspaper base with new
ideas, new metheds of
presentation and new
initiatives. [n the past year
these initiatives included the
launch of a new Tendring
edition of the East Anglian
Daily Times, another idea
which is adding copy sales
and advertisers to our
custommer base.

Unfortunately, IMC Direct
Marketing, acquired some
three years ago was closed in
the autumn. The business
was loss making and we were
unable to justify the
investment required, Qur
thanks go to the team who
made a great effort to succeed.
We wish them all wefl.

As is clearly described

elsewhere in these pages, our

business continues to
improve its performance.
Economic conditions have
remained good, a factor
which during 1998 was
enhanced for us by the
relative strength of the East
Anglian region which did not
experience the slowdown
that some others in our
industry reported towards
the end of the year.

In Scotland we
experienced mixed fortunes.
The north east grew
reasonably, while central
Scotland had a tougher time.
Our North Somerset
business finally defeated a
vigorous competitor,
launched in the previous year,
but there was a cost. Devon
enjoyed a strong increase in
revenues,

HCN East in South Essex
grew strongly and margins
improved as they did in
North London. In HCN
West, with much focus on the
disposals, the retained
business still managed growth
in advertising revenues of | 1%.

Overall, our recruitment
advertising revenues grew by
21.3%. We expect this to
slow in 1999, but face the
future confident that other
activities can mitigate the
effect this might have.

Margins continue to rise,
helped by lower newsprint
prices as well as the strong
recruitment advertising
revenues. But as the benefit

of our actions to improve the

through we continue to

efficiency of the business comes )
\ g

pursue improvement to our
return on sales, The HCN

titles will also help raise our
performance in this regard.

It has been a memorable
year, but we cannot stand
still. The challenge is to
maintain our momentum.

The quality of our pecple
and of our publications and
associated activities is the key.

It is gratifying therefore
that ECN has gained an
Investors in People award,
and | am proud to record that
among the many accolades
won by the Group's people
and publications during the
year were: Evening Newspaper
of the Year to the Evening
Star in the UKPG national
awards, the third consecutive
year it has received this
accolade in the “under 40,000
circulation category”; Weekly
Paid-for Newspaper of the Year
to the Ham and High in the
BT national awards — also a
winner three times in
succession; and Weekly Free
Newspaper of the Year to the
Hunts Post for the second
year running in the Newspaper
Society national awards.

The advertisement sales
team at Norwich were voted
1998 Display Publishing
Centre of the Year in the
Newspaper Society awards
for the excellence of their
sales efforts, the Saturday
magazine team in particular
scoring several successes.

They, along with ail our
other winners, deserve our

congratulations.

1
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-Financial.

f review

IGHFEVICTICH Finance Director of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group

Turnover Analysis

1998

£000

1997

£'000
1998 1997
® Advertising Revenue 72,529 52,728
® Circulation 19,085 17,412
® Contract Print 3,665 4,103
® Contract Publishing 1,609 -
Other 5,600 4,920
® Direct Marketing 991 950
TOTAL 103,479 80,i13

! FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

The financial hightights of

the year were

O turnover increasing 29%
to £103.5m

O operating prefit increasing
77% to £17.4m

C operating margins
increasing 4.5 percentage
points to 16.8%

O pre-tax profits increasing
28% to £20.3m

O adjusted earnings per
share increasing 67%
to 74.0p

Buoyant local markets, falling
newsprint costs, effective
management of advertising
yields and overhead costs,
and the successful acquisition
of Home Counities Newpapers
(HCN) all contributed to an

impressive set of resuits.

(J TURNOVER

Turnover of the ongoing

operations increased by

£5.2m, or 6.5%. (See
note 2 page 33). Ongoing
advertising revenues rose
by 7.5%. Recruitment
revenues in particular
showed strong growth with
an increase of 21.9%.
Ongeing circulation revenues
rose by 5.2%. Cover prices
were increased on our four
daily titles.
The most recent Audit
Bureau Circulation statistics
confirmed that the Eastern
Daily Press continues to be
the best selfling regional daily
newspaper in the country.
£18.1m (or 33 weeks) of
HCN turnover has been
consolidared. The Luton,
Bedford and Milton Keynes
newspaper business units
and Southern Converters,
the non-core envelope
business, have not been
consclidated. On a full year
basis, retained HCN
advertising revenue grew
by 11% with recruitment

revenues up 20.5%.
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People and

arsonalities

Famous names and top awards featured
throughout-the year as teams and individuals
celebrated success and celebrities joined in
events and sponsorships.

The Hitchin Comet’s
M Eaza Testa, left, hosts
the paper's North Herts Business
Awards at which T¥'s Jeremy
Paxman gave the prizes.
Organising the awards won the
Comet a Newspaper Society prize for
coming tp with the idea.
The Comet has committed itsalf
to hosting the event for a third year
in (999,

NORTH HERTFORDS'H[RE
Busmess A

Above: The Press Centre team with their ECN Quality Award.
Right: EDP editor Peter Franzen celebrates success.

Far right; Members of the Saffron Walden Reporter sales
team who wor: the ECN Best Customer Service Award.

A The biggest ever gathering of ECN
{> people took place in Norwich to
celebrate excellence.

More than T00 members of editorial, sales and
support teams gathered under a big top to applaud achievement
and witness the first ECN Awards night.

The 1998 awards attracted over 820 entries in classes ranging
from Newspaper of the Year — won by the Eastern Daily Press —
to Unsung Hera, given for exceptional work which was wan by
Geraldine Cook, 2n editorjal assistant at the March office, pictured
right receiving her trophy from Group Chief Executive Peter Strong.

Ham & High editor Matthew

Lewin and reporier Ruth
Bloomfield gave their paper plenty t
cheer about when they scooped two major
press awards. Matthew collected the
Waekly Newspaper of the Year and Ruth
was named Weekly News |ournalist of the
Year in the BT Regional Press Awards.

ECN made histary in 1998 when it
was actlaimed as the ‘Display
Publishing Centre of the Year’ by
the Newspaper Saciety, for the first time,
The accotade followed ECN receiving a
total of ten NS awards, including six
certificates and a crystal trophy won by the
EDP Magazine for presenting the best
calour retail advertisement of the year.
Below: Peter Waters, right, and
Marie Barnes hold the NS crystal trophy
presented to the EDP magazine with Tim
Thurston, feft, and Stephan Phillips whe
are holding other prizes scooped by
ECN Nerfolk.

Sports Ministe
Tony Banks w:
guest of honour at t
Recorder Newspape:
spansored East Londe
Small Business Awar:
and is pictured righ
presentit
£1.500 1o t
winne
of the fir
priz



é Former Prime Minister
John Major launched the
Hunts Post web site. A reader for over
20 years, Mr Major was delighted to see
his local paper enter 2 new technological

era and gave an exclusive interview to
mark the occasion.

The Weston

Mercury was named the

1998 Newspaper Society Best
Weekly Paid for Newspaper in
Wales and the West of England, 1t
also wor a NS award for a schools”
nativity supplement as the most
urvsual and successful revenue
producing idea of the year.

Chief reporter Melanie
Dowding, pictured above, was
runner-up ir the BT Weekly
Journalist of the Year, Wales and
West, awards.

Now in their 0th year,

the EDP Business
Awards have become the catalyst
for ane of the most prestigious
cammerciat gatheriags of the
Norfolk year. In 1998 more than
100 companies entered the nine
categories, the winners receiving
their prizes from celebrity cook and
Horwich City Football Club
director Delia Smith.

" the paper's support of the Islington Festival.

The editorial and advertising teams of

The Hunts Post, named the Hidlands
and East Anghia Free Newspaper of the Year for
the third time in succession and the Newspaper
Society's Free Newspaper of the Year for the
second year running. Editor Paul Richardson is on
the far right.

HRH The Prince of Wales

chose ECN to learn about how the
regional press operates. Here he meets members
of the telesales team at Prospect House. He
attended the EDP's daily news conference before
being shown how photagraphs are electronically
pasitioned by picture editor Bennis Whitehead
and discussing the develepment of stories with
news editor Paul Durrant.

HEN (East) regional managing director
Doug Bonn received an ABSA !
Award from Culture Secretary Chris Smith for

The Evening Star in [pswich

made history when it was named
Evening Newspaper {circulation up to 40,000)
of the Year for a record third year in succession
in the Press Garette awards. |udges praised
the paper’s campaign victories and the way it
fights wholeheartealy for its readers.

Above, Nigel Pickaver editor of the
Evening Star with the 1998 Newspaper of the
Year certificate with members of his team
helding ather awards that the paper has
received,
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- Pushing,out the ; .
*Boundaries

G roup com panies continued to The coastal Anglia Advertiser series has been

¢ joined by seven titles from Mid Anglia Newspapers

N expand and grow 'th ro Ughout the and Cambridge, Huntingdon, Ely and Wisbech to

form a stronger weekly newspaper group.
. : : P Bringing paid for newspapers under the wing of
year! e><tend | ng thel r bUSI NESS and the series for the first time, the move also prompted
the creation of a central sub-editing department in

developing income . Royston and boosted the group’s advertising

production operation in Gorleston, pictured below.

.

The EDP extended its
news coverage and
advertising revenues when it
launched a 20 page weekly
supplement for the
West Norfolk edition.
Called EDP West
Norfolk & Fens, it provides
- much more local news and
a targeted readership for
advertisers who, along with
the local council, have
welcomed the publication.

%

Suffolic & Essex Business
Magazines have gone from strength
to strength with the hard work and
positive attitudes that won their pecple
‘Team of the Year’ in the ECN awards.

With a market leader in Suffolk, the
magazine team launched the successful
format into Essex and has secured a firm
foothold in the county.

Above: Members of the ECN team with
the new West supplement of the EDP.

Left: The Suffolk based magazine team ready to go
into bat for the launch of the Essex Business Magazine.
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YOUR LOCAL NEWSPAPER

Summerhouse
Publishing, the specialist
publishing company that
ECNG acquired in 1998, has
" gained a new home and new
clients for its portfolio.

The company's team of 26
now eccupy new offices in
the listed St Jarmes’ Yarn Mill
on the River Wensurn near
Norwich Cathedral.

The move accompanied
Summerhouse’s success in adding
new publications for clients
such as GEC, Hogg Robinson,
Paris-based Alcatel Cables and
Components and First Telecom.

The year also saw existing
clients ALSTOM, the London

Symphony Orchestra and Saab
Automobile extending their
involvernent with Summerhouse.
Saab renewed its contract for
another three years and added
the USA to its Saab Magazine
which is produced in 15
different language versions and
distributed to 25 markets around
the world, with a total circulation
of aver 600,000 copies.

Tim James, inset, joined
Summerhouse as publishing
director. He will look after
all the operational aspects of
the business, ensuring that
relationships with clients and
the standard of publications
improve still further.

The Weston & Som&rset Mercury began a new
q chapter inits |55 year history when it was printed
in full colour threughout for the first time. The change
came about due to customer demand, and the event was
marked by a balloon launch from the paper’s offices.

Left: (ML regional director Bernard Driscoll with members of his team celebrating
the launch of the fill colour Weston Mercury.

During 1998 ECN's Norfolk publishing division

demonstrated how powerful the company's
newspaper brands are by launching *EDP Norfoll’ a high
quality county magazine. Distinct from the EDP’s in-paper
Saturday colour supplement, the new bi-monthly up-market
magazine is aimed predominantly at women aged 30+ and
specialist advertisers.

Left to right: Mel Secker; EDP brand manager Kent Smith; Sharon Hulbert;
Sarah Hardy; publishing editor Peter Waters; Gavin Davies; adverfising manager
Marie Barnes; and Simon Lunt.

Left: Karer Twyford, development
manager and Steven Harnell,
news editor with the pew-look
North Somerset Times.

Abave: members of the
Weston-Super-Hare Admag
team with the |,000th issue of
their publication.

It has been a momentous year for CML's Admag titles.

The Weston-Super-Mare Admag proudly produced its
I,000th edition. The 40 page paper celebrated reaching the
milestone with a special supplement.

The Portishead Admag had a complete makeover, emerging as
the North Somerset Times, complete with news and sport.

-
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Aidan Semmens, pictured right,
became ECN's first newspaper
web site editor when he joined the
" Evening Star team.
The site has become increasingly
popular and attracts 80,000 readers
a week.

ECN'’s long-standing commitment

to achieving business success through
training and development has been
recognised by the company receiving
the prestigious Investor in People
award.

Right: ECN

Managing
Director Tom Stevenson
receives the lnvestors in
People plaque from Norfolk
and Waveney TECthief -
executive David Pearson
watched by HR Director
Val Howden and members
of the ECH [iP Team.

Leadership skills are being developed and extended

throughout ECN with |50 peeple taking part in Team
Leader and Operational Manager Programmes which lead
to Institute of Management qualifications.

Ten-week workplace-based courses enable junior managers,

supervisors and people with team leader responsibilities to
develop a range of skills to enhance their roles.

A 12 month Operational Manager Programme is
desigried to build commercial and business skills among
middle managers with successfui candidates achieving a
Certificate or Diploma in Management.

Advertisement sales staff are being helped to
progress their careers through training programmes which
will lead junior members of the team to potentially become
the senior representatives and sales managers of the future.
Trainee journalists are receiving the best training in the
newspaper industry. A 15-week course followed by
on-the-job training over two years enables young reporters
to gain NVQ Level 4 and the ECN Diploma,

Staff development activities are supported by a learning
resource library within ECN's HR Department at Prospect
House, Norwich.

Above: ECN HR advisor Lucy Pakes takes a training session at Prospect House.

When your business boundaries stretch from

Peterhead to Exeter, there's only one way to
get around as CML Managing Director Nigel
Websper and Finance Director Andrew
Halsey have found.

Nigel has held a pilot’s licence for several years
and makes frequent flights from his office in the
West Country. They are pictured, Nige!, left,
with their air taxi, an Aztec twin engined, six
seater which is based at the Bristol and Wessex
Flying Club.

-------

Above: Top hairdresser Nicky
Clarke at the Hairdressing Show
held by CML in Torquay.

Right: The CHL (Devon)
Exhibition and Show Division
exhibitions manager Jehn Cooksey
with members of his team from
Teft Christine Whitting, David
Hastings and Kate Boalch,

UK Hairdresser of the Year Nicky Clarke helped CML to
blaze a trail into a new business venture — exhibitions and shows.
The top people's hairdresser was the star attraction at a
hairdressing show staged in Torquay, one of five exhibitions run
during the year. Weddings, ideal homes and Christmas gifts were
the other themes for 1998,
Led by Bob Priddle, who heads-up CMLs operations in Devon,
the exhibition division has its sights set on major centres around
the country including Wembley, Brighton and Leeds in 1999.
Running exhibitions is a natural extension of CML's business
requiring many of the skills and resources needed for
successful publishing.




The East Anglian Daily The magazine was heralded by an Eastern Counties Network, the group's
Times Magazine proved an extensive television advertising electronic publishing arm, has transferred more
instant success on its launch in campaign and was well received by than 400 customers onto the World Wide Web with
‘October, boosting Saturday sales of the  readers. The advertising team took a many of them reaping remarkable results including
paper by nearly 3,000 copies, as well  fresh approach to give the magazine orders and enquiries fﬁpm thousands of miles away.
as achieving a premium cover price. the best possible start. Focused on Nearly 70% represe.[it new business for the company
) gaining new advertising spend, a two- including customers from beyend traditional publishing
day off-site course saw the team boundaries. Many clients report that web activity has
-~ analysing the competition, developing extended their sales area as well as bringing them
a strategy to win market share and improved results locally.
making presentations to advertisers. An independent survey carried out among Network
The result was £30,000 of revenue customers reported high levels of approval for the
pre-sold into the first edition. service, averaging a satisfaction rating of 4.2 out of a
Lefe: Editor of the EADT Magazine Robyn Bechelet possible 5.
with design editar Richard Bryson. Below; Jenny Smith, right, field sales representative for Eastern Counties

Network, shows Deborah Gillatt from the government agency CEFAS their
new web site.

ECN has completed ene of the most complex
projects of recent years with the development
and installation of a new advertising system which
links the publishing centres of Ipswich and Norwich.
Developed in-house, it provides advertising sales
staff with customer information. It also includes sales
ledger, page planning and assembly capabilities.
Competitive selection of the system by HCN has
underlined the cost effectiveness of the central
development of core systems within the Group.

Above ieft: Kelly Brookes uses the new ECH advertising system, watched by
Sonia Marshall in the telesales department at Prospect House, Norwich,

Left: Tony Kemsley, seated, and Mark Duckett, right, with director of
information systems Jim Duncan and members of the ECN IS team.

The Evening Star captured the spirit of a famous
victory when it celebrated the 20th anniversary
of Ipswich Town Football Club’s historic FA Cup win
against Arsenal in 1978.
The paper brought the team together for the first time in

20 years and took it on an open top bus tour of the town,
complete with the cup itself, to the acclaim of thousands of
fans who lined the streets.

Along with the reproduction of the FA Cup programme, the
Star produced a CD of the team'’s 1978 anthern, pictured above
left, and organised a special ‘One Day in May Reunion’ beer. n

Left: Star sports writer Dave Allard with Ipswich Town's Kieren Dyer and the special beer.
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In the
communi

The Welwyn & Hatfield Times has
been playing a leading role in heiping
the community.

it embraced the National Year of Reading
when it brought ‘Reading Passports’ to more
than |,400 school children in 2| schools
during its second year of taking part in
Newspapers in Education.

Through the local Education Business
Partnership the paper helped young people
with severe learning difficulties. Reporters
also helped to brighten up the carnival when
they took to a veteran fire engine for the
procession, pictured below.

The Hitchin Comet has also joined

the Newspapers in Education cause
and provided 2,500 children from more than
60 schools with the incentive to get to grips
with reading and gain a certificate in an eight
week long project.

ity

ECNG newspapers lie at the heart of their
communities, reflecting and leading public
opinion through their campaigns; helping others;
and raising thousands of pounds for good causes.

The Paisley, Renfrewshire

and Gryffe Weekly News
tugged at its readers’ heart strings
and galvanised the community into
raising £20,000 for the local
Special Care Baby Unit.

The paper’s first ever reader
appeal, such was its attraction that
the initial target of £13,000 was
quickly exceeded.

Local celebrities, including
footballer Ally McCoist, whose
twin sons were born prematurely
in the unit, got behind the
fund-raising which has enabled the
Royal Alexandra Hospital to create
a family room where anxious
parents can stay and be close to
their seriously ill babies.

Top right: Striker Ally McCoist, right, and
Weekly News reporter Gerry Duffy, centre, hand 2
large donation to staff at their local Special Care
Baby Urit.

L

Top: Read all about it! Youngsters see how a
newspaper is printed, ready for sale.

Above centre: A class of Suffolk children in
the “school room’ created in Brook House,
Ipswich, the home of the East Anglian Daily
Times and Evening Star.

Above: A class of pnmary sthoo! children

noot P I T O S



Young readers are the

<, A focus of a special
development programme being led
by ECN in Suffolk. With a mission
to create a newspaper reading
habit among the young, the
programme is working with
schools and families to encourage
their children to improve their
communication skills.

The project is part of a
‘tommunity affection’ initiative
being driven by the East Anglian
Daity Times and Evening Star and
is a key part of their
interaction with the communities
they serve, says marketing services
manager Katherine Silver,

4

Below: Marketing services
manager Katherine Silver with
members of the Evening Star
School Reporter team at the
Suffolk Shaw,

Inset: Young people with their
note books and cameras, ready
to report an the Suffolk Show.

A ATl Sy

NIy

The EDP has launched its most

ambitious community project ever —
to raise £ |million through its ‘We Care
2000’ campaign.

Specifichlly to help the carers of people
in need, thé project has become Norfolk’s
official couﬁty appeal for the Millennium.
The ambitious scale of the campaign
attracted coverage in the national press
and on television.

Below: From left, EDP reporter Angi Kennedy and editor
Peter Franzen with organisers of the paper’s Festival of
Carcis with a cheque for the money raised at the event for
the ‘We Care 2000" appeal.
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Finding Miss Essex 1998 was
a tough job as HCN (East) -

sales director Paul Gregory

discovered during this heat of the

contest which attracted over 300

entries. Recorder Newspapers have

sponsored the competition, which

leads to the Miss UK finals, for the

last three years.

A Caribbean-style steel band

was just one of the street
entertainments sponsored by the
Stevenage Comet for the town's
carnival. A marching band, juggters
and clowns also kept the crowds
amused as the procession made its
way through the town.

The paper is stepping up its
involvement this year when the
carnival takes on a Mardi Gras
theme, complete with extravagant
costumes which the Comet will be

helping people to create with a
special theatre workshop. n:
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The Evening News in

Norwich campaigned,
raised money and even
brought about a promise to
change the law on asbestos
through its work.

The paper raised nearly
£50,000 to help a school for
children with special needs, a
centre for the disabled and
local cancer sufferers.

Its Asbestos Action
Campaign, which raised
awareness of the dangers of
the material, developed into
a major campaign success,
leading to the promise of a
change in the law to ban
white asbestos.

On the lighter side, the
paper brought 200 under
| |-years-old soccer fans
together for a Junior World
Cup which mirrored the real
event in France. In Norwich
thousands of people enjoyed
the News sporsored
‘Golden Years Roci‘n’Roll
Revival’ which reunited

Abave: Pink "Un editar Joe Ferrari, centre, with £vening News
sports editor David Cuffley, left, and sports editer Graham
Dunbar celebrate their successful campaign to restore the

(anaries’ green shorts.

more than 25 pop bands
from the region and raised
money for charity.

Through the
determination of their

football paper, the Pink
Un, Norwich City fans will
see the longed for return of
green shorts to the Canaries’
strip next season, replacing
the new Bruce Oldfield
designed all yellow outfit.
The paper organised a
referendum on the matter
with fans displaying yellow or
green voting cards before a
home match to show their
feelings. Green won by a
landslide.

Editor Bob Crawley said:
“The Evening News can
mazke a difference to
people’s lives in so many
ways and we will continue to
lead the way in helping the
commuhities in our area.”

Below: Members of the Evenings News team
with some of their campaigning editions.

STORY
FHOP

The Buchan Observer has taken
the fight against litter to the
streets in Aberdeenshire’s Peterhead.
Reporters approached
people seen dropping litter; a ‘gallery
of shame’ exposed the extent of the
preblem; and civic leaders were
enlisted to support the campaign,

Right: Buhan Observer editor George Hutchinsan,
right, with reporter Michaet Howie present a local
shopkeeper with his anti-litter window display poster.

The EADT and Evening

Star led community
feeling and helped to save
hospitals in Suffolk and Essex.

The Anglian's ‘Hands off

our Hospitals’ saw an intention
1o alter the services provided at
two community hospitals in
Essex stopped and a rethink
begun. The campaign was part
of the paper's more active
editorial stance in Essex which
also saw it raising money to

buy a lifeboat station.

The Star's editor, Nige!
Pickover, took his campaign to
save a hospital in Felixstowe all
the way to the Secretary of
State for Health and was told in
a meeting with Frank Dobson
that he had overturned a local
decision to close it.

Below: Essex news editor Richard Woodard
standing outside one of the hospitals that the
EABT campaigned for.
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The mood of a whole
community touched by
tragedy has been captured by
tHe Buchan Observer in an
appeal to raise a monument to
the memory those who lose
_ their lives fishing at sea.
Editor George Hutchinson,

left, is pictured with a member
of the Scottish Sculpture
Workshop locking for a suitable
site for the fishermen’s memorial
overfooking Peterhead’s Bay of
Refuge.
So far the paper has raised

aver £19.000 for the memarial.

Members of
the Hitchin
Comet team
donned fancy dress §,
and literally went to
town for Children in
MNeed raising £269 in

The Hampstead

& Highgate
Express series continued
helping people to find
careers with its fifth
Training and job Fair at
the University of London.

a street collection, Distinguished journalist
and broadcaster [on
Snow opened the show

and welcomed guests.

Below: Jon Snow chats with editor
of the Highbury & lslington
Express, Roger Blitz watched by
Doug Bonn and Matthew Lewin,
editor of the Ham & High,

When it comes to helping the EDP has

staying power, as the continuing story of
African orphan Tenneh Cole proves. 5o much so
that the paper’s involvernent formed a key part of
BBC Television's ‘This Is Your Life’ programme
about the man who is helping children who are
the victims of war,

Assistant editor James Ruddy, who is pictured
with Tenneh, has followed het life since she was
brought to Norwich to have a bullet removed
. from her head three years ago.

t4 The EDP raised £17,000 to pay for her

treatment and since returning home James has

kept track of Tenneh, most recently visiting

Sierra Leone before Christmas to

delfiver 20 tonnes of books donated
by readers for children in the war
torn country. James is now writing
a book to be published by ECN in |
May, telling the story of Tenneh
and the EDP

The Welwyn & Hatfield Times
A teamed up with Carlton TV's London
Tonight programme to find readers with an
interesting story to tell live on television.
Editor Terry Mitchinson is pictured
oeing interviewed during the broadcast
‘rom Hatfield House by presenter
“ary Nightingale. The paper used some
of the responses to run its own features
ibout the lives of local pecple.



1 R W JEWSON**

Chairman

Richard fewson joined the Board in 1962
as a Non-Executive Director and became
Chairman in 1996. After running
Jewsans the Timber and Builders
Merchant for 12 years he became
Managing Director and then Chairman of
its holding company Meyer Tnternational
Plc. He is currently Chairman of [nterX
Plc., Savills Plk., Octagon Healthcare
(Holdings) Ltd., Depusy Chairman of
Anglian Water Plc., and a Non-Executive
Directar of Grafton Group Plc and
Queens Moat House Ple. Hz is Chairman
of the Remuneration and Nominations
Committees,

Z P M STRONG*®

Chief Executive

Peter Strong joined as Chief Executive in
1996. He was previously a Main Board
member of EMAP Plc the media company
and Chief Executive of their Newspaper
and Printing Division, After training as

a newspaper journalist he joined EMAP

in 198% and his career with the company
embraced time as an fditor and Managing
Directar within the magatine division in,
addition to his role in newspapers,

(31 G H C COPEMAN DL ™ #°
Yice Chairman

Geaffrey Copeman joined the Company in
1961 and became Group Development
Manager in §973. He was appointed
General Manager of the East Anglian
Baily Times Campany Limited in 1976,
and subsequently General Manager of
Eastern Counties Newspapers Limited,
becoming Group Chief Executive in 1982.
A past director of Norwich Union Group,
he has also served on the Boards of
Suffolk Group Radio, Radia Broadland,
and subsequently East Anglian Radio.
He is a past director of The Press

- Directors

and officers

Association, and a past President of The
Hewspaper Society. e is currently
Chairman of the Audit Bureau of
Circulations Limited,

(4 RV J CADBURY**

Non-Executive

Roger Cadbury joined the Board as a
Hon-Executive Director in 1993, He has
been Chairman of Premier Brands
Limited, and previously he was Managing
Director of General Foods Limirad and
Whitworth Holdings Limited. Carrently,
he is a Non-Executive Director of NFU
Mutual, Chairman of the Bournville
Yillage Trust and of the Seil Association
Certification Company. He is Chairman
of the Audit Committee.

(37 R C COPEMAN"*

Non-Executive

Richard Lapeman was a member of the
Board of Eastern Counties Newspapers
Lirnited before joining the Group Board
as a Non-Executive Director in 1980. He
was Chairman and Managing Director of
the chemicals division of McKechnie
Brothers Limited from 1974 to 1986
when he joined the Lambsor Group an
a pari-time basis to run their newly
acquired micronutrient business,
retiring in 1994.

6] ) O ELLISON®
Company Secretary

John Eliison was appainted Group
Company Secretary in February 1994,
After graduaring in business studies, he
trained with Ernst & Young in Londan
and Norwich before joining ECNG's retail
subsidiary Paper Chain in 1982. He
currently répresents ECNG's interests on
the Boards of The Radio Partnership
Limited and $t Andrews Management
Company Limited and is a Director of
Summerhause Publishing Limited,

C H LAWRENCE®

Finance Director

Chris Lawrence was appointed Group

Finance Director in March 1993. Heisa

chartered accountant, having trained
with Ernst & Young in Norwich, After
qualifying, he spent two years with Ernst
& Young in Yancouver, (anada, He
returned to the UK in 1989 and has since
worked far EMAP Ple, North West Water
Pic and Whessoe Plc. Prior ta joining the
Group, he was mast recently Group
Finance Director at Whessoe,

I R LOCKETT™

Non-Executive

Ivan Lockett spent two years in Australia
before working for six years in BBC
Television producing science feature pro-
grammes. In 1970 he joined and now
runs a family farming business in
Suffolk. He served on the Boards of
Eastern Counties Newspapers Limited and
East Anglian Daily Times Company
Limited before foining the Group Board
as 2 Non-Executive Director in 1991,

9] T STEVENSON®
Managing Director
Eastern Counties Newspapers Ltd

Tom Stevenson joined the company in
1982, He began his career with Thamson
Regional Newspapers. Formerly Deputy
Managing Director of ECN Norwich, he
was appointed Managing Director of the
Eagt Anglian Daily Times Company
Limited in 1994 and Wafiaging Directar
of the Group's East Anglian publishing
activities in 1995. He joined the Group
Board in April [996. He is {hairman of
the Newspaper Society's Marketing
Strategy Group, on the Board of the
Narwich Area Develapment Agency and
the Board of the Enterprise Partnership
{Narfolk and Waveney Training and
Enterprise Councif).

P ) C TROUGHTON"*

Non-Executive

Peter Traughtan served on the Boards of
the East Anglian Daily Times £ampany
Limited and Community Media Limited
befare joining the Group Board in 1981
a5 2 Hon-Executive. He is Deputy
Chairmag of Rothschild Asser
Managament, which he joined in 1995,
having been a main Board Director

of WH Smith Graup Plc. Neisa
Non-Executive Directar of the Lowland
Investment Company and a farmer
Trustee of the National Gallery.

[ N G F WEBSPER
Managing Director
Community Media Limited

Nigel Websper joined Community Media
Limited in I981 as Company Accountant
and was appointed Finance Director in
1985. He became Director and Graup
General Manager in 1990 and was
appainted Deputy MO in 1995 and MQin
1996. Before CML, Nigel was Group
Marketing Accountant for Bowyers
Goods, having previousty held various
project, acquisition and finance roles.
He joined the Group Board in
December 1998.

Nigel serves on the Newspaper
Society Council and is a Director of the
Association of Household Distributars.
He is also 2 member of the Newspaper
Society Marketing Strategy Group.

* Hember of the Reemuneration Committee
* Member of the Audit Committee

# Hember of the Nominaticns Committee
© Member of the Pensions Committee
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ITastern (I DTV G T TN Annual Report and Accounts 1998

Report of the Directors

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited accounts of the Group for the year ended 3| December (998,

ACCOUNTS

The Group profit for the year after taxation and minority interests amounted to £14,090,00C compared to £11,610,000 for 1997.
Dividends have been paid or proposed as follows:

£000 £000

6.45% cumulative preferepce shares 20

15.5% cumulative second preference shares 316
Ordinary shares

Interim of 4.9 p paid on 5 October 1998 775 .

Proposed final of 11.Lp - 1,767 2,542

2,878

The ordinary dividends above are stated after taking account of the dividends waived by the ECNG Employee Benefit Trust.
The final ordinary dividend, if approved, will be paid on 14 May 1999 to ordinary shareholders whose names were on the register on
3 May (999.

ACTIVITIES AND REVIEW OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS
The principal activity of the Group is publishing newspapers.

The key factors affecting the Group's trading performance, and details of the principal acquisitions and disposals, are highlighted in the
Financial Review on pages 7 to 9.

The directors expect continued growth of the Group through both the development of the core businesses and strategic acquisitions.

DIRECTORS

The members of the Board who held office during the year are listed on page 20. Mr CH Lawrence and Mr N G F Websper were appointed
to the Board on 2 March 1998 and 14 December 1998 respectively.

The directors retiring by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association are Mr RV | Cadbury, Mr | R Lockett and Mr P | C Troughton
who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. MrN G F Websper also retires, and being eligible, offers himself for election.

The directors’ interests in thd shares of the Company are disclosed in Note 5 on page 36.
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Report of the Directors

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ACCOUNTS

" Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
% Company and of the Group and of the profic or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing those accounts, the directors are required
- tor

¢ » select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- * . - a - - -
e state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
accounts;

The directors confirm that the accounts comply with the above requirements.

The directors are ré'§poﬁsibl‘e for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities to shareholders for good corporate governance and remains committed te maintenance of
high standards.

The Combined Code

Although not a listed company, and not therefore bound by the reporting requirements of the Combined Code (the Code), the Board
recognises and endorses its Principles as “best practice” but excludes compliance with specific provisions that are not deemed appropriate
within the context of a private company. In all other material respects the Board considers that the Company has complied with the Code
throughout the pericd to 31 December 1998,

The Board

The Board currently comprises the Chairman, Vice Chairman, four non-executive and four executive directors, and is responsible to the
shareholders for the proper management of the Group. It meets regularly, setting and monitoring Group strategy, trading performance,
ensuring adequate funding, reviewing investment opportunities and reporting to shareholders.

To discharge their duties the executive directors receive timely and appropriate information and there are agreed procedures for directors
to take independent professional advice as required.

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved specifically to it for decision. The company secretary has responsibility for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

The Board has set up Audit, Remuneration, Pensions and Nominations Committees to deal with those specific aspects of the Group's affairs.
Each Committee has agreed terms of reference which are reviewed perfodically. Individual membership of the Committees is indicated,
together with directors’ biographical details, on page 20. All directors are subject to re-election at least every three years,
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Report of the Directors -

Relations with Shareholders
Communication with shareholders is given a high priority and undertaken formally through the Annual Report and Accounts and Interim Statement.

The Board uses the Annual General Meeting to communicate directly with shareholders. Details of the resolutions to be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting on || May 1999 are set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting on pages 55 and 56.

Internal Financial Control

Guidance has not yet been'issued on the reporting criteria for operational and compliance controls and risk management as required by
the Code. In consequence,and in accordance with interim advice issued by the London Stock Exchange to listed companies, the Board has
continued to review and report on the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal financial controls.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for establishing and maintaining an appropriate system of internal financial controls. Internat
— - ) - .

financial control systems are designed to meet the particular needs of the Group and are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,

assurance of the safeguarding of assets and the reliability of financial information.

To meet this responsibility the directors have relied upon the following key procedures:

i) Establishment of an organisational structure which includes clearly defined lines of authority and responsibility, covering limits for
authorisation of transactions, the segregation of duties and the production and review of management infermation to agreed time scales;

i) Areview of strategy and identification of major business risks faced by the Group which is undertaken annually.
iii) Detailed annual operating budgets for all operating units with approval required by both senior local management and Group Board.

iv) Four weekly management report and accounts, including balance sheets, from all operating units including comparison to budget and
prior year with identification of key performance drivers and variance explanation.

v) Quarterly full year forecasts from all operating units with comparison to budget and explanation of variances.

vi) Formal, hierarchical, authorisation procedures for all investment and capital expenditure against agreed success criteria. Appropriate
due diligence is carried out if a business is to be acquired.

To enable the Board to review the effectiveness of the Group's internal financial control a formal mechanism of self-assessment for the
measurement and assessment of the principal controls within the Group was undertaken. The conclusions of the exercise were reviewed
by the Audit Committee and reported to the Board.

GCING CONCERN
The directors consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Y

YEAR 2000

The Group began to assess the potential impact of the “Year 2000 Problem” on its operations seme two years ago. The issue is complex
affecting not only internal computer systems but also those of suppliers and customers alike.

All parts of the business have undertaken a complete review of their operations to identify problem areas. As with all operational issues,
the process is being carried out by operating centre management and with responsibility for the project resting with senior divisional
management. Progress of individual projects is reported to the Audit Committee regularly.

Programmes of work have been designed to ensure initially that all business critical systems are compliant and thereafter the remaining
systems will be addressed. Many systems have already been replaced and the programme includes the testing of systems under control
conditions where this is practicable.

The programme also includes seeking assurances from major customers and suppliers relating to the procedures that they have put in place
and that their systems will be compliant.

Due to the complexity of the problem no organisation can guarantee that no Year 2000 problems will arise. However, the Board believes
that an acceptable level of readiness will be achieved and will, wherever possible, ensure that contingency plans are drawn up to cover
unexpected failures.
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~ Report of the Directors .'

DISABLED PERSONS

"It is the Group's policy to give full consideration to suitable applications for employment by disabled persons. The need to develop the
careers of disabled persons is accepted by the Group, and the necessary steps are taken to train and promote disabled employees where

* 'this is in their own and the Group’s best interests.
.
.

'
-

N
EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
»  Eligible staff are invited to particip;.te in the ECNG Employee Share Scheme, further details of which are given in Note 6.

During 1998 the Group continued its practice of encouraging staff involvement. The policy of providing employees with information about
the Group has been continued through regular briefing meetings and various staff newsletters, in which employees have also been
encouraged to present their suggestions and views on the Group’s performance. In addition, working parties drawn from the staff have
contributed to the planning processes.

Consultation procedures also take place covering such matters as health and safety and pensions. In addition certain Trustees of the Pension
Schemes are employees of the Group.

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY

It is the Company’s policy to negotiate payment terms with principal suppliers and to pay in accordance with the terms agreed. For other
suppliers payment is to be made in accordance with the terms offered by the supplier.

At 3| December 1998, the Company held an average of 19 days’ purchases outstanding in trade creditors (1997 - 26 days).

DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Company and its subsidiaries totalled £36,000 (1997 - £30,000).

AUDITORS

A resclution to reappoint Ernst & Young as auditors will be put to the members at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

} O ELLISON 3
Secretary i
26 March 1999
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Report of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Richard Jewson. Its other members are Roger Cadbury, Geoffrey Copeman, Richard
Copeman, Ivan Lockett and Peter Troughton. All members of the Committee are non-executive directors. The Committee determines
an overall remuneration package for executive directors in order to attract and retain high quality executives capable of achieving the
Group’s objectives. The Committee pays particular attention to remuneration levels in the industry, and to pay and employment conditions
within the Group. In addition, the Committee may take advice from external remuneration consultants where appropriate.

The main elements of the remuneration package are discussed below.

Basic salary: Each executive director’s salary is reviewed annually based on performance during the year and achievement of objectives.
*

Benefits: Benefits provided include the provision of a company car (or cash equivalent) and private heaith insurance,

Annual bonus: These are calculated based on fixed formulae which are determined at the beginning of each financial year by the
Committee. Bonuses are paid for achieving or exceeding financial targets, principally operating profit. ’

Pensions: The executive directors are members of the Senior Management Pension Scheme (see note 3! to the accounts). Executive
directors contribute 5% of salary and the Company makes further contributions as necessary to meet the obligations of the Scheme, The
Scheme pays faoth of final earnings for each year of pensionable service. The normal retirement date for executive directors under the
Scheme is age 60, which enables executive directors to achieve a maximum pension of two thirds of their final earnings after 20 years’
service, subject to the maximum benefits laid down by the Inland Revenue Pension Schemes Office. A lump sum of four times salary is
payable on death in service, together with a spouse’s pension of 50% of the director’s prospective pension. At the discretion of the
Company, executive directors forced to retire early on account of ill health may receive an immediate full pension. Pensions earned before
April 1997 receive discretionary increases in payment while those earned after April 1997 are guaranteed to increase in line with inflation
subject to a maximum of 5% per annum,

Funded unapproved retirement benefit scheme: The Company makes contributions to a funded unapproved retirement benefit
scheme on behalf of the Chief Executive, established to provide retirement benefits in respect of his salary above the statutory “earnings
cap” to a level of two thirds salary at retirement age of 60.

Long term incentive plan: Under the terms of the ECNG Long Term Incentive Plan each year the Committee may notionally allocate
restricted shares to senior managers, Including executive directors, to a value not exceeding 75% of basic salary. Each notional award has
a three year cycle. Notional awards may accrue to participants at the end of each cycle, subject to achieving predetermined performance
targets, At the end of each cycle, at the discretion of the trustees, half of the shares accruing are released, with the other half being held
in trust for another two years before they are finally released. The measure of performance is aggregated normalised earnings per share
for the three years of each cycle. The aggregated earnings per share performance targets are geared towards doubling the size of the
business in five years.

Employee share scheme: If eligible, executive directors may participate in the ECNG Employee Share Scheme. Details of the 1998
scheme are given in note 6 to the accounts.

Savings related share option scheme: Under the ECNG Savings Related Share Option Scheme, the Company offered share options
to eligible employees in 1994, 1996 and 1997. If eligible, executive directors were invited to subscribe for each offer. No performance
criteria were attached to these options.

Non-executive fees: The fees of non-executive directors are determined by the Board on the recommendation of the Chairman and
Chief Executive, within the limits stipulated in the Articles of Association. The Chairman’s fee is determined by the Remuneration
Committee excluding himself.

Directors’ remuneration, pension entitlements and interests: Details are set out in note 5 to the accounts.
Service contracts: All of the executive directors’ service contracts are terminable on one year's notice,

Re-election: Details are set out in the Report of the Directors.

On behalf of the ration Committee

R W JEWSON
26 March 1999
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Re p ort Of th e AU d ItO 'S to the members of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited

We have audited the accounts on pages 28 to 54 which have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the
revaluation of certain freehold and leasehold properties and on the basis of the accounting policies set out on pages 31 and 32.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report including, as described on page 23, the accounts. Our responsibilities, as
independent auditors, are established by statute, the Auditing Practices Board and by our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion.as to whether the accounts give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the accounts, if the Company has not
kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if the information
specified by law regarding ﬁir:ectors’ remuneration and transactions with the company is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report, including the corporate governance statement, and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited accounts. We consider the implication for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the accounts. We are not required to form an opinion on the effectiveness of either the Company’s corporate
governance procedures or its internal controls.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Beard. An audit includes examination, on
a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Group's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the accounts are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or other irregularity or error. in forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
accounts.

OPINION

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 3| December 1998 and
of the profit of the Group for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985,

E"é(:, . (3@“‘* 3
ERNST & YOUNG ~
Registered Auditor

Norwich
26 March 1999
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Group PrOflt and LOSS Account fcrtht;'yearendedﬂDecember 1998

1998 1997
Notes £000 £000
TURNOVER
Ongoing operations 82,769 79,163
Acquisitions 19,719 -
Continuing operations " 102,488 79,163
Discontinued operations 991 950
TOTAL TURNOVER 2 103,479 80,113
OPERATING PROFIT
Cngoing operations §3.564 10.044
Acquisitions 3,920 -
Continuing operations 17.484 10,044
Discontinued operations (423) {201}
GROUP OPERATING PROFIT 2,3 17.061 9,843
Share of operating results in associates 156 (23}
TOTAL OPERATING PROFIT : GROUP AND SHARE OF ASSOCIATE i7.417 9818
Profits on sales of intangible fixed assets and investments in associates 4 4215 5,328
Fundamental acquisition restructuring costs 4 (564) -
Losses on closure of operations and disposal of subsidiary 4 (860) (81)
20,208 15,065
Income from investments 7 1,613 985
Interest payable 8 (1.535) (249)
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 20,286 15,801
Tax on profit on ordinary activities g 6,170 4,183
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER TAXATION 4,116 11,618
Minority interests . (26) (8)
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 14,090 1,610
Dividends (including non-equity interests) 10 2,878 2,289
RETAINED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 23 1,212 $,32)
Earnings per share I 86.6p 71.5p
Adjusted earnings per share i 74.0p 44 3p
Diluted earnings per share I 84.6p 70.7p

There are no recognised gains or losses other than those reflected in the Profit and Loss Account
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i
Ba|ance SheetS at 31 December 1998 .
Group Company
1998 1597 1998 1997
Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets (2 46,565 - - -
Tangible assets 13 35,448 34,613 17,353 18.361
" Investments 14 6,100 5,785 46,014 45,025
88,113 40,398 63,367 63,386
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks _ = 15 1,216 1,299° o 1,089 1,188
Debtors 16 17,485 13,063 45,671 16,047
Short term investments 17 651 180 651 180
Cash and deposits 8 19,184 26,285 16,986 24,600
38,533 40,827 64,397 42,015
CREDITORS - amounts falling due within one year:
Trade and other creditors 19 37,845 9,982 9,186 8,288
Taxation 8,682 4,586 4,472 377
Proposed dividend 1,767 1,290 1,767 1,290
48,294 15,858 15,425 12,755
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) / ASSETS 9.761) 24,969 48,972 29,260
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 78,352 65,367 112,339 92,646
CREDITORS - amounts falling due
after more than one year 20 5,288 6,346 41,394 27,705
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 21 3,635 2,624 2,947 2,747
MINORITY INTERESTS 601 123 - -
68,828 56,274 67,998 62,194
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 22 5,539 5510 5,539 5510
Share premium account 23 1,372 790 1,372 790
Revaluation reserve 23 99} 1,012 13 13
Profit and loss account 23 60,926 48,962 61,074 55.881
Shareholders’ funds
Equity 66,478 53,924 65,648 59,844
Non-equity 2.350 2.350 2,350 2,350
68,828 56,274 67,998 62,194

R W JEWSON
Chairman
26 March 1999
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Group Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 1998
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1998 1997
Notes £'000 £000
Cash flow from operating activities 24 17,208 12,866
Returns on investment and servicing of finance 25 (83) 743
Taxation (3,340) {2,59%)
Capital expenditure and financial investment 25 8,295 (797)
Acquisitions and disposals | 25 (25,437) 4.867
Equity dividends paid (2,421) (1,726)
CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW BEFORE USE OF LIQUID -
RESOURCES AND FINANCING (5.778) 13,358
Management of liquid resources 25 8,808 {19,839)
Financing 25 (1,326) 5,548
INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH IN THE PERIOD 26 1,704 (933)
RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET (DEBT)/ FUNDS {NOTE 26)
1998 1997
£'000 £000
Increasef{decrease) in cash in period 1,704 (933)
Cash inflow from increase in loans (26,073) -
Repayment of loans |,681 -
lssue costs of new loans 256 -
Amortisation of loan issue costs (62} -
Cash outflow from lease financing 256 122
Cash {inflowYoutflow from increase in liquid resources (8,808) 19,839
Change in net funds resulting from cash flows (31,046) 19,028
Finance leases acquired with subsidiary (191} -
New finance leases {165) (154}
Movement in net funds in period (31,402} 18,834
Net funds at | January 1998 25,730 6,8%6
4
Net debt at 31 December 1998 (5.672) 25,730




L] 0 P
Eastern Caunties Newspapers Group Limited RN L LIaRe s Bt AL AL

Notes to the Accounts a3l december 199

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified by the revaluation of certain freehold and leasehold
properties, and in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

Basis of Consolidation

The Group accounts consolidate the accounts of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited (ECNG) and all its subsidiary undertakings
drawn up to 31 December each year. No profit and loss account is presented for ECNG as permitted by section 230 of the Companies
Act 1985.

Sumrmerhouse Publishing Limited has been included in the Group accounts using the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the
Group profit and less accolint and statement of cash flows include the results and cash flows of Summerhouse Publishing Limited for the
period from its acquisition on |3 February [998. The purchase consideration has been allocated to assets and liabifities on the basis of fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc (HCNH) and its subsidiary undertakings have been included in the Group accounts using the
acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the Group profit and loss account and statement of cash flows include the results and cash
flows of HCNH and its subsidiary undertakings for the period from their acquisition on 13 May {998, with the exception of subsidiary
undertakings disposed of before the year end. The purchase consideration has been allocated to assets and liabilities on the basis of fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Entities, other than subsidiary undertakings, in which the Group has a participating interest and over whose operating and financial policies
the group exercises a significant influence are treated as associates. In the Group accounts, associates are accounted for using the equity
methed. The comparative figures for the results of associates have been restated following the implementation of FRS 9.

Intangible Fixed Assets

(i) Newspaper Titles
Acquired newspaper titles are stated in the balance sheet at the directors™ assessment of the purchase consideration which is
apportioned to the intangible assets based on valuations of the titles, supported by a comparative view of similar transaction values
within the newspaper industry. Based on past transactions within the Group and the industry, the age of the acquired titles, and plans
to develop these titles, in the directors’ opinion the lives of these assets are considered to be indefinite. The carrying values of the assets
are not subject to annual amortisation, but are reviewed annually for any diminution in carrying values.

Newspaper titles acquired prior to 3! December 1997 were classified as goodwill and written off directly to reserves. Goodwill
previously eliminated against reserves has not been re-instated on implementation of FRS 10.

{ii) Goodwill Arising on Consolidation
Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 3! December 1997 was set off directly against reserves and has not been reinstated on
implementation of FRS 10.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions since | January 1998 is capitalised, classified as an asset on the balance sheet and amortised on a straight
line basis over its useful economic life up to a presumed maximum of 20 years. [t is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full
financial year following the acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable.

I a subsidiary or associate is subsequently sold or closed, any goodwill arising on acquisition that was written off directly to reserves is
taken into account in determining the profit or loss on sale or closure.

(i) Radio Licences
The Group's share of intangible assets in associates is capitalised as radio licences. In the opinion of the directors, radio licences have
indefinite asset lives and are capable of continued measurement by reference to the Group's experience in the industry, and past and
future transactions within the radio industry. Accordingly, the carrying values of the assets are not subject to annual amortisation, but
are reviewed annually for any diminution in carrying values.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Tangible Fixed Assets

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation and amortisation is provided on all other assets in use at the end of each year by equal annual
instalments estimated to write off those assets over their useful lives at the following rates:

Freehold buildings - 2%
Leasehold buildings long - 2%
' short - Period of lease
Piant, equipment and vehicles - Between 7% and 33%

Film projects are shown at estimated net realisable value.

Leases

Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised in the Balance Sheet and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition, and net realisable value.

Deferred Taxation

Provision is made for deferred taxation, using the liability method on all timing differences, including those relating to pensions, to the extent that
it is probable that the liability will crystallise.

Pensions

The principal pension schemes of the Group are operated in the names of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited (ECNG) and
Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc (HCNH). ECNG operate two defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made
to separately administered funds. Contributions to these funds are charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread the cost of pensions
over the employees’ working lives. The pension cost is assessed in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries. -

ECNG also introduced a defined contribution scheme from | April 1998, which is open to eligible employees. The Group's contributions
are charged to the profit and loss account in the year in which they are payable.

HCNH operates a defined contribution scheme which is open to eligible employees. The Group’s contributions are charged to the profit
and loss account in the year jn which they are payable.

HCNH also makes provision for the capital value of ex gratia pensions to certain former employees in accordance with independent
actuarial advice.
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Notes to the Accounts asidecember 19%

2. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS 1998 1997
£000 £000
TURNOVER
Newspaper publishing
Ongoing operations 84,158 79,035
Less: sales to acquisition (1,614) -
% Acquisition 18,110 -
Total newspaper publishing ' 100,654 79,035
Contract publishing — acquisition 1,609 -
Other activities ) 225 128
Discontinued operations 99| 950
103,479 80,113
OPERATING PROFIT
Newspaper publishing — ongoing operations 13,970 10,955
Newspaper publishing — acquisition 3,813 -
Contract publishing — acquisition (after charging goodwill amortisation £59,000) 107 -
Properties 1,034 1,702
Other activities (194) (282)
Discontinued operations (423) (201
Comimon costs {1,246) {2,331)
17,061 9,843
NET ASSETS
Newspaper publishing 40,988 20,800
Properties 15,955 13,356
Radio broadcasting 5,675 5613
Other activities 190 81
62,808 41,688
Unallocated net assets 6,020 14,586
68,828 56,274

Summerhouse Publishing Limited made exports to Eurcpe of £56%,000. All other sales were made in the United Kingdom.

Turnover represents invoiced and cash sales, net of value added tax.

Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc and its subsidiary undertakings were acquired on {3 F’Iay 1998.

‘Summerhouse Publishing Limited was acquired on 13 February 1998.

Orient Direct Marketing Limited (formerly IMC Direct Marketing Limited) ceased trading as at 3} December 1998.

The associate engaged in radio broadeasting, Xfm Limited, was sold on 21 July 1998.

All other segments of the business have continued throughout 1998.
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3. OPERATING PROFIT Continuing Discontinued Total Total
Operations Acquisitions Operations 1998 1997
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
Turnover 7 82,769 19.719 991 103,479 80,113
Other operating income 1,155 19 - (174 176
Operating costs
Change in stocks of finished goods 6 4 - 10 (14)
and work in progress _
Raw materials and consumables 12,337 _ 451 - 12,788 12,042
Other external charges 448 5,473 - 582-. 6,503 4,449
Staff costs {(Note 6) 3,117 6,577 352 40,046 33,275
Depreciation and amortisation 3,994 459 56 4,509 4,082
Other operating charges 20,458 2,854 424 23,736 16,612
70,360 }5818 1,414 87,592 70,446
Operating profit 13,564 3,920 (423) 17,061 9.843

Operating costs for acquisitions in 1998 comprise £14,316,000 for HCNH Plc and its subsidiary undertakings and £1,502,000 for
Summerhouse Publishing Limited.

Operating profit is stated after charging: 1998 1997
£000 £000
Directors’ remuneration (note 5} 629 707
Auditors’ remuneration - audit services 14 70
- non-audit services i12 204
Rentals under operating leases 3,214 1,524
4. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 1998 1997
£'000 £00C
Recognised below operating profit:
[
Profit on disposal of investments in associates (including goodwill written back in 1998 of £98,000) 2,838 5,328
Profit on disposal of intangible fixed assets (including goodwill written back of £430,000) 1,377
4,215 5.328
Fundamental acquisition restructuring costs . {564}
Loss on clasure of operation (including goodwill written back of £203,000) (860)
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 1)
Recoghised within the share of results in associates:
Share of exceptional items {105) (192)
2,686 5,055

The effect on the taxation charge for the year of the exceptional items recognised below operating profit is disclosed in Note 9.
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"Notes to the Accounts at3ibecember 199

5. DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS

Directors’ remuneration 1998 1997

' £'000 £'000

- Fees 102 35
. Other emoluments:

\ basic salaries 309 295
benefits 43 13
performance related pay ' 141 123

595 526
Contribution to funded unapproved retirement benefit scheme ’ h 34 37
Compensation for loss of office - | 44
629 707
Salaries Performance

and related Total
Fees Benefits bonuses 1998 1997
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
RW Jewson 37 - - 37 35
G H C Copeman 13 - - 3 12
P M Strong 144 | 68 213 173
R ] Cortis - - - - 122
T Stevenson 95 7 39 141 136
C H Lawrence 65 35 32 132 -
N G F Websper 5 - 2 7 -
R C Copeman 13 - - 13 12
| R Lockett 13 - - 13 12
P | C Troughton 13 - - 13 12

RV | Cadbury 3 - - 3 12

411 43 41 595 526
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5. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS (continued)

The acerued pension entitlements of the executive directors were:

P M Strong

T Stevenson _
C H Lawrence
N G F Websper

Age at
31.12.98

51
49
37
42

Years of

service at
31.12.98

2
16
0
17

Increase,
excluding
inflation,

in accrued
pension during
the year

£'000

3

3
2
6

Transfer value
of increase
£000

33

57

1

10 -

36

Accrued entitlement

31.12.98
£'000

6

35

2

25

31.12.97
£000
3

b

29

19

Inflation has been assumed to be equivalent to the actual rate of price inflation, which was 2.8% for the year ended 31 December 998.

The pension entitlemnent shown above for the participating directors is that which would be paid on retirement based on service to

31 Dacember |998.

The pension entitlements shown exclude any additional pensions purchased by the members’ Additional Voluntary Contributions.

Contributions of £34,000 (1997 - £37,000) were accrued on behalf of Mr P M Strong for a funded unapproved retirement benefit scheme
designed to provide a pension, over and above the current pension “earnings cap™ of £87,600, of two thirds salary at retirement age of 60.

Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company

As at | January 1998

RW Jewson
G H C Coperman

RV | Cadbury
R C Copeman

C H Lawrence
R Lockett

T Stevenson

P M Strong

P ] C Troughton

N G F Websper

" At date of appointment
* Held as Trustee

4

£l
Preference
Shares

4,960
*1,296

1,905
*4,216

*35,448

£ Second
Preference
Shares

38,904
*13,368

16,688
*4912

4,044

3,333

20p
Ordinary

Shares

1,732
238,147
*165,106
7,983
248,000

*37,923
+

{58,011
5.320
91,619
*2,999,353
+9,253

£l
Preference
Shares

4,960

1,905
*4216

*35,448

£1 Second
Preference
Shares

38,904
*3,000

18,688
*4912

4,044

As at 3| December 1998

20p
Ordinary
Shares

2),732
238,147
*87.346

7.983
248,000
*37,923

k1,400
158,011

6,386

23,005

91,619

¥2,999,353
9,253

The Company has an approved employee share scheme in which certain directors are eligible to participate. Directors’ interests in shares

distributed under the terms of this scheme are included above.



[ Eastern Counties Wewspapers Group Limited QAo e T Gl R a R Las:
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5. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS (continued)

During the pericd from 31 December 1998 until 26 March [999 the following transactions in the shares of the Company have taken place.

£l £1 second
Preference Shares Preference Shares 20p Ordinary Shares
Transferred to/{from) Transferred to/(from) Purchased Transferred to/{from)
RW Jewsan ' . ' - 16,136 (3,000)
G HC Copeman 78 705 20,000 (24,582)
- - *2,500 *20,811)
RV ] Cadbury ) - - 6,256 -
RC Copeman ) 78 705 - 5418
C H Lawrence - - 8,933 -
T Stevenson - - 250 -
P M Strong : - - 18,028 -
P ] C Troughton - - *75,000 -
N G F Websper - - 1,000 {1,000}
*Held as Trustee
Long Term Incentive Plan
Under the ECNG Long Term Incentive Plan, the following shares have been notionally awarded to executive directors:
1957 1998
number £ number £
C H Lawrence - - 7,692 29,999
T Stevenson 8,320 31,200 9,231 36,001
P M Strong 18,400 69,000 17,692 68,999
N G F Websper - - 4,519 17,624
Under the rules of the Plan the share prices used in calculating the allocations were £3.75 for 1997 and £3.90 for 1998.
Further explanation of the Plan is included in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on Page 26,
Directors’ interests in options
The interests of the directors in savings related share options were as follows:
At Lapsed At
Exercise | January At during 31 December
price 1998 appointment the year 1998
Mr T Stevenson (2) £2.00 1,725 - - 1,725
Mr T Stevenson {b) £2.24 6,160 - - 6,160
Mr N G F Websper  (a) £2.00 - 6,210 - 6,210
Mr N G F Websper  (b) £2.24 - 2,156 - 2,156
7,885 8,366 - 16,251

The options are exercisable between the following dates:
(a) | February 2001 and 31 July 2001.
(b) | March 2002 and 3| August 2002,
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6. STAFF AND THEIR PAY AND BENEFITS

[ Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited ERENIVE TSI RN E gL 0

Average monthly number of staff: 1998 1997
Newspaper printing and publishing 1,887 [.652
Other activities 40 19
1,927 1,671

Pay and benefits £'000 £000
Wages and salaries 34,789 28,485
Social security costs 2,705 2.247
Other pension costs 2,252 2,243
39,746 32,975

Employee share scheme 300 300
40,046 33,275

Other pension costs include £100,000 (1997 - £100,000) in respect of the lump sum pension contribution made in 1997, the balance of

which is carried forward under debtors in Note 6.

Employee share scheme

The employee share scheme was approved by the members at the 1997 Annual General Meeting, and operates under the ECNG Employee
Share Ownership Plan Trust. For 1998, under the scheme, all eligible staff of the Group will be invited to subscribe for shares with a value
of approximately £50, and the Company will purchase for each member of staff who subscribes to the offer, six additional shares for each

one purchased.

The shares provided by the Company can be acquired tax-free by staff after three years.

7. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS 1998 1997
£'000 £'000
Interest and dividends received, including tax credit:
Listed investments I 7
Short term interest 1 1,527 920
Loan to associated undertaking 215 20|
Less share of associate’s interest paid (162) (ren
Share of associate's dividends and bank interest 22 18
1613 985
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8. INTEREST PAYABLE 1998 1997
£000 £000

Overdraft and loans 130 1

. Finance ieases 88 32
©  Other 14 i
Loan notes 1,012 -
Amortisation of loan issue costs 62 .
Share of associate’s interest . 229 200
1,535 249

9. TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

The taxation charge is made up as follows: 1998 957
£000 £000

Based on the profit for year

Corporation tax 6,485 4,499

Deferred taxation (510) {250}

Share of taxation in associates 63 26
6,038 4,275

Adjustments relating to previous years 132 (92)
6,170 4,183

The effective tax rate for the current year is 30.4 !9 compared to a standard rate of 31%. The charge for 1998 has been credited with a
reduction in the deferred tax provision for the change in the rate of corporation tax from 319 to 30% with effect from | April 1999. This
adjustment reduced the tax charge by 0.46%. The tax effect in the profit and loss account relating to the exceptional items recognised
below operating profits is a charge of £684,000 ( 1997 - £923,000).

10. DIVIDENDS 1998 1997
£'000 £000
6.45% Cumulative Preference Shares « 20 20
15.59% Cumulative Second Preference Shares 3ié 36
336 336

Ordinary Shares: .
Interim of 4.9p paid on 5 October 1998 (1997 — 4.2 p) 775 663
Pr-oposed final of | 1.fp {1997 - 8.2p) 1,767 1,290
2,542 1,953
2,878 2,289

The ECNG Employee Benefit Trust has waived the dividends payable on the shares that it owns, and has agreed to waive future dividends.
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i1. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share has been calculated in accordance with FRS 4. The calculations are based on profits after preference dividends of
£13,754,000 (1997 —£11,274,000) and on ordinary shares of 15,874,000 {1997 — 15,779,000}, being the weighted average number of shares
in issue during the year.

The adjusted earnings per share has been calculated by using the profits attributable to shareholders, less preference dividends, adjusted
to exclude exceptional items. The reconciliation between earnings per share and adjusted earnings per share is as follows; '

1998. 1997

) p P

Earnings per share 86.6 715
Adjustment for exceptional items {16.9} {33.0;
Tax impact of exceptional items 4.3 58
Adjusted earnings per share 74.0 443

The diluted earnings per share is based on earnings for the year of £13,754,000 (1997 - £11,274,000) as above, and on 16,223,000
(1997 - 15,941,000} ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

1998 1997
thousands thousands
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 15,874 15,779
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Employee share options 243 135
Contingently issuable shares under the Long Term Incentive Plan 106 27
16,223 15,941
12. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS Newspaper Goodwill Total
Titles
£'000 £'000 £000
Cost: -
At 31 December 1997 . - - -
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 45,308 1,316 46,624
At 31 December 1998 45,308 i,316 46,624
Amortisation:
At 31 December 1997 - - -
Provided during the year - 59 59
At 3| December 1998 - 59 59
Net book value
At 31 December 1998 45,308 1,257 46,565

At 31 December 1997 - - -

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of Summerhouse Publishing Limited is being amortised evenly over the directors’ estimate of its useful

economic life of 20 years.
The life of newspaper titles is considered to be indefinite and the carrying value of the assets is not subject to annual amortisation, but is

reviewed annually for any diminution in carrying value.
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13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Maovements on tangible fixed asset accounts have been:

Freehold Plant,

land and Leasehold equipment

buildings buildings & vehicles Films Total

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
\g Group

Cost or valuation
At 31 December 1997 14,573 353 38,679 4,100 57,705
Additions 53 17 3,148 - 3,218
Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,125 6 4913 - 6,044
Disposals (60) (12) (1,385) - (1,457}
At 3| December 1998 15,6921 364 45,355 4,100 65,510
Depreciation
At 31 December [997 232 9% 20,277 2,487 23,092
Charge for year 237 16 4,197 - 4,450
Acquisition of substdiaries - 2 3,611 - 3613
Disposals (2) (10) (1,081 - (1.093)
At 31 December 1998 467 104 27,004 2,487 30,062
Net book value
At 3| December 1998 15,224 260 18,351 1,613 35,448
At 3| December 1997 14,341 257 18,402 1,613 34,613

Included in freehold land and buildings is land valued at £3,616,000 (1997 - £3,297,000), which is not depreciated. The net book amount
of plant, equipment and vehicles above includes an amount of £644,000 (1997 - £560,000) in respect of assets held under finance leases,
and £10,424,000 (1997 - £11,524,000) for both Group and Company in respect of assets subject to a chattel mortgage.

The depreciation charge comprises depreciation of owned assets of £4,289,000 and depreciation of assets held under finance leases

of £161,000.
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\
at 31 December (998

13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (continued) Plant,
Leasehold equipment,
buildings & vehicles Films Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Comparny
Cost or valuation
At 31 December 1997 50 33,986 4,100 38,136
Additions - 2018 - 2,018
Disposals v - {195) - (195)
At 3| December 1998 50 35,809 4,100 39,959
Depreciation . ) _
At 3] December 1997 ) 17,287 2,487 19,775
Charge for year - 3,023 - 3,023
Disposals - (192) - {192}
At 3| December 1998 | 20,118 2,487 22,606
Net book value
At 31 December 1998 49 15,691 1,613 17,353
At 3| December 997 49 16,699 1,613 18,361
The cost or valuation of land and buildings at 31 December 1998 comprises:
Freehold Leasehold
Group Company Group Company
Long Short Long Short
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
At valuation - 1996 14,506 - 175 - 50 -
At cost 1,185 - - 189 - -
15,691 - 175 189 50 -
The historical cost of freehold and leasehold fand and buildings is as follows:
Freehold Leasehoid
1998 1997 1998 | 997
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
Group
Cost 14,419 13,276 351 340
Aggregate depreciation 1819 | 622 125 16
Company
Cost - 28 28
Aggregate depreciation - - 12 P2

Depreciation on freehold and leasehold properties for the year has been based on the 1996 revalued amounts. Based on cost the

consolidated charge would have been lower by £21,000 (1997 — £21,000).
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14. INVESTMENTS 1998 1957
. £'000 £000
Group
* Associates (a) 5,675 5362
- Other fixed asset investments (b} 425 423
: ‘ 6,1
N 100 5,785
(a) Associates Share of Loans to Radio
net assets associates licences Total
£000 £'000 £000 £'000
At 31 December 1997 (3,687) 2,465 6,584 5,362
Acquisitions in year 692 70 - 622
Share of results retained by associates {7 - - (77)
Disposals in year 141 (238) (135) (232)
At 31 December 1998 {2,931) 2,157 6,449 5,675

Loans to associates comprise:

I Aloan of £2,021,000 to The Radio Partnership Limited (TRP), repayable in three equal annual instalments commencing on 3f December

2004. Interest is charged at 39 over the higher of 5% and the LIBOR rate.

2 Aloan of £136,000 to Swansea Sound Limited, a subsidiary of TRP. The loan is not repayable before 2004, and is interest free,

(b) Other fixed asset investments Listed Unlisted Total
£'000 £'000 £000
Cost
At 3| December 1997 de4 84 448
Acquisition of subsidiary 7 - 7
Transfer to investments in subsidiary undertakings (5} - (5)
At 31 December 1998 366 84 450
Provisions
At 3| Decernber 1997 and 1998 - 25 25
]
Net book amounts
At 31 December 1998 366 59 425
364 59 423

At 3| December 1997
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14. INVESTMENTS (continued) Subsidiary
under-
takings Associates Listed Unlisted Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Company
Cost
At 31 December 1997 37,843 6,769 354 84 45,050
Transfer to investments in subsidiary undertakings 5 - 3) - -
Additions 1,015 474 - - {,489
At 31 December 1998 38,863 7,243 349 84 46,539
Provisions - .
At 3| December 1997 - - - 25 25
Provided in the year 500 - - - 500
At 31 December 1998 500 - - 25 525
Net book value }
At 31 December 1998 38,363 7,243 349 59 46,014
At 31 December [997 37,843 6,769 354 59 45,025

The market value of the listed investments at 3| December 1998 was £381,000 for the Group and £478,000 for the Company (1997 -
£484,000 and £474,000 respectively ). Unlisted investments, consisting of equity share capital, are valued by the directors at £2,066,000

(1997 - £2,074,000) for both Group and Company.

In arriving at market or directors’ valuation no provision has been made for taxation which would be chargeable amounting to a maximum
of £667,000 (1997 - £662,000; in the event of disposals at these values.

The Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings and associate, all of which are incorporated in England, are listed below.
Those in which the equity is held by a subsidiary undertaking are marked with an asterisk.

Percentage of

Company Activity ordinary shares
Subsidiaries
Community Media Limited Newspaper publishing 100%
The Anglia Advertiser Limited Newspaper publishing 100%
Mid Anglia Newspapers Limited Newspaper publishing 100%
ECNG Properties Limited Property 100%
ECNG Leasing Limited Property & leasing 100%
Orient Publishing Plc Holding fompany 100%
North Devon Gazette & Advertiser Limited™ Newspaper publishing 60%
ECNG Investmant Co Limited* Investment holding company 100%
Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc* Holding company 100%
The South Essex Recorders Limited* Newspaper publishing 100%
Home Counties Newspapers Limited* Newspaper publishing 100%
The Hampstead and Highgate Express Printing

and Publishing Company Limited* Newspaper publishing 100%
Summerhouse Publishing Limited* Contract publishing 76%
Associate

The Radio Partnership Limited

Radio broadcasting

40%
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14. INVESTMENTS (continued)

On 13 May 1998 the Group acquired Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc for a consideration of £57,979,000 satisfied by cash
t, consideration of £31,906,000 and floating rate unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2008 issued by Orient Publishing Plc of £26,073,000.

*" Net assets at date of acquisition: Fair
. Book Other value
Value Revaluation Adjustments to Group
% £000 £/000 £000 £000
. Intangible fixed assets ' - 45,308 - 45,308
Tangible fixed assets 2,464 (67) - 2,397
Fixed asset investments 7 - - 7
Debtors 2,648 - - 2,648
Current asset investments - 1,887 7,321 - i - 9,208
Cash 5,394 - - 5,394
Creditors due within one year {4.812) - (793) {5,605)
Creditors due in more than one year (9n - - (19n
Provisions for ex gratia pensions (867) - - (867)
Deferred taxation (10) - 361 351
Net assets 6,520 52,562 (432) 58,650
Discharged by:
Transfer from fixed asset investments 5
Cash consideration 31,906
QOrient Publishing Plc floating rate ioan notes 2008 26,073
Costs associated with the acquisition 666
58,650

The revaluation adjustments include the valuation of retained newspaper titles as intangible fixed assets, and newspaper titles which were
subsequently sold as current asset investments.

Freehold properties were revalued on an existing use basis.

Other adjustments include provisions for guaranteed staff bonuses and corporation tax liabilities at the date of acquisition. Deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of short term timing differences, including those relating to the ex-gratia pension provision.

Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plé contributed £2,083,000 to the Group's net operating cash flows, contributed £16,000 in respect of net returns
on investrments and servicing of finance, paid £948,000 in respect of taxation and utilised £320,000 for capital expenditure and financial investment.

The retained companies of the Home Counties Newspapers group earned a profit after tax of £2,438,000 in the year ended 31 December
1998 (1997 — £1,861,000 for the full group). The pre-acquisition profits for the full Home Counties Newspapers group for the period from
| January 1998 to 3 May 1998 were £503,000. The comparable profits for the retained companies were £731,000.

The summarised profit and loss account for the full group for the period from | January 1998 to the effective date of acquisition is as follows:

£000
Turnover 14,663
Profit before tax 531
Taxation, including fair value adjustments (28)
Profit for the period ended |3 May 1998 503

There were no recognised gains and losses in the period ended |3 May 1998 other than the profit of £503,000 above.
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On 3 February 1998, the Group acquired 76% of Summerhouse Publishing Limited for an initial consideration of £850,000, satisfied in
cash, plus acquisition costs of £33,000. The net assets acquired, after fair value adjustments, were £18,000, including cash of £77,000. The
Group has a contractual obligation to acquire the remaining share capital at a price dependent on the profits made by Summerhouse up to

30 June 2001. The deferred consideration has been calculated as £451,000, giving rise to goodwill of £1,316,000.
On 18 December 1997 the Group disposed of Enterprise Radio Holdings at a cost of £61,000 in cash.

15. STOCKS g Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
£000 £000 £000 £000
Raw materials 1,131 232 1,089 1,188
Finished goods and goods for resale 85 €7 - -
1,216 1,299 1,089 [, 188
16. DEBTORS Group Company
1998 1997 t998 1997
£'000 £000 £'000 £000

Due in less than one year:
Trade debtors 13,936 10,403 7,384 7.299
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 730 303
Other debtors 706 463 482 490
Prepayments and accrued income 1,432 i.157 703 859
Corporation tax recoverable 587 141 68 75
Pension prepayment 100 100 100 100
16,761 12,264 9,467 9,136

Due in over one year:

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 35,505 6,112
Pension prepayment 699 759 699 799
Other debtors ) 25 - - -
724 799 36,204 6911
Total debtors 17,485 13,063 45,67) 16,047
17. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
651 180 651 180

Shares held by ECNG Employee Benefit Trust

The ECNG Employee Benefit Trust holds shares in Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited valued at £651,000. The bank overdraft
of the Trust is guaranteed by ECNG and included in creditors at the same value.

AR e ey e
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18. CASH AND DEPOSITS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 |997

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000

derm and other deposits 14,524 23,333 14,524 23,333
‘({,\ash at bank and in hand 4,657 2,952 2,462 1,267
, 19,181 26,285 16,986 24,600

19. TRADE AND OTHER CREDITORS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 997

£000 £000 £'000 £'000

Trade creditors 2,353 1,496 593 781
Orient Publishing Plc loan notes 24,198 - - -
Employee Benefit Trust overdraft (guaranteed) 651 |80 651 180
Finance lease obligations 169 G - -
Deferred lease premium 1,100 [, 100 1,100 [, 100
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 1,121 667
Tax and social security 703 153 8 (20}
Other creditors 4,144 3,449 2,691 2,733
Accruals and deferred income 4.401( 3,383 2,924 2,767
Payments on account 126 il 98 80
37,845 9,982 9,186 8,288

Orient Publishing Plc loan notes

The QOrient Publishing Plc loan notes are floating rate, guaranteed, unsecured loan notes 2008, and were issued as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc. The interest is payable half yearly on 30 June and 31 December at a rate
of 19 below the base rate of Barclays Bank Plc on the first business day in the period. The loan notes can be redeemed by the holders at
30 June and 3| December in any year up to 2007, subject to giving the required notice. The earliest day on which the loan note holders
could require payment is 30 June 1999, and therefore the loans have been treated as falling due within one year. The loan notes are
guaranteed by Barclays Bank Plc at a cost to the Group of 0.45% per annum.

Total loan notes outstanding
Less issue costs

Group Company

1998 1997 1998 1997
£000 £000 £000 £000
24,392 : - -
(194) - - -
24,198 - -

[ R ——
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20. CREDITCRS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1957
£'000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Loans - film finance 1,613 1613 1,613 1,613
Finance lease obligations 487 445 - -
Deferred lease premium 3,188 4,288 3.188 4,288
Armounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 36593 21,804
5,288 6,346 41,394 27,705

The loans rglatiﬁg to film finance are interest free and repayable out of film receipts prior to 14 Dé‘cémber 2013. They are secured by
charges on the copyright and physical material relating to two films owned by the company and shown under that heading in tangible fixed
assets. All other amounts mature between two and five years.

21. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Group Compan}
Ex gratia Other Deferred Total Other Deferred Total
Pensions  Provisions Taxation Provisions Taxation
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
At 31 December 1997 - - 2,624 2,624 - 2,747 2,747
Included in creditors at
3| December 1997 - 9l - 9l 9t - 9l
Acquisition of subsidiary 867 482 351) 998 - - -
ACT movement - - 2 ky¥] - Ky ¥ 322
Avrising during the year 48 168 (510 (294) 95 (308) (213)
Utilised (106) “ - (106) -
At 31 December 1998 809 741 2,085 3,635 186 2,761 2,94’7
Deferred taxation provided in the accounts and the amounts not provided are as follows:
Group Company
Provided Not Provided Provided Not Provided
1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Capital allowance in .
advance of depreciation 2,577 2,906 828 828 2,769 2997 - -
Other timing differences (492) 40 - (8) 72 16 16
2,085 2,946 828 828 2,761 3,069 16 6
Less advance corporation tax - {322) - - (322} -
2,085 2,624 828 828 2,761 2,747 16 16

Other provisions principally comprise provisions for obligations in respect of leasehold properties, both for dilapidations and for rental
commitments for properties not used in the business and sub-let at less than full rental value.
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22. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL Allotted, called
Authorised up and fully paid
) 1998 1997 1998 1997
_ £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
+ 6.45% Cumulative Preference Shares of £1 each
308,500 issued 309 309 309 309
'5.596 Cumulative Second Preference Shares of £1 each
. 2,041,300 issued ) 2,041 2,041 2,041 2,041
Ordinary Shares of 20p each
15,945,925 issued 3,650 3,650 3,189 3,160
- - - 6,000 6000 5539 5,510

On | July 1998, a total of 57,222 ordinary shares were issued at £4.40 under the ECNG Share Scheme. Following the passing of the Special
Resolution at last year's Annual General Meeting, 75,000 ordinary shares were issued to senior executives on 18 August 1998 at £4.40. A
further 12,388 ordinary shares were issued during the year on the exercise of share options by employees leaving the Group under the
provisions of the SAYE scheme rules at the appropriate option prices.

The right to dividends and priority in a winding up for each class of share ranks in the order 6.45% Cumulative Preference Shares, 5.5%
Cumulative Second Preference Shares, Ordinary Shares. The Preference Shares carry no votes at meetings, unless dividends are six months
in arrear or the meeting shall include a reselution to wind up the Company.

Savings related share options Earliest Latest Number
Option exercise exercise of ordinary
price date date shares

Date of gront ,
| September 1994 £3.00 | September 1999 28 February 2000 67,091
| February 1996 £2.00 | February 2001 31 July 2001 245,318
} March 1997 £2.24 | March 2000 31 August 2000 45,264
| March 1997 £2.24 I March 2002 31 August 2002 133,579
491,252

Executive share plan

The establishment of the ECNG Long Term Incentive Plan was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on |9 May 1997.
The operation of this Pian is detailed in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on page 26.
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23. MOVEMENTS ON SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Profit

Share Share Revaluation and loss

capital premium surplus account Total

£000 £'000 £000 £'600 £'000
Group
At 31 December 1996 5,501 629 1,032 39,719 46,881
Total recognised gains - - - 11,610 11,610
Dividends ¢ - - - (2,289) (2,289)
Issue of shares 9 161 - - 170
Goodwill in associate - - - {58) (98)
Distributable element of depreciation charge - - (20) 20 -
At 3] December 1997 5,510 790 1,012 48,962 56,274
Total recognised gains - - - 14,090 14,090
Dividends - - - (2.878) (2,878)
issue of shares 29 582 - - 611
Goodwill in associate - - - 98 98
Goodwill in subsidiary undertaking - - - 203 203
Goodwill in intangible asset - - - 430 430
Distributable element of depreciation charge - - (z1) 21 -
At 3| December 1998 5,539 1,372 991 60,926 68,828
Company
At 31 December 1996 5,501 629 13 47,651 53,794
Total recognised gains - - - 10,519 10,519
Dividends - - - (2,289) (2,289)
Issue of shares 9 161 - - 170
At 31 December 1997 5510 790 13 55,88) 62,194
Total recognised gains - - - 8,071 8,071
Dividends - - - {2,878) (2,878}
Issue of shares 29 582 - - 61
At 31 December (998 5,539 1,372 3 61,074 67,998

The cumulative amount of goodwill written off at 3| December 1998 in the consolidated accounts is £15,334,000 (1997 - £16,065,000).
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24.RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT TO OPERATING CASH FLOWS 1998 1997
£'000 £000
Operating profit 17,061 9.843
. Depreciation and amortisation charges 4510 4,082
. Lease premiurmn amortisation (1,100) (112)
Amortisation of lump sum pension contribution 100 00
“;Loss / {profit) on disposals 34 {146)
Decrease/(increase) in stocks 15 {710
(increase) in debtors {,140) (1.567)
{Decrease)/increase in creditors (1.257) 1,836
Cash flow relating to restructuring costs (564) -
Cash flow relating to closure of operation (658) -
Increase in provisions ) 216 -
Payment of ex gratia pensions (1086) -
Lump sum pension contribution - (999)
Cash flow from operating activities 17,208 (2,866
25. ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS FOR HEADINGS NETTED
IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 1998 1957
£000 £000
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 1,742 1,121
Dividends received 1 7
Interest paid (1,156) (17}
Preference dividends paid (336) (336)
Issue costs for new loan finance (2586) -
interest element of finance lease rental payments (88) (32)
(83) 743
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (3,053) (1.428)
Purchase of investments . - (302)
Purchase of short term investment - (50}
Sale of intangible fixed assets 1,807 -
Sale of tangible fixed assets 333 550
Sale of investrments - 280
Sale of current asset investment 9,208 F53

-

8,295 (797)
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25.ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS FOR HEADINGS NETTED IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)

Notes 1998 1997
£000 £000
Acquisitions ond disposals
Investments in associates (622) (1,132
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings 14 (33.455) -
Bank balance acquired with subsidiaries 14 5,471 -
Sale of subsidiary undertaking 4 - {61)
Bank balance sold with subsidiary 14 - (10)
Sale of associates 3,169 6,089 .
Deferred consideration - (19
(25,437) 4,867
Management of liquid resources
Cash transferred (from)/to term deposit 8,808 (19,839
Financing
Issue of ordinary share capital 61l 170
Repayment of Orient Publishing Plc loan notes (1.681) -
Capital element of finance lease rental paymerits (256) (122)
Lease premium received - 5.500
(1.326) 5,548
26. ANALYSIS OF NET (DEBT)/FUNDS Other Acquisitions
At non-cash excluding cash - At
i.1.98 Cash flow changes and overdrafts 31.12.98
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Cash at bank and in hand 2,953 1,704 - - 4,657
Term deposits 23,332 (8,808) - - 14,524
26,285 {7,104} - - 19,181
Loans - 1,681 {26,073) - (24,392)
Loan issue costs - 256 (62} - 194
Finance leases {555) 256 {165} {191 {655}
Total 25,730 4911 - (26,300 (sn (5.672)
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27. MAJOR NON CASH TRANSACTIONS

" During the year, the Group issued floating rate unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2008 totalling £26,073,000 as part of the consideration

for the acquisition of Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc and its subsidiary undertakings.

+ £165,000.

%

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

" The Group also entered into finance lease arrangements in respect of assets with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of

Approved future capital expenditure at 31 December 1998, for which no provision has been made in these accounts, amounted to:

N } Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
£'000 £'000 £000 £000
Contracted for but not provided 385 290 181 237
29. COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES
At 3| December 1998 annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:
Land and buildings Plant, equipment and vehicles
1998 1997 1998 1997
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
Group
Operating leases which expire:
Within one year 115 43 225 97
Within two to five years |76 109 2,413 2,224
Over five years 650 362 - -
941 514 2,638 2,321

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has a contingent liability for any warranty claims made by the purchasers under the terms of the sale and purchase agreements
for the sale of subsidiaries and associates by the Group, where the peried allowed for warranty claims has not yet expired.
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31. PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a number of pension schemes, the assets of which are held separately from those of the Group. The totai cost for the
Group charged in the profit and loss account, including ex-gratia pensions (see below), was £2,252,000 (1997: £2,243,000},

The major schemes are of the defined benefit type. The contributions to these schemes are determined with the advice of an independent
qualified actuary, using the projected unit method. The pension costs were determined on the basis of the most recent actuarial valuations.
The assumptions that have the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are those refating to the rate of return on investments
and the rates of increasg in salaries and pensions relative te price inflation.

For the Final Salary Section of the Pension and Life Assurance Scheme, at the most recent valuation, updated by a funding review as at
July 1997, it was assurmed that the rate of return on investments would be 4.5% above price inflation, salaries would increase by 2.5%
above price inflation and pensians would increase in fine with price inflation. As at | July 1997 the market value of the assets was £55,696,000
anid the actuariaf value of the assets represented 1059 of the liability for benefits that had accrued to the members for service to the review
date, based on salaries projected to retirement. The employer’s regular contribution rate, ignoring surplus, was identified as 12.2%. After
allowing for elimination of surplus over the average remaining service fives of the members (1 3.5 years), the employer’s contribution rate
was reduced to 11.0%. This rate was payable with effect from | January 1998

For the Senior Management Pension Scheme, at the most recent actuarial vafuation as at 1 July 1998 it was assumed that, relative to price
Inflation, the rate of return on investments would be 3.35% for the purpose of valuing the accrued liabilities and 3.65% for the purpose of
valuing future accruing iiabifities. it was assumed that salaries would increase by 2.0% above price inflation and pensions would increase in
line with price inflation. The market value of the assets was £15,092,000 and the actuarial value of the assets represented 105% of the
liability for benefits that had accrued to the members for service to the review date, based on salaries projected to retirement. The
emplayer's regular contribution rate, ighoring surplus, was identified as 24.4%. To reduce the risk of faifing to satisfy the minimum funding
requirement under the Pensions Act 1995, no allowance was made for eliminating surplus. During 1998 employer contributions were paid
at the rate of 24.79, comprising regular contributions of 23.5% and an additional 1.2% to meet the accrued liabilities of members whe
transferred from the Pension and Life Assurance Scheme, Employer contributions will reduce to 24.4% with effect from | January 1999.

The Group also operates pension schemes of the defined contribution type. The pension cost represents contributions payable by the
Group to these schemes.

The Group pays ex-gratia pensions on an unfunded basis to certain former employees of Home Counties Newspapers and accordingly
provides for this in the accounts.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting -

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held in the Print Centre, Thorpe St Andrew, Norwich,
on || May 1999 at (2 neon, for the following purposes: Te cansider and if thought fit to pass the Resolutions set out below:

¥
A}

. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

;) THAT the reports of the directors and auditors and the audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 1998 be and are hereby

received.
THAT Mr RV | Cadbury, retiring as director at this Meeting, be re-elected.
THAT Mr | R Lockett, retiring as director at this Meeting, be re-elected.

THAT Mr P ] C Troughton, retiring as director at this Meeting, be re-elected.

(¥, N ) N.ﬂ/

THAT Mr N G F Websper, retiring as director at this Meeting, be elected. :
THAT Ernst & Young be re-appointed auditors of the Company at a fee to be fixed by the directors.

THAT the proposed ordinary dividend be approved and paid on 14 May 1999.

w0 ~ o

THAT conditional upon the passing of the Special Resolution numbered % in the notice convening this meeting, the Eastern Counties
Newspapers Group Limited Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust {(“the Trust”) to be constituted by a Trust Deed produced in
draft to the meeting marked “A’" and for the purpose of identification initialled by the Chairman (the principal terms of which are
summarised in the letter to shareholders from the Chairman dated 16 April, 1999) be and is hereby approved and that the directors
of the Company be and are hereby authorised to take any and all action they determine to be necessary or expedient to carry the
Trust into effect.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION
9 That the Articles of the Company be and are hereby amended as follows:

{(a) In Article 31(B) after the words “ECNG Employee Benefit Trust” there be inserted the words “or the trustee or one of the
trustees for the time being of the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” and at the end of Article 31(B) there be
inserted the words “and the expression “the ECNG Savings Related Share Option Scheme” shall mean the savings related share
option scheme of that name adopted by the Company on 23 May 1994 and approved by the inland Revenue on 17 June 1994 and
the expression “the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” shall mean the employee share ownership trust of that
name which qualifies for the purposes of Schedule 5 of the Finance Act 1989 and was approved by shareholders on | | May 1999".

{b) In Article 33(C) there be inserted the words “or the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” after the words “ECNG
Employee Benefit Trust”.

(€) In Article 33(D) there be inserted the words "or the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” after the words “ECNG
Employee Benefit Trust”. *

(d} In Article 33(F) there be inserted the weords “or the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” after the words "ECNG
Employee Benefit Trust™.

{e) In Article 33(J} (i) there be inserted after the words "ECNG Employee Benefit Trust” the words “or by the trustee(s) for the time
being of the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust”.

() In Article 33(J)(iii) there be inserted after the words "ECNG Employee Benefit Trust” the words “or to the trustee(s) for the time
being of the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust”.

(2} In Article 33()) there be inserted a new Article (J) (v) as follows: “{v) By the trustee(s) for the time being of the ECNG Qualifying
Exempt Share Ownership Trust in accordance with the terms of any of the ECNG Savings Related Share Option Scheme,
the ECNG Profic Sharing Scheme or the ECNG Long Term Incentive Plan to any persons eligible to receive the same or
entitled thereto”.
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~ Notice of Annual General Meeting

SPECIAL RESOLUTION (continued)

. {h) In Article 33(j) there be inserted a new Article {J) (vi) as follows: “(vi} By the trustee(s) for the time being of the ECNG Profit
' Sharing Scheme or by the trustee(s) for the time being of the ECNG Employee Benefit Trust to the trustee(s) for the time being
: of the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust”.
% (i) In Article 48 there be inserted after the words "ECNG Employee Benefit Trust” the words “or the ECNG Qualifying Exefmpt

Share Ownership Trust”.

By order of the Board

JOELLISON" -
Secretary
16 April 1999

Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited
Prospect House

Rouen Road

Norwich NRI IRE

Note - A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint o proxy for that purpose who need not be a member of the Company.

Financial Calendar

16 April
1998 Annual Report published

Il May
Annual General Meeting

14 May .
Payment of 1998 Final Dividend

19 June
Half Year end

30 June
- Payment of 6.45% and 15.5% Preference Dividends
Payment of Orient Publishing Plc Floating Rate Loan Interest

I3 August
Interim Statement dispatched and Interim Dividend announced (provisional)

4 October
Payment of 1999 Interim Dividend

31 December
Payment of 6.45% and 15.596 Preference Dividends

::ﬂ Payment of Orient Publishing Plc Floating Rate Loan Note Interest
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Five Year

Turnover
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Total turnover

¢ Operating profit

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Group operating profit

Share of aperating results in associates

Total operating profit
Return on sales - %

Profit before tax

Tax

Profit attributable to members
Dividends

Retained profit for the year
Net assets

Earnings per share

Adjusted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Net dividends per share
Dividend cover (based on adjusted EPS)
Met (debt)/cash

Net gearing %

Net gearing is net borrowings as a proportion of shareholders’ funds plus minority interests.

Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited JERTISR PEu PR E Ry UL

Financial Summary

1998 1997 1996

£000 £'000 £'000
102,488 79,163 71,865

99} 950 8l6

e sa3 mer

17,484 10,044 4,765

(423) (201} (222)

- 17,061 | 9,843 4,543_
356 (25) (166}

C ar seis 4

16.8% 12.3% 6.0%

20,286 15,801 6,792

6,170 4,183 1,494

14,090 11,610 5,298

2,878 2,289 1,982

11,212 9,321 3316
68,828 56,274 46,881

86.6p 71.5p 31.5p

74.0p 44.3p 19.5p

84.8p 70.7p 31.4p

16.0p 12.4p 10.5p

4.6 3.6 1.9

(5.672) 25,730 6,8‘97
8.2% nfa nfa

1995
£'000

70,406
49,515

I .19,93 !
4,156
896
5,052
(139)
4913
4.1%
4,433
2,046
2,387
1,785
602
49,390
13.0p
19.4p
13.0p
9.2p
2.1
(6,843)

13.8%

1994
£'000

68,059
49,923

117,982

5,662
622

2,949
8213
1,721
6,492
55,123
50.0p
22.7p
50.0p
8.8p
2.6
3.774

n/a

Details for 1994 have been restated to reflect the change in accounting policy for goodwill and intangible fixed assets adopted in 1995,
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Financial

highlights

_]turnover increased by
29% to £103.5m

1 total operating profit
increased by 77% to £17.4m
_l operating margin
increased by 4.5 percentage
points to 16.8%

_| pre-tax profits increased
by 28% to £20.3m

[ ] adjusted eamings per share
increased by 67% to 74.0p

1 09
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- Chairman’s

statement

The acquisition of
Home Counties
Newspapers is a
significant milestone in
the progress of the
Group. It is greatly to
the credit of all those
involved that the
integration of the
business into the Group
LI has been so successful.

LHAEUHIHIN Chairman of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group

L1 RESULTS

{ am delighted, again, to be
able to announce record
pre-tax profits of £20.3m
(1997- £15.8m). Adjusted
earnings per share was up
67% at 74.0p {1997- 44.3p).
Turnover was up 29% at
£103.5m (1997 - £80.1m),
and operating profit
increased by 779 to
£17.4m (1997 - £9.8m).
Profit margins improved to
16.8% (1997 - [2.3%).

The overall result had the
benefit of £4.2m profit on the
sale of some radio investments
and newspaper titles, offset
partly by reorganisation costs
of £0.6m following the
acquisition of Home Counties
Newspapers (HCN) and
closure costs of £0.9m in
respect of IMC, our direct
marketing company. Cash
generation was again strong
during the year. Although we
paid out £58.6m to acquire
HCN, borrowings were a net

£5.7m at the year-end.

U DIVIDEND

The Board is recommending
a final dividend of | 1.1p
(1997 - 8.2p) per ordinary
share. This makes a total for
1998 of 16.0p (1997 - 12.4p)
an increase of 29%. This
substantial increase in dividend
reflects the outstanding

results achieved.

O] HIGHLIGHTS

A detailed report follows on
operations by the Chief
Executive and on finance by
the Finance Director. During
the year your company has
made significant progress
both in improving operating
margins and in reinvesting the
cash flow. The acquisition of
HCN is a significant milestone
in the progress of the Group.
It is greatly to the credit of all
those involved that the
integration of the business
into the Group has been so
successful. The titles acquired
produced operating profits of
£3.8m during the period.
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- Chief Executive’s

repo

We are increasingly in
the niche business, and if
ever there was any doubt
about this it is dispelled
by the growing evidence
of so much of our more
Ll tightly targeted activity.

(OSSN Chief Executive of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group

Publishing is a People
business. We are a dynamic
media company. The ideas,
talent and cemmitment of our
people make us what we are.

On the threshold of the
new millennium it is these
qualities that stand us in great
stead. Our challenge is to
make sure we nurture them.
Qur vision is to grow,
harnessing knowledge and
innovation to broaden our
channels of communication.

We are increasingly in the
niche business, and if ever
there was any doubt about
this it is dispelled by the
growing evidence of so much
of our more tightly targeted
activity.

The niche established
through the success of the
EDP Saturday magazine led
during the year to a similar
project at the East Anglian
Daily Times in Suffolk. The
East Anglian Magazine
launched in the autumn by a

small team in Suffolk and

distributed within the EADT,
is like its forerunner adding
sales to the weekend paper
and providing a younger and
more female readership.

The regional bias and
interest of these magazines is
providing a powerful weapon
against the avalanche of
newsprint that the national
papers produce on a Saturday.

The magazine publishing
team in Norwich meanwhile
hatched another launch, this
time a stand-alone glossy
publication entitled Norfolk
Christmas. It was extremely
well received, attracting
readers and advertisers alike to
the high quality of the product.

Further developed as EDP
Neorfolk in Spring '99 and on
sale in newsagents and
supermarkets across the
county it is an entirely horme
produced product, visually a
match for any good “glossy”,
and set to become a new and
profitable regular, a minimum

of six times a year.



Information Technology is
crucial to our business and
we continue to make
significant Investment in this
area with real progress being
made. Our web site
(http:/fwww.ecn.co.uk) is
continuously being improved
and we have now introduced
a prototype Intranet.

We have successfully
designed, developed and
introduced a completely new
advertising system to
Norwich and Ipswich. It has
greatly improved functionality,
which will improve service to

Qur customers.

(1 BOARD

We were pleased to appoint
Nigel Websper to the Group
Board in December 1998.
He will stand for election at
the annual general meeting.
Nigef has been with the Group
since 981 and has held a
number of senior positions in
our newspaper publishing

business. He is currently

responsible for Community
Media Limited and the

western division of HCN.

LJ STAFF

This excellent performance
reflects the great efforts of
staff, at all levels, throughout
the period and for which
your Board is very
appreciative. We also
welcome our new colleagues
in HCN. Management are
working hard to improve
communications and
involvement at all levels.
Employee share ownership is
an important component of
this and continues to develop
with the share schemes which
we operate. A further share
scheme offer is planned across

the Group in the summer.

[1 OUTLOOK

We have some concerns that
trading conditions might
deteriorate, and in particular
that volumes of recruitment
advertising may fall.

Your Board continues
to seek investment
opportunities to
strengthen the Group’s
Ll media activities.

Notwithstanding this, there is
a momentum for change and
improvement in the business,
which leads us to believe that
1999 will be another year of
progress for the Group.

Your Board continues to
seek investment opportunities
to strengthen the Group’s
media activities. The success
of the HCN acquisition is
encouraging. It is clear that the
regional newspaper industry
continues to consolidate and
we would wish to play our
part when we can find
opportunities which create

value for our shareholders.

B
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in the conduct of the overall
handover of HCN, we are
indebted to the outgoing
Chief Executive of the
company, Bill Coppen-
Gardner who with Chris
Lawrence handled the sale.

The quick resolving of
these matters ensured that the
acquisition was immediately
earnings enhancing.

A considerable investment
in systems has been necessary
and we are part way through
the process, a process that
must be completed for the
year 2000, immediate
benefits for the Group were
felt when the new advertising
system, designed and
constructed over the last two
years by the IS team in
Norwich, was agreed by the
incoming teams at HCN as
the best option for them. It
will be later in 1999 before
the work is completed.

The system, which will
ultimately give great benefit
in our ability to track
advertisers’ activity and offer
improved customer service,
was commissioned for the
first time in Norwich in the
autumn and rolled out to
Ipswich early in "99.

The accelerating pace of
change remains a hard task
miaster, and our efforts to
develop Eastern Counties

It has been a memorable
year, but we cannot stand
still. The challenge is to

I maintain our momentum.

Network internet business,
alongside our paper products
made good progress during
the year. Average order values
for our web site building
service grew by 400% to
£1,245 and we have made
many new business partners. In
addition, our own web sites
continued their development.
They are developments that
will accelerate significantly in
the year ahead.

These moves will add to
our strength in depth as we
continue to successfully
develop our traditional
newspaper base with new
ideas, new methods of
presentation and new
initiatives. In the past year
these initiatives included the
launch of a new Tendring
edition of the East Anglian
Daily Times, another idea
which is adding copy sales
and advertisers to our
customer base.

Unfortunately, IMC Direct
Marketing, acquired some
three years ago was closed in
the autumn. The business
was loss making and we were
unable to justify the
investment required. Qur
thanks go to the team who
made a great effort to succeed.
We wish them all well.

As is clearly described

elsewhere in these pages, our

business continues to
improve its performance.
Economic conditions have
remained good, a factor
which during 1998 was
enhanced for us by the
relative strength of the East
Anglian region which did not
experience the slowdown
that some others in our
industry reported towards
the end of the year.

In Scotland we
experienced mixed fortunes.
The north east grew
reasonably, while central
Scotland had a tougher time.
Ouir North Somerset
business finally defeated a
vigorous competitor,
launched in the previous year,
but there was a cost. Devon
enjoyed a strong increase in
revenues.

HCN East in South Essex
grew strongly and margins
improved as they did in
North London, In HCN
West, with much focus on the
disposals, the retained
business still managed growth
in advertising revenues of 11%.

Overall, our recruitment
advertising revenues grew by
21.3%. We expect this to
slow in 1999, but face the
future confident that other
activities can mitigate the
effect this might have.

Margins continue to rise,
helped by lower newsprint
prices as well as the strong
recruitment advertising
revenues. But as the benefit
of our actions to improve the
efficiency of the business comes
through we continue to
pursue improvement to our
return on sales. The HCN

titles will also help raise our
performance in this regard.

It has been a memorable
year, but we cannot stand
still. The chalienge is to
maintain our momentum.

The quality of our people
and of our publications and
associated activities is the key.

It is gratifying therefore
that ECN has gained an
Investors in People award,
and | am proud to record that
among the many accolades
won by the Group’s people
and publications during the
year were: Evening Newspaper
of the Year to the Evening
Star in the UKPG national
awards, the third consecutive
year it has received this
accolade in the “under 40,000
circulation category”; Weekly
Paid-for Newspaper of the Year
to the Ham and High in the
BT national awards — also a
winner three times in
succession; and Weekly Free
Newspaper of the Year to the
Hunts Post for the second
year running in the Newspaper
Society national awards,

The advertisement sales
team at Norwich were voted
1998 Display Pubfishing
Centre of the Year in the
Newspaper Society awards
for the excellence of their
sales efforts, the Saturday
magazine team in particular
scoring several successes.

Tiwey, along with ali our
other winners, deserve our

congratulations.

1 Shon



It is a smali beginning, but
from small beginnings has
many a great empire sprung!

A small exhibitions
division was formed in CML
in the West Country. With its
HQ in Devon, a series of
shows followed with the
team experiencing the full
ch‘allenge of the outdoor
event business ~ choosing
the hottest day of the year
(in Exmouth) and the windiest
(in Bristol) for their first
launches! Spurred on by this
experience, a range of events
is planned for '99 as we test
the water and develop our
skills in what we believe can
be a profitable new venture.

Cur links with the business
communities in many of our
markets were enhanced by
our staging awards nights.
Qver 500 people attended
the North Herts event in
Stevenage with Jeremy
Paxman as celebrity speaker
and in the City of London at
Canary Wharf the Newham
Recorder hosted a successful
event at which Sports
Minister Tony Banks presided.
These events are highly
prestigious and also profitable,

There were more, and
the enthusiasm of our own
people was nowhere more
evident than at our own
“in-company” awards night,
staged by ECN in East Anglia,
where the excellence and
innovation in our business
were celebrated by over
750 people on a Saturday
night in November. In '99
the event will include all
Group companies.

Our 40 most senior

managers also met in the
autumn for a two-day
conference at which an
important theme was the
value that resides in sharing
our experience, ideas and
abilities across the business.
A number of important
communications issues
emerged and are being
pursued. A prototype
intranet has been developed
on a collaborative basis
between ECN and CML
linking all their businesses and
Summerhouse together. At
present access is restricted to
the 40 attendees, but it is
another small beginning for
what will undeubtedly shape
our future.

Modern corporations
must be nimble, able to
exercise their collective
strengths and provide an
exciting environment for the
people who will grow to
become the foundation for
the future, and these kinds of
activities will continue to
feature in our thinking.

A good example of
effective collaboration has
been that between
Summerhouse Publishing and
the EDP where skills inherent
in our contract magazine
publishing business were
used to develop a business
publication for Norfolk.

Summerhouse itself has
made a good start in its first,
almost fult year within the
Group. Turnover has
increased by 36.5% and
important new clients
developed. We have regular
and growing business now in

Sweden, France and the UK

and we are investing in
further expa.nsion.

Many of these things are
smalf things that together
make a difference. But in
May, we were both
exhilarated and delighted to
succeed in something major,
our acquisition of Home
Counties Newspapers.

The net result of the deal
was to add another|7
newspapers to our portfolio
of titles taking us tc a total of
60 with a circulation of 2.7m
per week.

Publishing in the valuable
territory of South Essex and
Hertfordshire, and with
possibly Britain’s best known
local weekly, The Ham and
High in Hampstead, North
London, as part of the
portfolio, it makes a perfect
partner for us.

With a significant number
of the papers afready printed
on our Thorpe press under
contract before the event we
already had a very successful
working relationship with
many of the key people.

As a public company, HCN

Modern corporations must
be nimble, able to exercise
their collective strengths
and provide an exciting
environment for the
people who will grow to
become the foundation

|| for the future.

had nevertheless maintained a
“family” feel through the
Chairmanship of Bill Gibbs,
whose family held a substantial
stake and whose great
grandfather had started the
company. Our status as an
independent, sixth generation
farnily-owned business
eventually helped to land us
the position of preferred
bidder in a hotly contested
process.

There followed a period
of intense activity. We
decided that certain of the
markets in which the
company published were
not ones in which we wished
to compete, The prospect
of some years of substantial
losses in the Bedfordshire
and Buckinghamshire
areas was not something
we relished, and the
newspapers there were sold
to Johnston Press.

HCN had also invested in
an envelope manufacturing
business, and this was not on
strategy for us. It was
disposed of by the year end

and in this regard, as well as
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Group Turnover
£'000
120,000

[ ]
o
oo =

80,000

Total Operating Profit

£000

20,000

1994 95 9% 91

Discontinued operations
" W Cootinuing operaions

‘98 1994 9%

L] HOME COUNTIES
NEWSPAPERS
The £58.6m acquisition of
Home Counties Newspapers
Holdings Plc was completed
in May. In September, the loss-
miaking Luton, Bedford and
Milton Keynes business units
were sold to Johnston Press
Plc for £8.0m. In December,
Southern Converters, also
loss-making, was sold to Rival
Direct Holdings Limited for
£1.25m. In February 1999,
HCN'’s head office was
finally closed. Exceptional
‘fundamental acquisition
restructuring costs’ of £564k
include the costs of this
closure.

Since acquisition, the
performance of HCN
has been significantly better
than our pre-acquisition

forecasts, and perhaps more

importantly the acquisition
has been earnings enhancing
in its first year. Itis also
worthy of note that HCN has
enhanced Group operating
margins.

In accordance with
accounting standard FRS 10
Goodwill and Intangible
Assets, the £45.3m cost of the
retained HCN titles has been
capitalised as an intangible
asset and has not been
amortised.

1 OTHER
ACQUISITIONS,
DISPOSALS AND
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
In February, the Group
acquired a 769 interest in
Summerhouse Publishing Ltd,
a contract publisher, for
£850,000.

In March, the Group sold

Group Operating Margin
%

194 "5 96 97 '98

its loss-making Bath and
Trowbridge titles to Southern
Newspapers Plec for £2.0m at
a profit of £1 4m.

In July, the Group sold its
20% interest in Xfm Ltd to
Capital Radio Pl for £3.im
at a profit of £2.8m.

In December, the Group
closed IMC Direct Marketing
Led at a cost of £860,000,
including a goodwill
writeback of £203,000.
During the year, {MC made
an operating loss of £423,000
on turnover of £991,000.

[J ASSOCIATE
The Group has a 40%
interest in The Radio
Partrership Limited (TRP).
All other interests in associates
have been disposed of.

TRP owns radio stations
in Blackpool, Bradford, Ebbw



Financial .

review

Turnover Analysis
1998

£'000

1997
£'000

1998 1957

® Advertising Revenue 72,529 52,728
@ Circulation 19,085 17,412
® Contract Print 3,665 4,103
® Contract Publishing 1,609 -
Other 5,600 4,920

® Direct Marketing 991 950
TOTAL 103,479 80,113

IREIICH Finance Director of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group

(] FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

The financial highlights of

the year were

O turnover increasing 29%
to £103.5m

o opérating profit increasing
77% to £17.4m

O operating margins
increasing 4.5 percentage
points to 16.8%

O pre-tax profits increasing
28% to £20.3m

O adjusted earnings per
share increasing 67%
to 74.0p

Buoyant local markets, falling
newsprint costs, effective
management of advertising
yields and overhead costs,
and the successful acquisition
of Home Counties Newpapers
(HCN) all contributed to an
irpressive set of results.

[] TURNOVER

Turnover of the ongoing

operations increased by

£5.2m, or 6.5%. (See
note 2 page 33). Ongoing
advertising revenues rose
by 7.5%. Recruitment
revenues in particular
showed strong growth with
an increase of 21,9%.
Ongoing circulation revenues
rose by 5.2%. Cover prices
were increased on our four
daily titles.
The mest recent Audit
Bureau Circulation statistics
confirmed that the Eastern
Daily Press continues to be
the best selling regional daily
newspaper in the country.
£18.1m (or 33 weeks) of
HCN turnover has been
consolidated. The Luton,
Bedford and Milton Keynes
newspaper business units
and Southern Converters,
the non-core envelope
business, have not been
consofidated. On a full year
basis, retained HCN
advertising revenue grew
by 1 1% with recruitment
revenues up 20.5%.
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People and

arsonalities

Famous names and top awards featured
throughout the year as teams and individuals
celebrated success and celebrities joined In
events and sponsorships.

The Hitchin Comet’s
HD Enzo Testa, left, hosts
the paper’s North Herts Business
Awards at which T¥'s Jeremy
Paxman gave the prizes.
Organising the awards won the
Comet a Newspaper Sodiety prize for
caming up with the idea.
The Comet has committed itself
to hosting the event for a third year
in 1995,

Abave: The Press Centre team with their ECN Quality Award.
Right: EDP editor Peter Franzen celebrates success.

Far right: Members of the Saffron Walden Reporter sales
team who won the ECN Best Customer Service Award.

A l> The biggest ever gathering of ECH
people took place in Norwich to
celebrate excellence,

Mare than 700 members of editorial, sales and
support teams gathered under 2 big top to applaud achievement
and witness the first ECN Awards night.

The 1998 awards attracted over 820 entries in classes ranging
from Newspaper of the Year — won by the Eastern Daily Press —
to Unsung Hero, given for exceptional work which was won by
Geraldine Cook, an editorial assistant at the March office, pictured
right receiving her trophy from Group Chief Executive Peter Strong.

Ham & High editor Matthew

Lewin and reporter Ruth
Bloomfield gave their paper plenty 1o
cheer about when they scooped two major
press awards. Matthew collected the
Weekly Newspaper of the Year and Ruth
was named Weekly News Journalist of the
Year in the BT Regiona! Press Awards.

ECN made history in 1998 when it
was acclaimed as the ‘Display
Publishing Centre of the Year’ by
the Nesspaper Saciety, for the first time.
The accolade followed ECN receiving :
total of ten NS awards, including six
certificates and 2 crystal trephy wan by &
EDP Magazine for presenting the bes
colour retail advertisement of the year.
Below: Peter Waters, right, and
Marie Barnes hold the NS crystal trophy
presented to the EDP magazine with Tim
Thurston, left, and Stephan Phillips whe
are holding other prizes scooped by
ECN Norfolk.

Sports Mini
Tony Bank:
guest of honour :
Recorder Newsp
sponsored East Lc
Small Bustness A
and is pictured
prese
£1,500-
W
of th
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Vale, Stockport, Stoke and
Swansea. It also has a 24%
interest in the Solent regional
licence. TRP's strategy is to
grow through winning new
licences, and acquisition.
During the year, the Group
invested a further £0.5m in
TRP This brings the total
investment in TRP to £5.1m
at the year end.

The presentation of
associate results in the
consolidated profit and loss
account has changed in
accordance with accounting
standard FRS 9 Associates
and Joint Ventures.,

TRP contributed
£412,000 (1997 £242,000)
o pre-tax profits.

TRP’s profits have
improved as Blackpool has
come on stream and

advertising revenues of the

existing business have

continued to grow.

[1FRS12
PROVISIONS,
CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES AND
CONTINGENT
ASSETS

The Company has chosen to
adopt this accounting
standard early. The principal
impact of the standard is to
restrict the circumstances
under which a provision can
be made to when there is a
legal or constructive
obligation. Adoption of this
standard has not materially
affected the [998 profits.

L1 TAXATION

The effective rate of taxation
for the year is 30.41% (1997
26.46%). This compares to

the standard corporation tax
rate of 319 (1997 31.49%).
In |99}. the effective rate

was lower than the standard
rate because of capital losses

utilised.

(1 TREASURY

Net debt, including finance
leases and loan notes, at

31 December 1998 was
£5.7m, with net gearing of
8.2%. This compares with a
net cash position of £25.7m
at 3| December 1997,

The major elements of
the £31.4m movement in net
debt were the cash flow
from operating activities,
£17.2m, the cost of the
Home Counties acquisition,
£38.6m, and the proceeds
from the disposal of HCN's
‘Beds & Bucks’ titles, £8.0m.

The HCN acquisition was

financed by a combination of
fioating rate, unsecured loan
notes, £26.0m, and cash,
£32.6m. Including the cost of
the bank guarantees, the
interest rate on the lean
notes is bank base rate less
0.55%.

Capital expenditure was
£3.1m (1997 £1.4m). The
increase was primarily due to
expenditure on computer
hardware and software,
where, at several locations,
replacement has been timed
to coincide with our year

2000 programme,

(hd  LaurEAsl



Pushing,out the :
*boundaries

G roup com panies Continued to The coastal Anglia Advertiser series has bee
joined by seven titles from Mid Angiia Newspape

expand and grOW th rough out -the and Cambridge, Huntingdon, Ely and Wisbech to

form a stronger weekly newspaper group.
. ' : Bringing paid for newspapers under the wing of
)’ear, eXtend I ng thelr bUSIﬂeSS and the series for the first time, the move also prompte
. . the creation of a central sub-editing department in
d eve l Opl ng INncome. Royston and boosted the group's advertising

production operation in Gorleston, pictured below.

The EDP extended its
news coverage and
advertising revenues when it
launched a 20 page weekly
supplement for the

West Norfolk edition.

Called EDP West
Norfolk & Fens, it provides
much more local news and
a targeted readership for
advertisers who, along with
the local council, have
welcomed the publication.

Suffolk & Essex Business
Magazines have gone from strength
to strength with the hard work and
positive attitudes that won their people
*Team of the Year’ in the ECN awards.

With a market leader in Suffolk, the
magazine,team launched the successful
format into Essex and has secured a firm
feothold in the county.

Above: Members of the ECN team with
the new West supplement of the EDP.

Left: The Suffalk based magazine team ready to go
into bat for the faunch of the Essex Business Magazine.



é Former Prime Minister
John Major launched the
Hunts Post web site. A reader for over

30 years, Mr Major was delighted fo see
his local paper enter a new technalogical

era and gave an exclusive interview to
mark the accasion.

The Weston

Mercury was named the
1998 Newspaper Society Best
Weekly Paid for Newspaper in
Wales and the West of England, It
also won a NS award for a schools’
nativity supplement as the most
unusual and successful revenue
producing idea of the year.

Chief reporter Melanie
Dowding, pictured above, was
runmer-up in the BT Weekly
Journalist of the Year, Wales and
West, awards.

Now in their |0th year,

the EDP Business
Awards have become the catalyst
for one of the most prestigious
commercial gatherings of the
Norfolk year. In 1998 mare than
100 companies entered the nine
categaries, the winners receiving
their prizes from celebrity cook and
Norwich City Football Cfub
director Delia Smith.

The editorial and advertising teams of

The Hunts Post, named the Midlands
and East Anglia Free Newspaper of the Year for
the third time in succession and the Newspaper
Society's Free Newspaper of the Year for the
second year running, Editor Paul Richardson is on
the far right.

HRH The Prince of Wales
Q chose ECN to learn about how the
regional press operates. Here he meets members
of the telesales team at Prospect House. He
attended the EDP’s daily news conference befare
being shown how photographs are electronically
positioned by picture editor Dennis Whitehead
and discussing the development of stories with
news editor Paul Durrant.

HCN (East) regional managing director

Doug Bonn received an ABSA
Award from Culture Secretary Chris Smith for
the paper's support of the Islington Festival,

The Evening Star in [pswich

made histery when it was named
Evening Newspaper {circulation up to 40,000)
of the Year for a record third year in succession
in the Press Gazette awards. Judges praised
the paper’s campaign victories and the way it
fights wholeheartedly for its readers.

Above, Nigel Pickover editor of the
Evening Star with the 1998 Newspaper of the
Year certificate with members of his team
holding other awards that the paper has
received.
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Summerhouse

Publishing, the specialist
publishing company that
ECNG acquired in 1998, has

* gained a new home and new
.+ clients for its portfolio.

The company’s team of 26
now occupy new offices in
the listed St James’ Yarn Mill
on the River Wensum near
Norwich Cathedral,

The move accompanied
Summerhouse's success in adding

i new publications for clients
" such as GEC, Hogg Robinson,

Paris-based Alcatel Cables and

- Components and First Telecom.

The year also saw existing

~ clients ALSTOM, the London

Symphony Crchestra and Saab
Automobile extending their
involvement with Summerhouse,
Saab renewed its contract for
another three years and added
the USA to its Saab Magazine
which is produced in 15
different language versions and
distributed to 25 markets around
the world, with a total circulation
of over 600,000 copies.

Tim James, inset, joined
Summerhouse as publishing
director. He will look after
all the operational aspects of
the business, ensuring that
relationships with clients and
the standard of pubtications
improve still further.

The Weston & Somerset Mercury began a new

chapter in its |55 year history when it was printed
in full colour throughout for the first time. The ¢change
came about due to customer demand, and the event was
rnarked by a bafloon launch from the paper's offices.

Left: CML regional director Beraard Driscoll with members of his team celebrating
the launch of the full colour Weston Mercury.

During 1998 ECN’s Norfolk publishing division

demonstrated how powerful the company’s
newspaper brands are by launching ‘EDP Norfollc a high
quality county magazine. Distinct from the EDP’s in-paper
Saturday colour supplement, the new bi-monthly up-market
magazine is aimed predominantly at women aged 30+ and
specialist advertisers,

Left to right: Mel Secker; EDP brand manager Kent Smith; Sharon Hulbert;
Sarah Hardy; publishing editor Peter Waters; Gavin Davies; advertising manager
Marie Barnes; and Simon Lunt.

Left: Karen Twyford, development
manager and Steven Harnell,
news editor with the new-look
North Somerset Times,

Above: members of the
Weston-Super-Mare Admag
team with the |,000th issue of
their publication.

It has been a momentous year for CMLs Admag tities,

The Weston-Super-Mare Admag proudly produced its
1,000th edition. The 40 page paper celebrated reaching the
milestone with a special supplement.

The Portishead Admag had a complete makeover, emerging as
the North Somerset Times, complete with news and sport.



o8

Aidan Semmens, pictured right,
became ECN's first newspaper
web site editor when he joined the
Evening Star team.
The site has become increasingly
popular and attracts 80,000 readers
a week,

ECN'’s long-standing commitment

to achieving business success through
training and development has been
recognised by the company receiving
the prestigious Investor in People
award.

Right: ECN

Hanaging
Director Tom Stevensan
receives the Investors in
Peopls plaque from Norfolk
and Waveney TEC chief
executive David Pearsen
watched by HR Director
Val Howden and members
of the ECN [iP Team.

Leadership skills are being developed and extended
throughout ECN with 150 people taking part in Team
Leader and Gperational Manager Programmes which lead
to Institute of Management qualifications.

Ten-week workplace-based courses enable junior managers,
supervisors and people with team leader responsibilities to
develop a range of skilis to enhance their roles.

A |2 month Operational Manager Programme is
designed to build commercial and business skills among
middle managers with successful candidates achieving a
Certificate or Diploma in Management.

Advertisement sales staff are being helped to
progress their careers through training programmes which
will lead junior members of the team to potentially become
the senior representatives and sales ranagers of the future.
Trainee journalists are receiving the best training in the
newspaper industry. A 15-week course followed by
on-the-job training over two years enables young reporters
to gain NVQ Level 4 and the ECN Diploma.

Staff development activities are supported by a learning
resource library within ECN's HR Department at Prospect
House, Norwich.

Above: ECN HR advisor Lucy Pakes takes a training session at Prospect House.

When your business boundaries stretch fron

Peterhead to Exeter, there’s only one way t
get around as CML Managing Director Nigel
Websper and Finance Director Andrew
Halsey have found.

Nigel has held a pilot’s licence for several years
and makes frequent flights from his office in the
West Country. They are pictured, Nigel, left,
with their air taxi, an Aztec twin engined, six
seater which is based at the Bristol and Wessex

Flying Club.
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Above: Top hairdresser ¥icky
Clarke at the Hairdressing Show
held by CKL in Terguay.

Right: The CML {Devon)
Exhibition and Show Divisien
exhibitions manager John Cooksey
with members of fiis team from
left Christine Whitting, David
Hastings and Kate Boalch.

UK Hairdresser of the Year Nicky Clarke helped CML to
blaze a trail into a new business venture ~ exhibitions and shows.
The top pecple's hairdresser was the star attraction at a
hairdressing show staged in Torquay, one of five exhibitions run
during the year. Weddings, ideal hornes and Christmas gifts were
the other themes for 1998,
Led by Bob Priddie, who heads-up CMLs operations in Devon,
the exchibition division has its sights set on major centres around
the country including Wembley, Brighton and Leeds in 1999. ‘
Running exhibitions is a natural extension of CMLUs business
requiring many of the skills and resources needed for
successful publishing. (



The East Anglian Daily

Times Magazine proved an

instant success on its launch in

October, boosting Saturday sales of the
paper by nearly 3,000 copies, as well
as achieving a premium cover price,
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The magazine was heralded by an
extensive television advertising
campaign and was well received by
readers. The advertising team took a
fresh approach to give the magazine
the best possible start. Focused on
gaining new advertising spend, a two-
day off-site course saw the team
analysing the competition, developing
a strategy to win market share and
making presentations to advertisers.
The result was £30,000 of revenue
pre-sold into the first edition.

Left: Editor of the EADT Magazine Robyn Bechelet
with design editor Richard Bryson.

Eastern Counties Network, the group's

electronic publishing arm, has transferred more
than 400 customers onto the World Wide Web with
many of them reaping remarkable results including
orders and enquiries from thousands of miles away.

Nearly 70% represent new business for the company
including customers from beyond traditional publishing
boundaries. Many clients report that web activity has
extended their sales area as well as bringing them
improved results locally.

An independent survey carried out among Network
customers reported high levels of approval for the
service, averaging a satisfaction rating of 4.2 out of a
possible 5.

Below: Jenny Smith, right, field sales representative for Eastern Counties
Network, shows Deborah Gillatt from the government agency CEFAS their
new web site,

ECN has completed one of the most complex
projects of recent years with the development
and installation of a new advertising system which
links the publishing centres of Ipswich and Norwich.
Developed in-house, it provides advertising sales
staff with customer information. It also includes sales
ledger, page planning and assembly capabilities.
Competitive selection of the system by HCN has
underlined the cost effectiveness of the central
development of core systems within the Group.

Above keft; Kelly Brookes uses the new ECN advertising system, watched by
Sonia Marshall in the telesales department at Prospect House, Norwich,

Left: Tony Kemsley, seated, and Mark Duckett, right, with director of
information systems Jim Duncan and members of the ECN I team.

The Evening Star captured the spirit of a famous
victory when it celebrated the 20th anniversary
of Ipswich Town Football Club’s historic FA Cup win
against Arsenal in 1978.
The paper brought the team together for the first time in

20 years and took it on an open top bus tour of the town,
complete with the cup itself, to the acclaim of thousands of
fans who lined the streets.

Along with the reproduction of the FA Cup programme, the
Star produced a CD of the team’s 1978 anthem, pictured above
left, and organised a special ‘One Day in May Reunion’ beer.
Left: Star sports writer Dave Allard with |pswich Town’s Kieron Dyer and the special beer. n



The Paisley, Renfrewshire

and Gryfle Weekly News
tugged at its readers’ heart strings
and galvanised the community int
raising £20,000 for the local
Special Care Baby Unit.

The paper’s first ever reader
| I e appeal, such was its attraction tha
the initial target of £13,000 was

quickly exceeded.
Local celebrities, including
footballer Ally McCoist, whose

twin sons were born prematurely
in the unit, got behind the
fund-raising which has enabled the

ECNG newspapers lie at the heart of thelr oyl Alexandra Hospita o creas

a family room where anxious

communities, reflecting and leading public parents can stay and be close to

their seriously ill babies.

opinion through their campaigns; helping Others; g suter sty necus, g, s

Weekly News reporter Gerry Dulfy, centre, hand

and ra|S!ng thousands Of pOU ndS for gOOd causes. farge donation to staff at their focal Special Car

& Baby Unit.

The Welwyn & Hatfield Times has
been playing a leading role in helping
the community.

It embraced the National Year of Reading
when it brought ‘Reading Passports’ to more
than |,400 school children in 21 schools
during its second year of taking part in
Newspapers in Educaticn.

Through the local Education Business
Partnership the paper helped young pecple
with severe learning difficulties. Reporters :
also helped to brighten up the carnival when . docry . B
they took to a veteran fire engine for the ) . e A
procession, pictured below.

The Hitchin Comet has also joined

the Newspapers in Education cause
: and provided 2,500 children from more than
4 60 schools with the incentive to get to grips
o with reading and gain a certificate in an eight
week long project.

Top: Read all zbout it! Youngsters see ho
newspaper is printed, ready for sale.

Above centre: A class of Suffolk children
the ‘school room’ created in Brook Hou:
Ipswich, the home of the East Anglian D
Times and Evening Star.

Abave: A class of primary school childre
proudly show off their newspaper project:



The EDP has launched its most

ambitious community project ever —
to raise £ Imillion through its ‘We Care
2000° campaign.

Specifically to help the carers of people
in need, the project has become Norfolk’s
official county appeal for the Millennium.
The ambitious scale of the campaign
attracted coverage in the national press

Befow: Marketing services
manager Katherine Silver with
members of the Evening $tar
Schoal Reporter team at the

Suffolk Show. o
and on television.
Inset: Young peaple with their Below: From left, EDP reporter Angi Kennedy and editor
note beoks and cameras, ready Peter Franzen with organisers of the paper’s Festival of
to report on the Suffolk Show. Carols with a cheque for the money raised at the event for

the “We Care 2000° appeal.
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Finding Miss Essex 1998 was

a tough job as HCN (East)
sales director Paul Gregory
discovered during this heat of the
P TR, contest which attracted over 300
ENTRYS entries. Recorder Newspapers have
sponsored the competition, which
leads to the Miss UK finals, for the
last three years.

Young readers are the
q focus of a special
development programme being led
by ECN in Suffolk. With a mission
© tocreatea newspaper reading
habit among the young, the
programme is working with
schoels and families to encourage
their children to improve their
communication skills.
The project is part of a
‘community affection’ initiative
| being driven by the East Anglian
Daily Times and Evening Star and
. is a key part of their
i interaction with the communities
' they serve, says marketing services
manager Katherine Silver.

A Caribbean-style steel band

was just one of the street
entertainments sponsored by the
Stevenage Comet for the town's
carnival. A marching band, jugglers
and clowns also kept the crowds
amused as the procession made its
way through the town.

The paper [s stepping up its
involvement this year when the
carnival takes on a Mardi Gras
theme, complete with extravagant
costumes which the Comet will be
helping people to create with a n
special theatre workshop.
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The Evening News in

Norwich campaigned,
raised money and even
brought about a promise to
change the law on asbestos
through its work.

The paper raised nearly
£50,000 to help a school for
children with special needs, a
centre for the disabled and
local cancer sufferers.

Its Asbestos Action
Campaign, which raised
awareness of the dangers of
the material, developed into
a major campaign success,
leading to the promise of a
change in the law to ban
white asbestos.

On the lighter side, the
paper brought 200 under
| 1-years-old soccer fans
together for a Junior World
Cup which mirrored the real
event in France, In Norwich
thousands of people enjoyed
the News sponsored
‘Golden Years Rock‘n’Roll
Revival’ which reunited

more than 25 pop bands
from the region and raised
money for charity.

Through the
determination of their

football paper, the Pink
"Un, Neorwich City fans will
see the longed for return of
green shorts to the Canaries’
strip next season, replacing
the new Bruce Oldfield
designed all yellow outfit.
The paper organised a
referendum on the matter
with fans displaying yellow or
green voting cards before a
home match to show their
feelings. Green won by a
landslide.

Editor Bob Crawley said:
“The Evening News can
make a difference to
people’s lives in so many
ways and we will continue to
fead the way in helping the
communities in our area.”

Below: Members of the Evenings News team
with some of their campaigning editions.

The Buchan Observer has taken
I> the fight against litter to the
streets in Aberdeenshire’s Peterhead.
Reporters approached
people seen dropping litter; a ‘gallery
of shame’ exposed the extent of the
problem; and civic leaders were

The EADT and Evening

Star led community
feeling and helped to save
hospitals in Suffolk and Essex.

The Anglian’s ‘Hands off

our Hospitals’ saw an intention
to alter the services provided at
two community hospitals in
Essex stopped and a rethink
begun. The campaign was part
of the paper's more active
editorial stance in Essex which
also saw it raising money to

buy a lifeboat station.

The Star’s editor, Nigel
Pickover, taok his campaign to
save a hospital in Felixstowe all
the way to the Secretary of
State for Health and was told in
a meeting with Frank Debson
that he had overturned a local
decision to close it.

Below: Essex news editor Richard Woadard
standing eutside ane of the hospitals that the
EADT campaigned for,

-
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Above: Pink "Un editor Joe Ferrari, centre, with Evening News
sports editor David Cuffley, left, and sports editor Graham
Dunbar celebrate their successful campaign to restore the
(anaries’ green shorts,

enlisted to support the campaign.

Right: Buchan Observer editor George Hutchinson,
right, with reporter Michael Howie present a locat
shopkeeper with his anti-litter window display paster.

X SCROGIES k

“NO LITTER, 4
PLEASE" ZiN




The mood of a whole

community touched by
tragedy has been captured by
the Buchan Observer in an
appeal to raise a monument to
the memory those who lose
their lives fishing at sea.

Editor George Hutchinson,

left, is pictured with a member
of the Scottish Sculpture
Workshop locking for a suitable
site for the fishermen’s memorial
overlooking Peterhead’s Bay of
Refuge.
So far the paper has raised

over £19,000 for the memorial.

Members of

the Hitchin
Comet team
donned fancy dress
and literally went to
town for Children in
Need raising £269 in
a street collection.

The Hampstead

& Highgate
Express series continued
helping people to find
careers with its fifth
Training and Job Fair at
the University of London,
Distinguished journalist

and broadcaster jon
Snow opened the show
and welcomed guests.

Balow: Jon Saow chats with editor
of the Highbury & Islington
Express, Rager Blitz watched by
* Doug Bonr and Matthew Lewin,
editor of the Ham & High.

When it comes to helping the EDP has
staying power, as the continuing story of
African orphan Tenneh Cole proves. So much so
that the paper’s involvement formed a key part of
BBC Television’s ‘This Is Your Life’ programme
about the man who is helping children who are
the victims of war.

Assistant editor James Ruddy, who is pictured
with Tenneh, has followed her life since she was

£ brought to Norwich to have a bullet removed
'gi from her head three years ago.

o The EDP raised £17,000 to pay for her

?éi treatment and since returning home James has

kept track of Tenneh, most recently visiting
Sierra Leone before Christmas to
deliver 20 tonnes of books donated
by readers for children in the war
torn country. James is now writing
a book to be published by ECN in
May, telling the story of Tenneh
and the EDP

The Welwyn & Hatfield Times
teamed up with Carlton TV's London
. Tonight programme to find readers with an
| interesting story to tell live on television.
! Editor Terry Mitchinson is pictured
being interviewed during the broadcast
from Hatfield House by presenter

Mary Nightingale. The paper used some
of the responses to run its own features
about the lives of local people.
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Directors

and officers

[ R W JEWSON"#

Chairman

Richard Jewson joined the Board in 1982
as 2 Non-Executive Director and became
Chairman in 1996. After running
Jewsons the Timber and Builders
Merchant for 12 years he became
Managing Director and then Chairman of
its holding company Heyer International
Plc. He is currently Chairman of InterX
Plc., Savills Ple., Octagon Healthcare
(Holdings) Ltd., Deputy Chairman of
Anglian Water Plc., and a Non-Executive
Director of Grafton Group Pic and
Queens Moat House Flc. He is Chairman
of the Remuneration and Nominations
Committees.

P M STRONG™
Chief Executive

Peter Strong joined as Chief Executive in
1996. fie was previousfy a Main Board
member of EMAP Plc the media company
and Chief Executive of their Newspaper
and Printing Division. After training as

a hewspager journalist he joined EMAP
in 1969 and his career with the company
embraced time s an Editor and Managing
Director within the magazine divisiea in
addition to his role in newspapers.

[2) G H C COPEMAN DL**#°
Yice Chairman

Geoffrey Lopeman joined the Company in
196) and became Group Development
Manager in 1973. He was appointed
General Manager of the East Anglian
Daily Times Company Limited in (976,
and subsequently General Manager of
Eastern Counties Newspapers Limited,
becoming Group Chief Executive in 1982,
A past director of Norwich Union Group,
he has also served on the Boards of
Suffelk Group Radio, Radio Broadland,
and subsequently East Anglian Radio.
He is a past director of The Press

Assaciation, and a past President of The
Newspaper Society. He is currently
Chairman of the Audit Bureau of
(irculations Limited.

[@ RV ) CADBURY "
Non-Executive

Roger Cadbury joined the Board a5 a
Non-Executive Director in 1993. He has
been Chairman of Premier Brands
Limited, and previously he was Managing
Director of General foods Limited and
Whitworth Holdings Limited. Currently,
he is a Non-Executive Directar of NFU
Mutual, Chairman of the Bournville
Yillage Trust and of the Soil Association
Certification Company. He is Chairman
of the Audit Committee,

5] R C COPEMAN""

Non-Executive

Richard Copeman was a member of the
Board of Eastern Counties Newspapers
Limited before joining the Group Board
as a Non-Executive Director in 1980. He
was Chairman and Managing Director of
the chemicals division of MeKechnie
Brathiers Limited front 1974 te 1984
when he joined the Lambsan Group an
& part-time basis to run their newly
acquired micronutrient business,
retiring in 1994,

[€1) O ELLISON®
Company Secretary

lohn Ellison was appainted Group
Company Secretary in February 1996,
After graduating in business studies, he
trained with Ernst & Young in Landen
and Norwich before joining ECHG's retail
subsidiary Paper Chain in [982. He
currently represents ECNG's interests on
the Boards of The Radio Partnership
Limited and St Andrews Management
Company Limited and is a Director of
Summerhouse Publishing Limited..

€ H LAWRENCE®
Finance Director

Chris Lawrence was appainted Group
Finance Diractor in March 1998. Heis a
chartered accountant, having trained
with Ernst & Young in Norwich, After
qualifying, he spent two years with Ernst
& Young in Yancouver, Canada. He
returned to the UK in 1989 and has since
worked for EMAP Plc, North West Water
Plc and Whessoe Plc. Prior to joining the
Group, he was most recently Group
Finance Director at Whessoe.

I R LOCKETT""
Non-Executive

Ivan Lockett spent two years in Australia
before working for six years in BBC
Television producing science feature pro-
grammes. In 1970 be joined and now
runs a family farming business in
Suffolk. He served on the Boards of
Eastern Counties Newspapers Limited and
East Anglian Daily Times Company
Limited before joining the Group Beard
as a Nan-Executive Director in 1991,

(8] T STEVENSON®
Managing Director
Eastern Counties Newspapers Ltd

Tom Stevenson joined the company in
[982. He began his career with Thomson
Regianal Newspapers. Formerly Deputy
Managing Director of ECN Norwich, he
was appointed Managing Director of the
East Anglian Daily Times Company
Limited in 1994 and Managing Director
of the Group's East Anglian publishing
activities in 1995. He joined the Group
Board in April 1996. He is Chairman of
the Newspaper Society's Marketing
Strategy Group, on the Board of the
Norwich Area Development Agency and
the Board of the Enterprise Partnership
{Narfolk and Waveney Training and
Enterprise Council).

[@ P ] € TROUGHTON"*

Non-Executive

Peter Troughten served on the Boards of
the East Anglian Daily Times Company
Limited and Community Media Limited
before joining the Group Board in [99]
2s 2 Non-Executive. He is Deputy
Chairman of Rothschild Asset
Hanagement, which he joined in 1995,
having been a main Board Director

of WH Smith Group Pic. He is a
Non-Executive Director of the Lowland
investment Company and a former
Trustee of the National Gallery.

N G F WEBSPER
Managing Director
Community Media Limited

Nigel Websper joined Community Media
Limited in 1981 as Company Accountant
and was appuinted Finance Director in
1985. He became Director and Group
Genteral Manager in 1990 and was
appointed Deputy HD in 1995 and MD in
1996. Before CML, Nige! was Group
Marketing Accountant for Bowyers
Goods, having previously hetd various
project, acquisition and finance rofes.
He joined the Group Board in

December 19%8.

Higel serves on the Newspaper
Society Council and is a Director of the
Association of Household Distributors.
He is also a member of the Newspaper
Society Marketing Strategy Group.

* Hember of the Remuneration Committee
* Member of the Audit Committee

# Wember of the Nominations Committee
© Member of the Pensions Cammittee
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Report of the Directors

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited accounts of the Group for the year ended 31 December 1998.

ACCOUNTS ,
The Group profit for the year after taxation and minority interests amounted to £14,090,000 compared to £1 1,610,000 for 1997,
Dividends have been paid or proposed as follows: ’

£'000 £000
6.45% cumulative preference shares 20
15.5% cumulative second preference shares Jle
Ordinary shares
Interim of 4.9 p paid on 5 October 1998 775
Proposed final of 11.1p 1,767 2,542
2,878

The ordinary dividends abave are stated after taking account of the dividends waived by the ECNG Employee Benefit Trust.
The final ordinary dividend, if approved, will be paid on 14 May 1999 to ordinary shareholders whose names were on the register on

3 May 1999.

ACTIVITIES AND REVIEW OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS
The principal activity of the Group is publishing newspapers.

The key factors affecting the Group’s trading performance, and details of the principal acquisitions and disposals, are highlighted in the
Financial Review on pages 7 to 9.

‘The directors expect continued growth of the Group through both the development of the core businesses and strategic acquisitions.

DIRECTORS

The members of the Board who held office during the year are listed on page 20. Mr C H Lawrence and Mr N G F Websper were appointed
to the Board on 2 March 1998 and 14 December 1998 respectively.

The directors retiring by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association are Mr RV ) Cadbury, Mr| R Lockett and Mr P C Troughton
who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Mr N G F Websper also retires, and being eligible, offers himself for election.

The directors’ interests in the shares of the Company are disclosed in Note 5 on page 36.
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Report of the Directors

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ACCOUNTS

Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing those accounts, the directors are required
to: -

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
accounts;

The directors confirm that the accounts comply with the above requirements.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies Act 1985, They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities to shareholders for good corporate governance and remains committed to maintenance of
high standards.

The Combined Code

Although not a listed company, and not therefore bound by the reporting requirements of the Combined Code (the Code), the Board
recognises and endorses its Principles as “best practice” but excludes compliance with specific provisions that are not deemed appropriate
within the context of a private company. In all other material respects the Board considers that the Company has complied with the Code
throughout the period to 3|1 December [998.

The Board

The Board currently comprises the Chairman, Vice Chairman, four non-executive and four executive directors, and is respensible to the
shareholders for the proper management of the Group. It meets regularly, setting and menitoring Group strategy, trading performance,
ensuring adequate funding, reviewing investment opportunities and reporting to shareholders.

To discharge their duties the executive directors receive timely and appropriate information and there are agreed procedures for directors
to take independent professional advice as required.

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved specifically to it for decision. The company secretary has responsibility for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

The Board has set up Audit, Remuneration, Pensions and Nominations Committees to deal with those specific aspects of the Group's affairs.
Each Committee has agreed terms of reference which are reviewed periodically. Individual membership of the Committees is indicated,
together with directors’ biographical details, on page 20. All directors are subject to re-election at least every three years.
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Report of the Directors

Relations with Shareholders
Communication with shareholders is given a high priority and undertaken formally through the Annual Report and Accounts and Interim Statement.

The Board uses the Annual General Meeting to communicate directly with shareholders. Details of the resolutions to be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting on || May 1999 are set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting on pages 55 and 56.

Internal Financial Control

Guidance has not yet been issued on the reporting criteria for operational and compliance controls and risk management as required by
the Code. In consequence,and in accordance with interim advice issued by the London Stock Exchange to listed companies, the Board has
continued to review and report on the effectiveness of the Group's system of internal financial controls.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for establishing and maintaining an appropriate system of internal financial controls. Internal
financial control systems are designed to meet the particular needs of the Group and are designed to provide reasonable, but not abselute,
assurance of the safeguarding of assets and the reliability of financial information.

To meet this responsibility the directors have relied upon the following key procedures:

i} Establishment of an organisational structure which includes clearly defined lines of authority and responsibility, covering limits for
authorisation of transactions, the segregation of duties and the production and review of management information to agreed time scales;

iy A review of strategy and identification of major business risks faced by the Group which is undertaken annually.
iii) Detailed annual operating budgets for all operating units with approval required by both senior local management and Group Board.

iv) Four weekly management report and accounts, including balance sheets, from all operating units including comparison to budget and
prior year with identification of key performance drivers and variance explanation.

v} Quarterly full year forecasts from all operating units with comparison to budget and explanation of variances.

vi} Formal, hierarchical, authorisation procedures for all investment and capital expenditure against agreed success criteria. Appropriate
due diligence is carried out if a business is to be acquired.

To enable the Board to review the effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial control a formal mechanism of self-assessment for the
measurement and assessment of the principal controls within the Group was undertaken. The conclusions of the exercise were reviewed
by the Audit Committee and reported to the Board.

GOING CONCERN

The directors consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

YEAR 2000

The Group began to assess the potential impact of the *Year 2000 Problem” on its operations some two years ago. The issue is complex
affecting not only internal computer systems but also those of suppliers and customers alike.

All parts of the business have undertaken a complete review of their operations to identify problem areas, As with ali operational issues,
the process is being carried out by operating centre management and with responsibility for the project resting with senior divisional
management. Progress of individual projects is reported to the Audit Committee regularfy. .

Programmes of work have been designed te ensure initially that all business critical systems are compliant and thereafter the remaining
systems will be addressed. Many systems have already been replaced and the programme includes the testing of systems under control
conditions where this is practicable.

The programme also includes seeking assurances frorm major customers and suppliers relating to the procedures that they have put in place
and that their systems will be compliant,

Due to the complexity of the problem no organisation can guarantee that no Year 2000 problems will arise. However, the Board believes
that an acceptable level of readiness will be achieved and will, wherever possible, ensure that contingency plans are drawn up to cover
unexpected failures.
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Report of the Directors

DISABLED PERSONS

it is the Group's policy to give full consideration to suitable applications for employment by disabled persons. The need to develop the
careers of disabled persons is accepted by the Group, and the necessary steps are taken to train and promote disabled employees where
this is in their own and the Group's best interests. -

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
Eligible staff are invited to participate in the ECNG Employee Share Scheme, further details of which are given in Note 6.

During 1998 the Group continued its practice of encouraging staff invoivernent. The policy of providing employees with information about
the Group has been continued through regular briefing meetings and various staff newsletters, in which employees have also been
encouraged to present their suggestions and views on the Group's performance. In addition, working parties drawn from the staff have
contributed to the planning processes,

Consultation procedures also take place covering such matters as health and safety and pensions. In addition certain Trustees of the Pension
Schemes are employees of the Group.

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY

It is the Company’s policy to negotiate payment terms with principal suppliers and to pay in accordance with the terms agreed. For other
suppliers payment is to be made in accordance with the terms offered by the supplier.

At 3| December 1998, the Company held an average of 19 days’ purchases outstanding in trade creditors (1997 - 26 days).

DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Company and its subsidiaries totalled £36,d(}0 (1997 - £30,000).

AUDITORS

A resolution to reappoint Ernst & Young as auditors will be put to the members at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

J O ELLISON P
Secretary
26 March 1999
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Report of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Richard Jewson. lts other members are Roger Cadbury, Geoffrey Copeman, Richard
Copeman, ivan Lockett and Peter Troughton. All members of the Committee are non-executive directors, The Committee determines
an overall remuneration package for executive directors in order to attract and retain high quality executives capable of achieving the
Group’s objectives. The Committee pays particular attention to remuneration levels in the industry, and to pay and employment conditions
within the Group. In addition, the Committee may take advice from external remuneration consultants where appropriate.

The main elements of the remuneration package are discussed below.
Basic safary: Each executive director’s salary Is reviewed annually based on performance during the year and achievement of objectives.
Benefits: Benefits provided include the provision of a company car (or cash equivalent) and private health insurance.

Annual bonus: These are calculated based on fixed formulae which are determined at the beginning of each financial year by the
Committee. Bonuses are paid for achieving or exceeding financial targets, principally operating profit,

Pensions: The executive directors are members of the Senior Management Pension Scheme (see note 3| to the accounts). Executive
directors contribute 5% of salary and the Company makes further contributions as necessary to meet the obligations of the Scheme, The
Scheme pays faoth of final earnings for each year of pensionable service. The normal retirement date for executive directors under the
Scheme is age 60, which enables executive directors to achieve a maximum pension of two thirds of their final earnings after 20 years'
service, subject to the maximum benefits laid down by the Inland Revenue Pension Schemes Office. A lump sum of four times salary is
payable on death in service, together with a spouse’s pension of 50% of the director’s prospective pension. At the discretion of the
Company, executive directors forced to retire early on account of ill health may receive an immediate full pension. Pensions earned before
April 1997 receive discretionary increases in payment while those earned after April 1997 are guaranteed to increase in line with inflation
subject to a maximum of 5% per annum.

Funded unapproved retirement benefit scheme: The Company makes contributions to a funded unapproved retirement benefit
scheme on behalf of the Chief Executive, established to provide retirement benefits in respect of his salary above the statutory “earnings
cap” to a level of two thirds salary at retirement age of 60,

Long term incentive plan: Under the terms of the ECNG Long Term Incentive Plan each year the Committee may notionally allocate
restricted shares to senior managers, including executive directors, to a value not exceeding 7596 of basic salary. Each notional award has
a three year cycle. Notional awards may accrue to participants at the end of each cycle, subject to achieving predetermined performance
targets. At the end of each cycle, at the discretion of the trustees, half of the shares accruing are released, with the other half being held
in trust for another two years before they are finally released. The measure of performance is aggregated normalised earnings per share
for the three years of each cycle. The aggregated earnings per share performance targets are geared towards doubling the size of the
business in five years.

Employee share scheme: If eligible, executive directors may participate in the ECNG Employee Share Scheme. Details of the 1998
scheme are given in note 6 to the accounts.

Savings related share option scheme: Under the ECNG Savings Related Share Option Scheme, the Company offered share options
to eligible employees in 1994, 1996 and 1997. If eligible, executive directors were invited to subscribe for each offer. No performance
criteria were attached to these options.

Non-executive fees: The fees of non-executive directors are determined by the Board on the recommendation of the Chairman and
Chief Executive, within the limits stipulated in the Articles of Association. The Chairman's fee is determined by the Remuneration
Committee excluding himself.

Directors’ remuneration, pension entitlements and interests: Details are set out in note 5 to the accounts.
Service contracts: All of the executive directors’ service contracts are terminable on one year’s notice.

Re-election: Details are set out in the Report of the Directors.

On behalf of the R ration Committee

R W JEWSON
26 March 1999
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Re p ort Of th e AU d |t0 I'S  to the members of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited

We have audited the accounts on pages 28 to 54 which have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the
revaluation of certain freehold and leasehold properties and on the basis of the accounting policies set out on pages 3| and 32.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report including, as described on page 23, the accounts. Qur responsibilities, as
independent auditors, are established by statute, the Auditing Practices Board and by our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the accounts give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the accounts, if the Company has not
kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if the information
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions with the company is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report, including the corporate governance statement, and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited accounts. We consider the implication for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the accounts. We are not required te form an opinion on the effectiveness of either the Company's corporate
governance procedures or its internal controls. ’

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on
a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Group's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain afl the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the accounts are, free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
accounts.

OPINJON

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 3| December {998 and
of the profit of the Group for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985,

Emb(: : (jﬂ"‘* 4
ERNST & YOUNG
Registered Auditor
Norwich
26 March 1999
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Group Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 December 1998

1998 1697
Notes £000 £000
TURNOVER
Ongoing operations . 82,769 79,163
Acquisitions ) 19.719 -
Continuing operations 102,488 79,163
Discontinued operations 991 950
) TOTAL TURNOVER 2 103,479 80,113
! OPERATING PROFIT
] Ongoing operations 13,564 10,044
‘} Acquisitions 3,920 -
Continuing operations S (7,484 {0,044
Discontinued operations (423) {201
GROUP OPERATING PROFIT 2,3 17,061 9,843
Share of operating results in associates , 356 (25)
TOTAL OPERATING PROFIT : GROUP AND SHARE OF ASSOCIATE 17,417 9.818
Profits on sales of intangible fixed assets and investments in associates 4 4,215 5328
: Fundamental acquisition restructuring costs 4 (564) -
] Losses on closure of operations and disposal of subsidiary 4 (850) (81
‘ 20,208 15,065
Incorme from investments 7 i,613 985
Interest payable 8 (1,535) (249)
7 ; PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 20,286 15,801
. Tax on profit on ordinary activities _ 9 6,170 4,183
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER TAXATION 14,116 11,618
Minority interests (26} (8
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY ' 14,090 11,610
Dividends (including non-equity interests) 10 2,878 2,289
RETAINED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 23 1,212 9,321
Earnings per share I 86.6p 71.5p
] Adjusted earnings per share I " 74.0p 44.3p
Diluted earnings per share 1 84.8p 70.7p
There are no recognised gains or losses other than those reflected in the Profit and Loss Account
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Balance SheetS at 3| December 1998

Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
Notes £000 £'000 £000 £000
FIXED ASSETS -
Intangible assets 12 46,565 - - -
Tangible assets 13 35,448 34,613 17,353 18,361
Investments 14 6,100 5,785 46,014 45,025
88,113 40,398 63,367 63,386
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks [5 216 1,239 1,089 1,188
Debtors 16 17,485 13,063 45,671 16,047
Short term investments 17 651 180 651 180
Cash and deposits 18 9,181 26,285 16,986 24,600
38,533 40,827 64,397 42,015
CREDITORS - amounts falling due within one year:
Trade and other creditors 19 37.845 5,982 9,186 8.288
Taxation 8,682 4,586 4,472 3,177
Proposed dividend 1,767 1,290 1,767 1,290
48,294 15,858 15,425 12,755
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) / ASSETS (9,761) 24,969 48,972 29,260
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 78,352 65,367 112,339 92,646
CREDITORS - amounts falling due
after more than one year 20 5,288 6,346 41,394 27,705
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 21 3,635 2,624 2,947 2,747
MINORITY INTERESTS 601 123 - -
68,828 56,274 67,998 62,194
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 22 5,539 5,510 5,539 5510
Share premium account 23 1,372 790 1,372 790
Revaluation reserve 23 991 1,012 13 |3
Profit and loss account 23 60,926 48,962 61,074 55,881
Shareholders’ funds
Equity 66,478 53,924 65,648 59,844
Non-equity 2,350 2,350 2,350 2,350
68,828 56,274 67,998 62,194

R W JEWSON
Chairman
26 March 1999
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Group Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 1998

1998 1997
Notes £'000 £000
Cash flow from operating activities ) 24 17,208 12,866
Returns on investment and servicing of finance 25 - (83; 743
Taxation {3,340 (2,599)
Capital expenditure and financial investment 25 8,295 (797)
Acquisitions and disposals 25 (25,437) 4,867
Equity dividends paid (2,421} (1,726)
CASH {OUTFLOW)/INFLOW BEFORE USE OF LIQUID
RESOURCES AND FINANCING (5,778) 13,358
Management of liquid resources 25 8,808 (19,839}
Financing 25 (1,326) 5.548
INCREASE/{DECREASE) IN CASH IN THE PERIOD ' 26 1,704 (933)
RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET (DEBT)/ FUNDS (NOTE 26)
1998 1997
£000 £000
Increase/(decrease) in cash in period 1,704 (933)
Cash inflow from increase in loans (26,073) -
Repayment of loans 1,681 -
Issue costs of new loans 256 -
Amortisation of loan issue costs ’ (62} -
Cash outflow from lease financing 256 122
Cash (inflow)/outflow from increase in liquid resources {8,808) 19,839
Change in net funds resulting from cash flows {31,046) 19,028
Finance leases acquired with subsidiary (9 -
New finance leases (165) (194}
Movement in net funds in period (31,402) 18,834
Net funds at | January 1998 25,730 6,896
Net debt at 3|1 December 1998 (5.672) 25,730
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NOtES tO the ACCOUﬂtS at 31 December 1998

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified by the revaluation of certain freehold and leasehold
properties, and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. )

Basis of Consolidation

The Group accounts consolidate the accounts of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited (ECNG}) and alf its subsidiary undertakings
drawn up to 31 December each year. No profit and loss account is presented for ECNG as permitted by section 230 of the Companies
Act 1985,

Summerhouse Publishing Limited has been included in the Group accounts using the acquisition method of accounting, Accordingly, the
Group profit and loss account and statement of cash flows include the results and cash flows of Summerhouse Publishing Limited for the
period from its acquisition on |13 February 1998. The purchase consideration has been allocated to assets and liabilities on the basis of fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc (HCNH) and its subsidiary undertakings have been included in the Group accounts using the
acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the Group profit and loss account and statement of cash flows include the results and cash
flows of HCNH and its subsidiary undertakings for the period from their acquisition on 13 May 1998, with the exception of subsidiary
undertakings disposed of before the year end. The purchase consideration has been allocated to assets and liabilities on the basis of fair
value at the date of acquisition, '

Entities, other than subsidiary undertakings, in which the Group has a participating interest and over whose operating and financial policies
the group exercises a significant influence are treated as associates. In the Group accounts, associates are accounted for using the equity
methed. The comparative figures for the results of associates have been restated following the implementation of FRS 9.

Intangible Fixed Assets

(i) Newspaper Titles
Acquired newspaper titles are stated in the balance sheet at the directors’ assessment of the purchase consideration which is
apportioned to the intangible assets based on valuations of the titles, supported by a comparative view of similar transaction values
within the newspaper industry. Based on past transactions within the Group and the industry, the age of the acquired titles, and plans
to develop these titles, in the directors’ opinion the lives of these assets are considered to be indefinite. The carrying values of the assets
are not subject to annual amortisation, but are reviewed annually for any diminution in carrying values.

Newspaper titles acquired prior to 3| December |997 were classified as goodwill and written off directly to reserves. Goodwill
previously eliminated against reserves has not been re-instated on implementation of FRS 10

(ii} Goodwill Arising on Consolidation
Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 3|1 December 1997 was set off directly against reserves and has not been reinstated on
implementation of FRS 10.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions since | January 1998 is capitalised, classified as an asset on the balance sheet and amortised on a straight
line basis over its useful economic life up to a presumed maximum of 20 years. It is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full
financial year following the acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable.

If a subsidiary or associate is subsequently sold or closed, any goodwill arising on acquisition that was written off directly to reserves is
taken into account in determining the profit or loss on sale or closure.

(iii) Radio Licences .
The Group's share of intangible assets in associates is capitalised as radio licences. In the opinion of the directors, radio licences have
indefinite asset lives and are capable of continued measurement by reference to the Group’s experience in the industry, and past and
future transactions within the radio industry. Accordingly, the carrying values of the assets are not subject to annual amortisation, but
are reviewed annually for any diminution in carrying values.
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NOtes tO the ACCOuntS at 31 December 1998

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(continued)

Tangible Fixed Assets

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation and amortisation is provided on all other assets in use at the end of each year by equal annual
instalments estimated to write off those assets over their useful lives at the following rates:

Freehold buildings - 2%
Leasehold buildings fong - 2%
short - Period of lease
Plant, equipment and vehicles - Between 7% and 33%

Film projects are shown at estimated net realisable value.

Leases

Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised in the Balance Sheet and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition, and net realisable value.

Deferred Taxation

Provision is made for deferred taxation, using the liability method on all timing differences, including those relating to pensions, to the extent that
it is probable that the liability will crystallise.

Pensions

The principal pension schemes of the Group are operated in the names of Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited (ECNG) and
Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc (HCNH). ECNG operate two defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made
to separately administered funds. Contributions to these funds are charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread the cost of pensions
over the employees’ working lives. The pension cost is assessed in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries.

ECNG also intreduced a defined contribution scheme from | April 1998, which is open to eligible employees. The Group's contributions
are charged to the profit and loss account in the year in which they are payable.

HCNH operates a defined contribution scheme which is open to eligible employees. The Group's contributions are charged to the profit
and loss account in the year in which they are payable.

HCNH also makes provision for the capital value of ex gratia pensions to certain former employees in accordance with independent

actuarial advice,



Eastern Countees Newspapers Group Limited [ RENE\ R SR rrE PR LT

Notes to the Accounts a3t december 199

2. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS 1998 1997
£000 £000
TURNOVER
Newspaper publishing
Ongoing operations - 84,158 79.035
Less: sales to acquisition (1.614) -
Acquisition 18,110 -
Total newspaper publishing 100,654 79,035
Contract publishing — acquisition 1,609 -
Other activities 225 128
Discontinued operations 991 950
103,479 80,113
OPERATING PROFIT
Newspaper publishing — ongoing operations 13,970 10,955
Newspaper publishing — acquisition 3,813 -
Contract publishing — acquisition (after charging goodwill amertisation £59,000) 107 -
Properties 1,034 1,702
Other activities (194) (282)
Discontinued operations (423) (201)
Common costs (F,246) (2,331)
17,061 9,843
NET ASSETS
Newspaper publishing 40,988 20,800
Properties 15,955 15,356
Radio broadcasting 5,675 5613
Other activities 190 8hH
62,808 41,688
Unallocated net assets 6,020 14,586
68,828 56,274

Summerhouse Publishing Limited made exports to Europe of £569,000. All other sales were made in the United Kingdom.

Turnover represents invoiced and cash sales, net of value added tax.

Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc and its subsidiary undertakings were acquired on 13 May 1998,
Summerhouse Publishing Limited was acquired on 13 February 1998,

Orient Direct Marketing Limited (formerly IMC Direct Marketing Limited) ceased trading as at 31 December 1998,
The associate engaged in radio broadcasting, Xfm Limited, was sold on 21 july 1998.

All other segments of the business have continued throughout |1998.
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Notes to the Accounts a3 pecember 199

3. OPERATING PROFIT Continuing Discontinued Total Total
Operations Acquisitions Operations 1998 1997
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
Turnover 82,769 19,719 991 - 103,479 80,113
Other operating income 1,155 9 - 1,174 176
Operating costs
Change in stocks of finished goods 6 4 - 10 {14y
and work in progress
. Raw materials and consurnables 12,337 451 - 12,788 12,042
o Other external charges 448 5,473 582 6,503 4,449
Stafi costs (Note 6} 33,117 6,577 352 40,046 33,275
Depreciation and amortisation 3,994 459 56 4,509 4,082
Other gperating charges 20,458 2,854 424 23,736 16,612
70,360 15818 414 87,592 70,446
Operating profit 13,564 3,920 {423) 17,061 2,843

< Operating costs for acquisitions in 1998 comprise £14,316,000 for HCNH Plc and its subsidiary undertakings and £1,502,000 for
' Summerhouse Publishing Limited.

QOperating profit is stated after charging: 1998 1997

£000 £000

Directors’ remuneration {note 5) 629 707

Auditors’ remuneration - audit services 114 70

‘ ' - nan-audit services 12 204
’ Rentals under operating leases - 3,214 {1,524
4, EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS . 1998 1997

£'000 £000

Recognised below operating profit:

Profit on disposal of investments in associates (including goodwill written back in 1998 of £98,000) 2,838 5328

Profit on disposal of intangible fixed assets (including goodwilf written back of £430,000) 1,377 -

B 4,2 l 5 5.328
I Fundamental acquisition restructuring costs (564) -
Loss an closure of operation (including goodwill written back of £203,000) . (860} -
Loss on disposal of subsidiary A @1

Recognised within the share of results in associates:

Share of exceptional items : (105) (192)

2,686 5,055

j The effect on the taxation charge for the year of the exceptional items recognised below operating profit is disclosed in Note 9.
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Notes to the Accounts a3i becember 1998

5. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS

Directors’ remuneration 1998 1997

£000 £000

Fees ' 102 95
Other emoluments:

basic salaries 309 295

benefits 43 I3

- performance related pay 141 123

595 526

Contribution to funded unapproved retirement benefit scheme 34 37

Compensation for loss of office - 144

629 707

Salaries Performance
and related Total

Fees Benefits bonuses 1998 1997

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

RW Jewson 37 - - 37 35

G H C Copeman i3 - - K] 12

P M Strong |44 - 68 213 173

R] Cortis - - - - 122

T Stevenson 95 7 39 141 136

C H Lawrence 65 35 32 32 -

N G F Websper 5 - 2 7 -

R C Coperman t3 - - 13 12

| R Lockett 13 - - 13 12

P ] C Troughton 13 - - i3 12

RV | Cadbury 13 - - 13 12

411 43 141 595 526
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NOteS tO the ACCOUntS at 31 December 1998

5. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS (continued)

The accrued pension entitlements of the executive directors were:

Increase, -
excluding '
inflation,
Years of in accrued Accrued entitlement
Age at service at pension during  Transfer value

31.12.98 31.12.98 the year of increase 311298 31.12.97
£000 £000 £'000 £'000
P M Strong Sl 2 3 i3 6 3
T Stevenson 49 16 5 57 35 29
C H Lawrence 37 0 2 i0 2 -
N G F Websper 42 17 6 36 pL 19

Inflation has bean assumed to be equivalent to the actual rate of price inflation, which was 2.8% for the year ended 3! December |998.

The pension entitlement shown above for the participating directors is that which would be paid on retirement based on service to
31 December 1998,

The pension entitlements shown exclude any additional pensions purchased by the members’ Additional Voluntary Contributions.

Contributions of £34,000 (1997 - £37,000) were accrued on behalf of Mr P M Strong for a funded unapproved retirement benefit scheme
designed to provide a pension, over and above the current pension “earnings cap” of £87,600, of two thirds salary at retirement age of 60.

Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company

Asat | January 1998 As at 31 December (998

£l £1 Second 20p £l £l Second 20p

Preference Preference Ordinary Preference Preference Ordinary

Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares

RW Jewson - - 21,732 - - 21,732
G H C Copeman 4,960 38,904 238,147 4,960 38,904 238,147
*|,296 *]13,368 *165,106 - *3,000 *87,346

RV j Cadbury - - 7,983 - - 7,983
R C Copeman 1,905 18,688 248,000 1,905 18,688 248,000
*4216 *4.9(2 ¥37,923 *4 716 *4912 *37,923

C H Lawrence - - +. - - 11,400
i R Lockett - 4,044 158,011 - 4,044 158,011
T Stevenson - - 5,320 - - 6,386
P M Strong - - - - - 23,005
P ] C Troughten - 3,333 91,619 - 3,333 91,619
*35,448 - *2,999,353 *35,448 - ¥2,999,353

- +9,253 - - 9,253

N G F Websper -

" At date of appointment
* Held as Trustee

The Company has an approved employee share scheme in which certain directors are eligible to participate. Directors’ interests in shares
distributed under the terms of this scheme are included above.
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NOteS tO the ACCOUHtS at 31 December 1998

5. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS (continued)

During the period from 31 December 1998 until 26 March 1999 the following transactions in the shares of the Company have taken place.

£l
Preference Shares

Transferred to/(from)

R W Jewson
G H C Copeman

RV ] Cadbury
R C Copeman
C H Lawrence
T Stevenson

P M Strong

P ] C Troughton
N G F Websper

*Held as Trustee

Long Term Incentive Plan

78

78

£l second

Preference Shares 20p Ordinary Shares
Transferred to/(from) Purchased Transferred to/(from}
- 16,136 (3.000)

705 20,000 (24,582)

- *2,500 *20,811)

- 6,256 -

705 - 5418

- 8,933 -

- 250 -

- 18,028 -

- *75,000 -

- 1,000 {1,000}

Under the ECNG Long Term Incentive Plan, the following shares have been notionally awarded to executive directors:

1997 1998
nurhber £ number £
C H Lawrence - - 7,692 29,999
T Stevenson 8,320 31,200 9,231 36,001
P M Strong 18,400 69,000 17,692 68,999
N G F Websper - - 4,519 17.624
Under the rules of the Plan the share prices used in calculating the allocations were £3.75 for 1997 and £3.90 for 1998.
Further explanation of the Plan Is included in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on Page 26.
Directors’ interests in options
The interests of the directors in savings related share options were as follows:
At Lapsed At
Exercise | January At during 31 December
price 1998  appointment the year 1998
Mr T Stevenson (2) £2.00 1,725 - - . 1,725
Mr T Stevenson (b} £2.24 6,160 - - 6,160
Mr N G FWebsper (3) £2.00 - 6,210 - 6,210
Mr N G F Websper. (b} £2.24 - 2,156 - 2,156
7,885 8,366 . 16,251

The options are exercisable between the following dates:

(a) | February 2001 and 31 July 2001.
(b} | March 2002 and 3| August 2002.
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6. STAFF AND THEIR PAY AND BENEFITS

Average monthly number of staff: 1998 1997
Newspaper printing and publishing {1,887 1.652
Other activities 40 |9
1,927 1,671

Pay and benefits £'000 £000
Wages and salaries 34,789 28,485
Social security costs 2,705 2,247
Other pension costs 2,252 2,243
39,746 32,975

Employee share scheme 300 300
40,046 33,275

Other pension costs include £100,000 (1997 - £100,000) in respect of the lump sum pension contribution made in 1997, the balance of

which is carried forward under debtors in Note {6.

Employee share scheme

The employee share scheme was approved by the members at the 1997 Annual General Meeting, and operates under the ECNG Employee
Share Qwnership Plan Trust. For [998, under the scheme, all eligible-staff of the Group will be invited to subscribe for shares with a value
of approximately £50, and the Cornpany will purchase for each member of staff who subscribes to the offer, six additional shares for each

one purchased.

The shares provided by the Company can be acquired tax-free by staff after three years.

7. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS 998 1997
£7000 £000
interest and dividends received, including tax credit:
Listed investments 1 7
Short term interest 1,527 920
Loan to associated undertaking 215 201
Less share of assoclate's interest paid {162} (e
Share of associate's dividends and bank interest 22 18
1,613 985




Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited JERDNSIEERRIETE FYPReR LT

Notes to the AcCCounts a3t becember 1998

8. INTEREST PAYABLE 1998 1997
£'000 £'000
Overdraft and loans 130 6
Finance leases 88 32
Cther 14 Il
Loan notes 1,012 -
Amortisation of loan issue costs 62 -
Share of associate’s interest 229 200
1,535 249
9. TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
The taxation charge is made up as follows: 1998 1997
£'000 £'000
Based on the profit for year
Corporation tax 6,485 4,499
Deferred taxation (510} {250}
Share of taxation in associates 63 26
6,038 4,275
Adjustments relating to previous years 132 {52)
6,170 4,183

The effective tax rate for the current year is 30.41% compared to a standard rate of 319. The charge for 1998 has been credited with a
reduction in the deferred tax provision for the change in the rate of corporation tax from 3 1% to 30% with effect from | April 1999. This
adjustment reduced the tax charge by 0.46%. The tax effect in the profit and loss account relating to the exceptional items recognised

below operating profits is a charge of £684,000 ( 1997 — £923,000).

10. DIVIDENDS 1998 1997
£'000 £000
6.45% Cumulative Preference Shares 20 20
15.5% Cumulative Second Preference Shares 36 316
336 336

Ordinary Shares:
Interim of 4.9p paid on 5 October 1998 (1997 — 4.2 p) 775 . 663
Proposed final of 11.1p (1997 — 8.2p) i,767 1,230
2,542 1,953
2,878 2,289

The ECNG Employee Benefit Trust has waived the dividends payable on the shares that it owns, and has agreed to waive future dividends.
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share has been calculated in accordance with FRS 14, The calculations are based on profits after preference dividends of
£13,754,000 (1997 —£1 1,274,000) and on ordinary shares of 15,874,000 (1997 - 5,779,000), being the weighted average number of shares
in issue during the year. )

The adjusted earnings per share has been calculated by using the profits attributable to shareholders, less preference dividends, adjusted
to exclude exceptional items. The reconciliation between earnings per share and adjusted earnings per share is as follows:

1998. 1997

P P

Earnings per share 86.6 71.5
Adjustment for exceptional items (16.9) (33.0)

Tax impact of exceptional items 4.3 5.8

Adjusted earnings per share 74.0 44.3

The diluted earnings per share is based on earnings for the year of £1 3'.754;000 (1997 - £11,274,000) as above, and on 16,223,000
(1997 - 15,941,000) ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

1998 1997
thousands thousands
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year i5,874 15779
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Employee share options 243 135
Contingently issuable shares under the Long Term Incentive Plan 106 27
16,223 15,941
12. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS Newspaper Goodwill Total
Titles
£000 £000 £000
Cost:
At 31 December 1997 . - - -
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 45,308 1316 46,624
At 3| December 1998 45,308 1,316 46,624
Amortisation:
At 31 December 1997 - - -
Provided during the year - 59 39
At 31 December 1998 : - 59 59
Net book value
At 31 December 1998 45,308 1,257 46,565
At 31 December 1997 - - -

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of Summerhouse Publishing Limited is being amortised evenly over the directors’ estimate of its useful

economic life of 20 years.
The life of newspaper titles is considered to be indefinite and the carrying value of the assets is not subject to annual amortisation, but is

reviewed annually for any diminution in carrying value.
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13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Movements on tangible fixed asset accounts have been:

Freehold Plant,

land and Leasehold equipment

buildings buildings & vehicles Films Total

£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group
Cost or valuation
At 31 December 1997 14,573 353 38,679 4,100 57,705
Additions 53 17 3,148 - 3,218
Acquisition of subsidiaries F125 6 4913 - 6,044
Disposals (60) (12) (1,385) - (1,457)
At 3| December 1998 15,691 364 45,355 4,100 65,510
Depreciation
At 3| December 1997 232 96 20,277 2,487 23,092
Charge for year 237 16 4,197 - 4,450
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 2 3,611 - 3613
Disposals (2) (10) (1,081) - (1,093)
At 31 December 1998 467 104 27,004 2,487 30,062
Net book value
At 31 December 1998 15,224 260 18,351 1,613 35,448
At 3| December 1997 14,341 257 18,402 1,613 34,613

Included in freehold land and buildings is land valued at £3,616,000 (1997 - £3,297,000), which is not depreciated. The net book amount
of plant, equipment and vehicles above includes an amount of £644,000 (1997 - £560,000) in respect of assets held under finance leases,
and £10,424,000 (1997 - £11,524,000) for both Group and Company in respect of assets subject to a chattel mortgage.

The depreciation charge comprises depreciation of owned assets of £4,289,000 and depreciation of assets held under finance leases

of £161,000.
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13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS {continued) Plant,
Leasehold equipment,
buildings & vehicles Films Total
£000 £000 £'000 £000
Company
Cost or valuation
At 31 December 1997 50 33,986 4,160 38,136
Additions - 2,018 - 2,018
Disposals - (195} - {195}
At 31 December 1998 50 35,809 4,100 39,959
Depreciation
At 3| December [997 | 17,287 2,487 19,775
Charge for year - 3,023 - 3,023
Disposals - (192) - (192)
At 3| December 1998 | 20,118 2,487 22,606
Net book value
At 31 December 1998 49 15,691 1,613 17,353
At 31 December 1997 49 16,699 1,613 18,361
The cost or valuation of land and buildings at 31 December 1998 comprises:
Freehold Leasehold
Group Company Group Company
Long Short Long Short
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
At valuation - 1996 14,506 - 175 - 50 -
At cost 1,185 - - 189 - -
15,691 - 175 189 50 -
The historical cost of freehold and leasehold land and buildings is as follows:
Freehold Leasehold
i998 1997 1998 1997
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
Group
Cost 14,419 13,276 351 340
Aggregate depreciation 819 i.622 125 16
Company
Cost - - 28 28
- - 12 2

Aggregate depreciation

Depreciation on freehold and leasehold properties for the year has been based on the 1996 revalued amounts. Based on cost the
consolidated charge would have been lower by £21,000 (1997 - £21,000).
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14. INVESTMENTS 1998 1997
£000 £000
Group
Associates (g) 5,675 5,362
Other fixed asset investments (b} 425 423
6,100 5,785
(‘a) Associates Share of Loans ta Radio
net assets associates licences Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 31 December 1997 (3.687) 2,465 6,584 5,362
Acquisitions in year 692 (70 - 622
Share of results retained by associates ) - - )
Disposals in year 141 (238) {135) (232)
At 31 December 1998 (2,931) 2,157 6,449 5,675

Loans to associates comprise:

I Aloan of £2,021,000 to The Radio Partnership Limited (TRP), repayable in three equal annual instalments commencing on 3| December
2004. Interest is charged at 39 over the higher of 5% and the LIBOR rate.

2 Aloan of £136,000 to Swansea Sound Limited, a subsidiary of TRP The loan is not repayable before 2004, and is interest free.

{(b) Other fixed asset investments Listed Unlisted Total
£'000 £000 £'000

Cost

At 3| December 1997 364 84 448

Acquisition of subsidiary 7 - 7

Transfer to investments in subsidiary undertakings (5 - (3)

At 31 December 1998 366 84 450

Provisions

At 31 December 1997 and 1998 - 25 25

Net book amounts

At 31 December [998 366 59 425

At 31 December 1997 364 59 423
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14. INVESTMENTS (continued) Subsidiary

under-

takings Associates Listed Unlisted Total

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Company .
Cost
At 31 December 1997 37,843 6,769 354 84 45,050
Transfer to investments in subsidiary undertakings 5 - {5) - -
Additions 1,015 474 - - 1,489
At 31 December 1998 38,863 7,243 349 84 46,539
Provisions
At 3§ December 1997 - - - 25 25
Provided in the year 500 - - - 500
At 3| December 1998 500 - - 25 525
Net book value
At 31 December 1998 38,363 7,243 349 59 46,014
At 31 December 1997 37,843 6,769 354 59 45,025

The market value of the listed investments at 3|1 December 1998 was £581,000 for the Group and £478,000 for the Company (1997 -
£484,000 and £474,000 respectively ). Unlisted investments, consisting of equity share capital, are valued by the directors at £2,066,000

(1997 - £2,074,000) for both Group and Company.

In arriving at market or directors’ valuation ne provision has been made for taxation which would be chargeable amounting to a maximum

of £667,000 (1997 - £662,000) in the event of disposals at these values.

The Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings and associate, alf of which are incorporated in England, are listed below:.
Those in which the equity is held by a subsidiary undertaking are marked with an asterisk.

Company

Activity

Percentage of
ordinary shares

Subsidiaries

Community Media Limited

The Anglia Advertiser Limited

Mid Anglia Newspapers Limited

ECNG Properties Limited

ECNG Leasing Limited

Orient Publishing Plc

North Devon Gazette & Advertiser Limited*

ECNG Investment Co Limited*

Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Pic*

The South Essex Recorders Limited*

Home Counties Newspapers Limited*

The Hampstead and Highgate Express Printing
and Publishing Company Limited*

Summerhouse Publishing Limited*

Associate
The Radio Partnership Limited

Newspaper publishing
Newspaper publishing
Newspaper publishing
Property

Property & leasing
Holding company
Newspaper publishing
Investment holding company
Holding company
Newspaper publishing
Newspaper publishing

Newspaper publishing
Contract publishing

Radio broadcasting

100%
106%
100%
100%
100%
100%
60%

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
76%

40%
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14. INVESTMENTS (continued)

On |3 May 1998 the Group acquired Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc for a consideration of £57,979,000 satisfied by cash
consideration of £31,906,000 and floating rate unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2008 issued by Orient Publishing Plc of £26,073,000.

Net assets at date of acquisition: ) Fair
Book Other value
Value Revaluation Adjustments to Group
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Intangible fixed assets - 45,308 - 45,308
Tangible fixed assets 2,464 (67) - 2,397
Fixed asset investments 7 - - 7
Debtors 2,648 - - 2,648
Current asset investments 1,887 7,321 - 9,208
Cash 5,3% - - 5,394
Creditors due within one year (4,812) - (793) (5,605)
Creditors due in more than one year (en. - - - (191
Provisions for ex gratia pensions (867) - - (867}
Deferred taxation ¢1Y)] - 361 351
Net assets 6,520 - 52,562 (432} 58,650
Discharged by:
Transfer from fixed asset investments 5
Cash consideration 31,906
Crient Publishing Plc floating rate [oan notes 2008 26,073
Costs associated with the acquisition . 666
58,650

The revaluation adjustments include the valuation of retained newspaper titles as intangible fixed assets, and newspaper titles which were
subsequently sold as current asset investments.

Freehold properties were revalued on an existing use basis,

Other adjustments include provisions for guaranteed staff bonuses and corporation tax liabilities at the date of acquisition. Deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of short term timing differences, including those relating to the ex-gratia pension provision.

Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc contributed £2,083,000 to the Group’s net operating cash flows, contributed £16,000 in respect of net returms
on investments and servicing of finance, paid £948,000 in respect of taxation and utilised £320,000 for capital expenditure and financial investment.

The retained companies of the Home Counties Newspapers group earned a profit after tax of £2,438,000 in the year ended 3| December
1998 (1997 - £1,861,000 for the full group). The pre-acquisition profits for the full Home Counties Newspapers group for the period from
| January 1998 to 13 May 1998 were £503,000. The comparable profits for the retained companies were £731,000.

The summarised profit and loss account for the full group for the period from | January 1998 to the effective date of acquisition is as follows:

£000
Turnover 14,663
Profit before tax ’ 531
Taxation, including fair value adjustments (28)
Profit for the period ended 13 May 1998 503

There were no recognised gains and losses in the pericd ended |3 May 1998 other than the profit of £503,000 above.
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14. INVESTMENTS (continued)
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On I3 February 1998, the Group acquired 76% of Summerhouse Publishing Limited for an initial consideration of £850,000, satisfied in
cash, plus acquisition costs of £33,000. The net assets acquired, after fair value adjustments, were £18,000, including cash of £77,000. The
Group has a contractual obligation to acquire the remaining share capital at a price dependent on the profits made by Summerhouse up to
30 June 2001, The deferred consideration has been calculated as £45[,000, giving rise to goodwill of £1,316,000.

On 18 December 1997 the Group disposed of Enterprise Radio Holdings at a cost of £61,000 in cash.

15. STOCKS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
£°000 £C00 £'000 £000
Raw materials 1,131 1,232 1,089 1,188
Finished goods and goods for resale 85 67 - -
1,216 1,299 1,089 |.188
16. DEBTORS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
£000 £000 £000 £000

Due in less than one year:
Tradle debtors 13,936 10,403 7.384 7,299
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 730 303
Other debtors 706 463 482 490
Prepayments and accrued income 1,432 [.157 703 869
Corporation tax recoverable 587 14) 68 75
Pension prepayment 100 100 100 100
16,761 12,264 9,467 9,136

Due in over one year:

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 35,505 6,112
Pension prepayment 699 799 699 799
Other debtors 25 - - -
724 799 36,204 6911
Total debtors 17,485 13,063 45,671 16,047
17. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
£000 £000 £'000 £000
Shares held by ECNG Employee Benefit Trust 65| 18C 654 180

The ECNG Employee Benefit Trust holds shares in Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited valued at £651,000, The bank overdraft
of the Trust is guaranteed by ECNG and included in creditors at the same value.
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18. CASH AND DEPOSITS Group Company
1998 1957 1998 1997

£'000 £000 £'000 £000

Term and other deposits 14,524 23,333 © 14,524 23,333
Cash at bank and in hand 4,657 2,952 2,462 1,267
19,181 26,285 16,986 24,600

19. TRADE AND OTHER CREDITORS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997

£'000 £:000 £'000 £'000

Trade creditors 2,353 . 1,496 593 781
Orient Publishing Plc loan notes 24,198 - - -
Employee Benefit Trust overdraft (guaranteed) 651 180 651 180
Finance lease obligations 169 110 - -
Deferred lease premium 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 1,121 667
Tax and social security 703 153 8 (20)
Other creditors 4,144 3,449 2,691 2,733
Accruals and deferred income 4,401 3,383 2,924 2,767
Payments on account 126 11 98 80
37,845 9,982 9,186 8,288

Qrient Publishing Pic loan notes

The Orient Pubiishing Plc loan notes are floating rate, guaranteed, unsecured loan notes 2008, and were issued as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Home Counties Newspapers Heldings Plc. The interest is payable half yearly on 30 June and 3| December at a rate
of 1% below the base rate of Barclays Bank Plc on the first business day in the period. The loan notes can be redeemed by the holders at
30 June and 3| December in any year up to 2007, subject to giving the required notice. The earliest day on which the loan note holders
could require payment is 30 June 1999, and therefore the loans have been treated as falling due within one year. The loan notes are
guaranteed by Barclays Bank Plc at a cost to the Group of 0.45% per annum.

Group Company

1998 1957 1998 1997

£000 £'000 £000 £'000

Total lean notes outstanding 24,392 - - -
Less issue costs (194) - - .
24,198 - - -
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20, CREDITORS Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
£000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due after more than one year: }
Loans - film finance 1,613 613 1613 1,613
Finance lease obligations 487 445 - .
Deferred lease premium 3,188 4,288 3,188 4,288
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 36,593 21,804
5,288 6,346 41,394 27,705

The loans relating to film finance are interest free and repayable out of film receipts prior to 14 December 2013. They are secured by
charges on the copyright and physical material relating to two films owned by the company and shown under that heading in tangible fixed
assets. All other amounts mature between two and five years.

21. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Group Company
Ex gratia Other  Deferred Total Other  Deferred Total
Pensions  Provisions Taxation Provisions Taxation
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 31 December 1997 - - 2,624 2,624 - 2,747 2,747
Included in creditors at
3! December 1997 - 9l - 9l 9l - 9}
Acquisition of subsidiary 867 482 (35L) 998 - - -
ACT movement - - 322 322 - 322 322
Arising during the year 48 168 (510) (294) 95 (308) (213)
Utilised {106} - - {106) -
At 3| December 1998 80% 741 2,085 3,635 186 2,761 2,947
Deferred taxation provided in the accounts and the amounts not provided are as follows:
Group Company
Provided Not Provided Provided Not Provided
1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997
£'000 £00C £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
Capital allowance in
advance of depreciation 2,577 2,906 828 328 2,769 2,997 - -
Other timing differences (492) 40 - - (8 72 - 16 16
2,085 2,946 828 828 2,761 3,069 i6 16
Less advance corporation tax - (322) - - - (322) -
2,085 2,624 828 828 2,761 2.747 6 16

Other provisions principally comprise provisions for obligations in respect of leasehold properties, both for dilapidations and for rental
commitments for properties not used in the business and sub-let at less than full rental value.
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22, CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Allotted, called

Authorised up and fully paid
1998 1997 1998 1997
£000 £000 £000 £000
6.45% Cumulative Preference Shares of £1 each
308,500 issued 309 309 309 309
15.5% Cumulative Second Preference Shares of £1 each
2,041,300 issued 2,041 2,041 2,041 2,041
Ordinary Shares of 20p each
15,945,925 issued 3,650 3,650 3,189 3,160
6,000 6,000 5,539 5510

On | July 1998, a total of 57,222 ordinary shares were issued at £4.40 under the ECNG Share Scheme. Following the passing of the Special
Resolution at last year's Annual General Meeting, 75,000 ordinary shares were issued to senior executives on 18 August 1998 at £4.40. A
further 12,388 ordinary shares were issued during the year on the exercise of share options by employees leaving the Group under the

provisions of the SAYE scheme rules at the appropriate option prices,

The right te dividends and priority in a winding up for each class of share ranks in the order 6.45% Cumutative Preference Shares, 15.5%
Cumulative Second Preference Shares, Ordinary Shares. The Preference Shares carry no votes at meetings, unless dividends are six months

in arrear or the meeting shall include a resolution to wind up the Company.

Savings related share optiens Earliest Latest Number
Option exercise exercise of ordinary
price . date date shares

Date of grant
| September 1994 £3.00 | September 1999 28 February 2000 67,091
| February 1996 £2.00 | February 2001 31 Juty 2001 245,318
I March 1997 : £2.24 I March 2000 31 August 2000 45,264
I March 1997 £2.24 I March 2002 31 August 2002 133,579
491,252

Executive share plan

The establishment of the ECNG Long Term Incentive Plan was approved by shareholders at the Annual General M
The operation of this Plan is detailed in the Report of the Rermuneration Committee on page 26.

eeting on 19 May 1997.
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23, MOVEMENTS ON SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

Profit
Share Share Revaluation and loss
capital premium surplus account Total
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £000

Group ’
At 31 December 1996 5,501 629 1,032 39,719 46,881
Total recognised gains - - - 11,610 11,610
Dividends - - - (2,289) (2,289)
Issue of shares 9 161 - - i70
Goodwill in associate - - - (98) (98)
Distributable element of depreciation charge - - (20) 20 -
At 3| December 1997 5510 790 1,012 48,962 56,274
Total recognised gains - - - 14,090 14,090
Dividends - - - (2,878) (2.878)
Issue of shares 29 582 - - 611
Goodwill in associate - - - 98 98
Goodwill in subsidiary undertaking - - - 203 203
Goodwill in intangible asset - - - 430 430
Distributable alement of depreciation charge - - 210 21 -
At 31 December 1998 5,539 1,372 991 60,926 68,828
Company
At 31 December 1996 5,501 629 13 47,651 53,794
Total recognised gains - - - 10,519 10,519
Dividends - - - (2,289) (2,289)
Issue of shares 9 161 - — 170
At 3| December 1997 5,510 790 13 55,881 62,194
Total recognised gains - - - 8,07) 8,07!
Dividends - - - (2,878) (2.878)
Issue of shares 29 582 - - 611
At 31 December 1998 5,539 1,372 i3 61,074 67,998

The cumulative amount of goodwill written off at 31 Decernber 1998 in the consolidated accounts is £15,334,000 (1997 - £16,065,000).
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24.RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PRCFIT TO OPERATING CASH FLOWS 1998 1997
£000 £000
Operating profit 17,061 9,843
Depreciation and amortisation charges - 4510 4,082
Lease premium amortisation (1,100} (12
Amortisation of lump sum pension contribution 100 100
Loss / (profit) on disposals 3l (H46)
Decrease/(increase) in stocks 115 (171}
(Increase) in debtors {1,140} {1.567)
{Decrease)/increase in creditors (1,257) 1,836
Cash flow relating to restructuring costs (564) -
Cash flow relating to closure of operation (658) -
Increase in provisions 216 -
Payment of ex gratia pensions (108) -
Lump sum pension contribution - (999)
Cash flow from operating activities 17,208 12,866
25. ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS FOR HEADINGS NETTED
IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 1998 1997
£'000 £'000
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 1,742 1,121
Dividends received Il 7
Interest paid {1,156) (17
Preference dividends paid (336) (336)
Issue costs for new loan finance (236) -
Interest element of finance lease rental payments (88) (32}
(83) 743
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (3,053) (1.428)
Purchase of investments - (302)
Purchase of short term investment - (50
Sale of intangible fixed assets 1,807 -
Sale of tangible fixed assets 333 550
Sale of investments - 280
Sale of current asset investment 9,208 153

8,295 asn
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25.ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS FOR HEADINGS NETTED IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT {continued)

Notes 1998 1997
£000 £000
Acquisitions and disposals
Investments in associates : (622) {1,132
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings 14 (33,455) -
Bank balance acquired with subsidiaries 14 5,471 -
Sale of subsidiary undertaking 14 - (64
Bank balance sold with subsidiary 4 - (tQ)
Sale of associates 3,169 6,089
Deferred consideration - (19
(25,437) 4,867
Management of liquid resources
Cash transferred {from)/to term depaosit 8,808 (19,839)
Financing
Issue of ordinary share capital 611 |70
Repayment of Orient Publishing Plc loan notes (1.681) -
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (256} (122)
Lease premium recejved - 5,500
(1,326} 5,548
26. ANALYSIS OF NET (DEBT)/FUNDS Other Acquisitions
At non-cash excluding cash At
1.1.98 Cash flow changes and overdrafts 311298
£'000 £:000 £000 £000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 2,953 1,704 - - 4,657
Term deposits 23,332 {(8,808) - - 14,524
26,285 (7,104 - - 19,181
Loans - 1,681 (26,073) - (24,392)
Loan issue costs - 256 (62) - 194
Finance leases {555) 256 (165) (191 {655}
Total 25,730 4911 (26,300) (191} (5,672)
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27. MAJOR NON CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group issued floating rate unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2008 totalling £26,073,000 as part of the consideration

for the acquisition of Home Counties Newspapers Holdings Plc and its subsidiary undertakings.

The Group also entered into finance lease arrangements in respect of assets with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of

£165,000.

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Approved future capital expenditure at 31 December 1998, for which no provision has been made in these accounts, amounted to:

Group Company
1998 1997 1998 1997
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Contracted for but not provided 385 290 18t 237
29. COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES
At 31 Decemnber 1998 annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:
Land and buildings Plant, equipment and vehicles
1998 1997 1998 1997
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
Group
Operating leases which expire:
Within one year 15 43 225 g7
Within two to five years 176 109 2,413 2,224
Over five years 650 362 - -
941 514 2,638 2,321

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has a contingent liability for any warranty claims made by the purchasers under the terms of the sale and purchase agreements
for the sale of subsidiaries and associates by the Group, where the period allowed for warranty ¢laims has not yet expired.



|
|

j
|
!

[ Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited ECUNEIR TPt F R tog LT L)

Notes to the AcCoUNtsS a3 becember 1998

31. PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a number of pension schemes, the assets of which are held separately from those of the Group. The total cost for the
Group charged in the profit and loss account, including ex-gratia pensions (see below), was £2,252,000 (1997: £2,243,000).

The major schemes are of the defined benefit type. The contributions to these schemes are determinéd with the advice of an independent
qualified actuary, using the projected unit methed. The pension costs were determined on the basis of the most recent actuarial valuations,
The assumptions that have the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are those relating to the rate of return on investments
and the rates of increase in salaries and pensions relative to price inflation.

For the Final Salary Section of the Pension and Life Assurance Scheme, at the most recent valuation, updated by a funding review as at |
July 1997, it was assumed that the rate of return on investments would be 4.5% above price inflation, salaries would increase by 2.5%
above price inflation and pensions would increase in line with price inflation. As at | July 1997 the market value of the assets was £55,696,000
and the actuarial value of the assets represented 105% of the liability for benefits that had accrued to the members for service to the review
date, based on salaries projected to retirement. The employer’s regular contribution rate, ignoring surplus, was identified as 12.2%. After
allowing for elimination of surplus over the average remaining service lives of the members (13.5 years), the employer’s contribution rate
was reduced to 11.0%. This rate was payable with effect from | January 1998,

For the Senior Management Pension Scheme, at the most recent actuarial valuation as at | July 1998 it was assumed that, relative to price
inflation, the rate of return on investments would be 3.35% for the purpose of valuing the accrued liabilities and 3.65% for the purpose of
valuing future accruing liabilities. it was assumed that salaries would increase by 2.0% above price inflation and pensions would increase in
line with price inflation. The market value of the assets was £15,092,000 and the actuarial value of the assets represented 105% of the
liability for benefits that had accrued to the members for service to the review date, based on salaries projected to retirement. The
employer’s regufar contribution rate, ignoring surplus, was identified as 24.4%. To reduce the risk of failing to satisfy the minimum funding
requirement under the Pensions Act 1995, no allowance was made for eliminating surplus. During 1998 employer contributions were paid
at the rate of 24.7%, comprising regular contributions of 23.5% and an additional 1.2% to meet the accrued liabilities of members who
transferred from the Pension and Life Assurance Scheme. Employer contributions will reduce to 24.49% with effect from | January 1999.

The Group also operates pension schemes of the deflned contribytion type. The pension cost represents contributions payable by the
Group to these schemnes.
The Group pays ex-gratia pensions on an unfunded basis to certain former employees of Home Counties Newspapers and accordingly

provides for this in the accounts.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held in the Print Centre, Thorpe St Andrew, Norwich,
on | | May 1999 at 12 noon, for the following purposes: To consider and if thought fit to pass the Resolutions set out below:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

by

@™ ~N O A W N

THAT the reports of the directors and auditors and the audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 1998 be and are hereby

received,

THAT Mr RV ] Cadbury, retiring as director at this Meeting, be re-elected.

THAT Mr | R Lockett, retiring as director at this Meeting, be re-elected.

THAT Mr P ) C Troughton, retiring as director at this Meeting, be re-elected.

THAT Mr N G F Websper, retiring as director at this Meeting, be elected.

THAT Ernst & Young be re-appointed auditors of the Company at a fee to be fixed by the directors.
THAT the proposed ordinary dividend be approved and paid on 14 May 1999.

THAT conditional upon the passing of the Special Resolution numbered 9 in the notice convening this meeting, the Eastern Counties
Newspapers Group Limited Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust (“the Trust™) to be constituted by a Trust Deed produced in
draft to the meeting marked “A’ and for the purpose of identification initialled by the Chairman (the principal terms of which are
summarised in the letter to shareholders from the Chairman dated 16 April, 1999) be and is hereby approved and that the directors
of the Company be and are hereby authorised to take any and all action they determine to be necessary or expedient to carry the
Trust into effect.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

9

That the Articles of the Company be and are hereby amended as follows:

(@) In Article 31(B) after the words “ECNG Employee Benefit Trust” there be inserted the words “or the trustee or one of the
trustees for the time being of the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” and at the end of Article 31{B) there be
inserted the words “and the expression “the ECNG Savings Related Share Option Scheme” shall mean the savings related share
option scheme of that name adopted by the Company on 23 May 1994 and approved by the Inland Revenue on 17 June 1994 and
the expression “the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” shall mean the employee share ownership trust of that
name which qualifies for the purposes of Schedule 5 of the Finance Act 1989 and was approved by shareholders on | | May 1999".

{b) in Article 33(C} there be inserted the words “or the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” after the words “ECNG
Employee Benefit Trust”.

{¢) In Article 33(D) there be inserted the words “or the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” after the words “ECNG
Employee Benefit Trust”.

{(d) In Article 33(F) there be inserted the words “or the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust” after the words “ECNG
Employee Benefit Trust”.

(e) in Article 33(J) (i) there be inserted after the words "ECNG Employee Benefit Trust” the words “or by the trustee(s) for the time
being of the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust”.

(f) in Article 33())(iii) there be inserted after the words “"ECNG Employee Benefit Trust” the words “or to the trustee(s) for the time
being of the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust”.

{(g) in Article 33()) there be inserted a new Article (J) (v) as follows: “(v) By the trustee(s) for the time being of the ECNG Qualifying
Exempt Share Ownership Trust in accordance with the terms of any of the ECNG Savings Related Share Option Scheme,
the ECNG Profit Sharing Scherne or the ECNG Long Term Incentive Plan to any persons eligible to receive the same or
entitled thereto”.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

SPECIAL RESOLUTION (continued)

{(h) In Article 33(f) there be inserted a new Article {J) (vi) as follows: “{vi} By the trustee(s) for the time being of the ECNG Profit
Sharing Scheme or by the trustee(s) for the time being of the ECNG Employee Benefit Trust to the trustee(s) for the time being

of the ECNG Qualifying Exempt Share Ownership Trust”.

(i} In Article 48 there be inserted after the words “ECNG Employee Benefit Trust” the words “or the ECNG Qualifying Exempt

Share Ownership Trust”.

By order of the Board

J O ELLISON
Secretary
16 April 1999

Eastern Counties Newspapers Group Limited
Prospect House

Rouen Road

Notwich NRI IRE

Note - A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy for that purpose who need not be a member of the Company.

Financial Calendar

i6 April
1998 Annual Report published

[ May
Annual General Meeting

14 May
Payment of 1998 Final Dividend

19 June
Half Year end

30 june .
Payment of 6.45% and |5.5% Preference Dividends
Payment of QOrient Publishing Plc Floating Rate Loan Interest

13 August
Interim Statement dispatched and Interim Dividend announced (provisional)

4 October
Payment of 1999 Interim Dividend

31 December
Payment of 6.45% and 15.5% Preference Dividends
Payment of Orient Publishing Plc Fioating Rate Loan Note Interest



